APPENDIX 12: MIDCOAST EMPLOYMENT ZONES REVIEW







EMPLOYMENT ZONES REVIEW - Part A

Table of Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
1 INTRODUCTION	7
2 POLICY AND STRATEGY CONTEXT	9
3 DEMOGRAPHIC CONTEXT	11
4 BUSINESS ZONES	14
5 INDUSTRIAL ZONES	42
6 CONSULTATION	62
7 CONCLUSION AND NEXT STEPS	63
APPENDICES	65

Version	Purpose of Document	Reviewed by	Date
1	Draft report	A FitzGibbon & A Kelly	10 August
2	Draft Report for exhibition	A Macvean	20 August 2019
3	Amended as per Council resolution December 2020	A Kelly	4 August 2021

Executive Summary

Project overview

The Employment Zones Review (EZR) recommends a set of consolidated and consistent land use rules for business and industrial zones across the entire MidCoast. These recommendations inform the preparation of a new MidCoast Local Environmental Plan (LEP) which will replace the existing Greater Taree, Great Lakes and Gloucester LEPs.

The EZR aims to support the creation of vibrant community centres and prosperous employment areas through the use of clear, simple and consistent rules. This will help to make it as easy as possible for development to occur in the right place and in the right way.

This review of business and industrial zones primarily addresses key LEP development rules such as zoning, land use permissibility, height of buildings, floor space ratio and minimum subdivision lot size. The zones investigated and their current application is illustrated below.

Note that the intent of the EZR is not to propose significant additions/reductions to the quantity of employment land – this will be the main subject of a more in-depth *Employment Land Strategy* to be commissioned for the MidCoast in the near future.

	Greater Taree LEP	Great Lakes LEP	Gloucester LEP
Business Zones			
B1 Neighbourhood Centre	✓	~	×
B2 Local Centre	✓	✓	✓
B3 Commercial Core	✓	×	×
B4 Mixed Use	✓	✓	~
B5 Business Development	✓	\checkmark	×
B6 Enterprise Corridor	✓	×	×
B7 Business Park	×	×	×
Industrial Zones			
IN1 General Industrial	✓	√	✓
IN2 Light Industrial	✓	✓	×
IN3 Heavy Industrial	×	×	✓
IN4 Working Waterfront	✓	✓	×

List of employment zones and application in existing LEPs

Recommendations

The following tables summarise the main recommendations of the EZR.

	Business Zone Recommendations
1	Recognise a strategic network of centres and zone accordingly:
	 Taree as the primary centre for the MidCoast (zone B3 Commercial Core) Forster-Tuncurry, Gloucester and Tea Gardens-Hawks Nest as important regional strategic centres (zone B2 Local Centre) Wingham, Old Bar, Hallidays Point, Harrington and Pacific Palms as local town centres (zone B2 Local Centre) Neighbourhoods such as Cundletown, Tinonee and Forster Keys as smaller convenience centres (zone B1 Neighbourhood Centre)
2	Update objectives and land use permissibility for each zone
3	Remove all <i>minimum lot size</i> (for subdivision) requirements except for the B5 Business Development zone which should be 1,500m ²
4	Specify new height of building requirements on a site-by-site basis
5	Remove all <i>floor space ratio</i> requirements
6	Apply active street frontages local provision to all B1, B2 and B3 zones
7	Define a new provision relating to unstructured large B1 and B2 zones to ensure they can develop into vibrant commercial, cultural and social hubs
8	One significant zone boundary amendment - changing 4.9ha of the Gloucester town centre B2 zone to residential (as per recommendations in previous strategies)
9	Various minor zoning changes in the majority of business zone precincts – see Part B

	Industrial Zone Recommendations
1	 Establish clear principles for industrial zones and apply accordingly: IN1 General Industrial zone will be used where adequate separation exists to mitigate adverse impacts on surrounding sensitive land uses IN2 Light Industrial zone will be used where inadequate separation exists to mitigate adverse impacts on surrounding sensitive land uses The Stratford Heavy Industrial precinct shall remain the only IN3 Heavy Industrial zone in the MidCoast
2	Update objectives and land use permissibility for each zone
3	Remove all <i>minimum lot size</i> (for subdivision) requirements
4	 Specify new <i>height of building</i> requirements as follows: IN1 General Industrial: no maximum IN2 Light Industrial: 10m maximum IN3 Heavy Industrial: no maximum IN4 Working Waterfront: 8.5m maximum
5	Remove all <i>floor space ratio</i> requirements
6	Significant zone amendments - where large floor plan commercial intrusion has occurred within industrial zones, these areas will be rezoned B5 Business Development
7	Various minor zoning changes in some industrial zone precincts – see Part B

This page is intentionally left blank

1 Introduction

Purpose

The purpose of the Employment Zones Review (EZR) is to recommend a set of consolidated and consistent land use rules for business and industrial zones across the entire MidCoast.

These recommendations will ultimately inform a new MidCoast Local Environmental Plan (LEP) which is being developed to replace the existing Greater Taree, Great Lakes and Gloucester LEPs.

The new MidCoast LEP aims is to produce a single plan for the entire local government area that is based on contemporary planning principles and which gives clear and consistent direction to the community regarding development potential and expectations.

Scope and limitations

The EZR will:

- Provide a basis for applying business and industrial zones in the MidCoast.
- Propose new LEP objectives, land use tables, and associated mapping layers for each business and industrial zone.
- Propose new LEP principal development standards and provisions relating to business and industrial zones.
- Include minor additions/reductions to the quantity of employment land if it is overtly logical based on current land uses.

The EZR will not:

- Propose significant additions/reductions to the quantity of employment land unless supported by a previous strategy.
- Examine the Manning Health and Taree CBD Precinct as this area is part of a separate planning study.
- Analyse similar zones such as the RU5 Village, SP3 Tourist or W3 Working Waterway.

Context

The EZR will take into consideration major strategic Council studies currently underway such as the *Manning Health and Taree CBD Precinct Plan*, the *Housing Strategy* and the *Rural Strategy*.

It is also acknowledged that a significantly more in-depth *Employment Land Strategy* will be commissioned for the MidCoast in the near future.

Methodology

The EZR was developed utilising the following methods:

- Desktop analysis of MidCoast business and industrial zone LEP provisions.
- Review of similar or best practice LEP examples from other NSW councils.
- Multiple site visits to each business or industrial zone area.
- Internal consultation with Council staff in particular Strategic Planning, Development Assessment and Economic Development.

• Public and stakeholder consultation of the draft recommendations following adoption of draft for exhibition by Council.

Urban Release Areas

The EZR does not identify future urban release areas of employment lands.

Instead, the *MidCoast Urban Release Area Report 2021* includes a number of urban release areas for specific employment zone purposes.

The development of these urban release areas will be subject to a rezoning process, where detailed investigations are undertaken to determine the appropriate site use, capability and future yield. Not all of the identified sites may be developed for urban purposes. For example, parts of the sites that are subject to significant natural hazards or environmental constraints are typically excluded from future development. Other land may also be required for open space, drainage, to maintain breaks between urban areas or as buffers to adjoining land uses, and land will be protected where necessary for these purposes. Community feedback on future development is provided for though the rezoning process.

Only land included as urban release areas will be considered for rezoning and development for urban purposes.

2 Policy and Strategy Context

The following directions, strategies and projects set the broad policy context for the EZR.

Guiding directions

This work is guided by two key resources: Directions issued by the Minister for Planning under section 9.1 of the *Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979* and the MidCoast Council LEP consolidation principles (as shown below).

Key Section 9.1 Directions

- A encourage employment growth in suitable locations
- B protect employment land in business and industrial zones
- C support the viability of identified strategic centres
 - retain the areas and locations of existing business and industrial zones
 - not reduce the total potential floor space area for employment uses and related public services in business zones
 - not reduce the total potential floor space area for industrial zones
 - ensure that proposed new employment areas are in accordance with a strategy that is approved by the Department

Variations may be possible with approval from the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment, supported by a detailed study, alignment with regional strategies, and compliance with the zone objectives.

MidCoast LEP Consolidation Principles

Four key principles have been established to guide the review, updating and rationalisation of zones and planning controls from Gloucester, Great Lakes and Greater Taree LEP documents to form the consolidated MidCoast LEP:

- 1 **Acknowledge diversity and local character:** To identify and protect our diverse and valuable natural landscapes and to recognise the desired roles and character of our different urban settlements.
- 2 **Consistency with State:** To prepare the local environmental plan in a manner consistent with State legislation and guidelines.
- 3 **Regional Policies and Plans:** To apply the goals and actions for the MidCoast local government area contained in regional policies and plans.
- 4 **Council Strategies:** To reflect the actions and recommendations of Council strategies.

State and regional policies

Appendix A provides a summary of the state and regional policies reviewed including:

- Hunter Regional Plan 2036 (2016)
- Mid North Coast Regional Strategy 2006-2031 (2009)
- Draft North Coast Regional Plan (2016)
- A 20-Year Economic Vision for Regional NSW (2018)
- Upper Hunter Region Diversification Report (2011)
- Upper Hunter Strategic Regional Plan (2012)

Local policies

Appendix B provides a summary of the local policies reviewed including:

- MidCoast Regional Economic Development Strategy (2018)
- Community Strategic Plan 2018 2030
- Delivery Program and Operational Plan (2018)

Local economic/planning strategies

Appendix C provides a summary of the local economic/planning strategies reviewed for each of the three former local government areas of Greater Taree, Great Lakes and Gloucester.

Current projects and strategies

Appendix D provides a summary of current MidCoast planning proposals and major projects of relevance to the EZR including:

- Northern Gateway Stage 2 Planning Proposal
- Draft MidCoast Council Housing Strategy
- Draft Manning Health and Taree CBD Precinct Plan
- North Tuncurry State Significant Project

3 Demographic Context

Population trends

The MidCoast population has grown from 88,818 (2011) to 91,958 (2016) being an increase of 3,140 people and a **0.69% cumulative growth rate**. This is compared to a NSW average of 1.57% and a national average of 1.7% for the same period.

The table below and Figure 1 details the growth rates (2011-2016), population (in 2016) and a population projection to 2036 for each MidCoast centre. This information is from the Draft MidCoast Urban Land Monitor 2018 (ULM) which analyses settlements with a population over 600 people.

	Average Growth Rate 2011-2016	Population 2016	Projection 2036 'Average Growth'
Strategic Centre			
Forster - Tuncurry	+1.05%	19,918	24,548
Taree	+0.33%	18,117	19,355
Rural Centre			
Wingham	+0.06%	4,532	4,624
Gloucester	+0.46%	2,390	2,619
Bulahdelah	- 0.13%	1,111	1,133*
Tinonee	+0.73%	757	874
Stroud	+0.65%	724	824
Nabiac	- 0.19%	631	644*
Coastal Centre			
Old Bar - Wallabi Point	+1.28%	4,470	5,762
Tea Gardens - Hawks Nest	+2.18%	3,590	5,526
Hallidays Point	+3.74%	3,052	6,362
Harrington	+5.11%	2,896	7,850
Smiths Lake	+2.79%	1,235	2,143
Pacific Palms	+0.97%	697	846

*Note that where historical growth was less than 0.1%, a projected growth rate of 0.1% was applied in the ULM to allow for some low potential growth.

Regional Markets

The ULM identified four broad regional markets on the MidCoast. Their characteristics and growth rates are described below and in Figure 2.

- 1 *Taree*: the major strategic centre, supported by significant infrastructure and services, has a growth rate less than the MidCoast average (0.33% from 2011 and 0.58% from 2001).
- 2 *Forster-Tuncurry*: the historic tourist hub, supported by coastal amenity and facilities, has a growth rate higher than the MidCoast average (1.05% from 2011 and 0.70% from 2001).
- 3 *Rural Centres*: with an agricultural/country lifestyle focus, have a growth rate well below the MidCoast average (0.21% from 2011).
- 4 *Coastal Centres*: with a beach lifestyle/tourist focus, have a growth rate well above the MidCoast average (2.7% from 2011). This market also exceeds the state (1.57%) and national (1.7%) growth rates.



Figure 1: MidCoast Centres with 2016 Population and Growth Rate 2011-2016 (Source: ABS)

Figure 2: MidCoast Growth Rates 2011-2016 (Source: ABS)



Employment summary

This employment summary details the number of full-time equivalent jobs located within the MidCoast, based on a 35-hour work week. This equates to an estimate of 24,604 jobs for the MidCoast (source: REMPLAN, July 2018). These jobs are distributed over the industry sectors detailed below, with healthcare and social assistance being the largest employers in the region.





The table below provides a breakdown of where the majority of these jobs are located, with Taree providing almost half of the employment for the area (source: REMPLAN, July 2018).

Centre	Jobs	% of MidCoast
Taree	9,915	40.3%
Forster - Tuncurry	6,203	25.2%
Wingham	1,470	6%
Gloucester	1,211	4.9%
Tea Gardens - Hawks Nest	909	3.7%

4 Business Zones

"Our villages and business precincts are vibrant commercial, cultural and social hubs"

MidCoast Council, Community Strategic Plan, 2018-2030

Business zones sit at the heart of our towns and villages and therefore play a crucial role in supporting the development of lively and attractive centres.

A vibrant community centre is a place for everyone, it is safe, attractive and active throughout the day and evening. It is a public space that can support community events and celebrations.

When centres are places that residents and visitors want to spend more time, they are also more attractive to business investment.

This review aims to support the creation of vibrant community centres through the use of clear, simple and consistent rules that make it possible for development to occur in the right place and in the right way.

The following pages look in detail at business zones across the MidCoast. The purpose of each business zone is explained, followed by detailed analysis of how these could be applied as part of a consolidated MidCoast LEP. This work draws on the NSW Department of Planning directions, relevant state, regional and local policies, and a review of how business zones are applied in comparable NSW regional council LEPs.

Photo example of a vibrant community centre – Mudgee, NSW (Source: www.visitmudgeeregion.com)



Business zones explained

The business zones available to use in the Standard Instrument Local Environmental Plan are: B1 Neighbourhood Centre; B2 Local Centre; B3 Commercial Core; B4 Mixed Use; B5 Business Development; B6 Enterprise Corridor and B7 Business Park.

An overview for each of the business zones and how they are intended to be applied in the regional MidCoast landscape is provided in the table below. A detailed description of the zones based on State directions is also provided in Appendix E.

Primary Business Zones

The B1 Neighbourhood Centre, B2 Local Centre, and B3 Commercial Core zones are considered *primary business zones* as they are located at the centre of communities.

	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	B2 Local Centre	B3 Commercial Core
Description	Small set of convenience shops	Local shopping or town centre	A Central Business District
Local Examples	Fairways Forster (below), Forster Keys, Cundletown	Wingham (below), Gloucester town centre, Stocklands Forster	Taree CBD (below)
Photo Example			
Plan Example		B2	B3
Typical Uses	Corner store, pharmacy, real-estate, cafe, hairdresser, shop-top units	Supermarket, shops, medical, office, restaurant, post office, cinema, motel, shop-top units	Supermarkets, shops, offices, concert hall, hotel, shop-top units
Catchment Distance	Up to 5 minute drive	Up to 30 minute drive	Up to 1 hour drive
Catchment Population	> 500 people	> 2,000 people	> 20,000 people
Land Area	0.5ha to 2ha of B1	2ha to 20ha of B2	20ha to 40ha of B3
Appropriate Location	At the centre of neighbourhoods with appropriate catchment	At the centre of localities/towns with appropriate catchment	At the centre of cities with appropriate catchment
Optimal Access	Walking	Public transport, cycling, walking	Major transport routes, public transport, cycling, walking
Context	B1 works in proximity to a B2 or B3	Large B2 can be supported by B4, B5, B6 or B7	B3 can be supported by B4, B5, B6 or B7
Regional Policy	NA (but should be supported by strategic analysis)	Recognised in adopted regional planning document	Recognised in adopted regional planning document

Secondary Business Zones

The B4 Mixed Use, B5 Business Development, B6 Enterprise Corridor and B7 Business Park zones are considered *secondary business zones* as they support or complement the *primary* business zones.

	B4 Mixed Use Centre	B5 Business Development	B6 Enterprise Corridor	B7 Business Park
Description	A mix of commercial and residential	Bulky goods with large floor space	Commerce on main roads (not retail)	Dedicated business or office park
Local Examples	Tuncurry (below), Figtrees on the Manning, Taree	Mill Close, Taree (below), Bunnings precinct, Taree	Victoria Street, Taree (below)	No local examples
Photo Example				No local examples
Plan Example	B2 B2 B4	B 5	B6	No local examples
Typical Uses	Units, cafe, shops, restaurant, business, office (can be standalone or multiple uses on one site)	Bulky goods store for hardware, furniture, camping, auto parts, light industry	Motel, business, car yard, auto mechanics, light industry, fast food	Office, business, light industry, technology industries and ancillary facilities
Appropriate Location	Surrounding B3/B2, at recreation/tourist precincts, for major planned developments	Close to existing or proposed centres and/or industrial centres	Along main roads where high street amenity is not critical	In an accessible location but one that does not compete with existing centres
Optimal Access	In accessible locations so as to maximise public transport patronage, walking and cycling	Along transport routes	Along major transport routes	In accessible locations so as to maximise public transport patronage, walking and cycling
Context	The residential component can help in revitalising and sustaining a <i>primary</i> <i>business zone</i>	Support (not detract from) the viability of B3 and B2 centres	Does not detract from retail viability of B3 and B2 centres	Specialised functions must be protected for the long term

Note: The B7 Business Park zone is not currently used in the MidCoast and is not proposed at this time.

Strategic network of centres

A strategic network of centres has developed in the MidCoast due to major drivers such as migration trends, infrastructure provision and employment/industry development. This review provides an opportunity to acknowledge this established hierarchy and to ensure that land use zoning is applied consistently at this strategic level.

The table below provides a summary of the existing business zones used in major centres across the MidCoast. It also details land areas of the B1, B2 and B3 zones (*primary business zones*) and the B4, B5 and B6 zones (*secondary business zones*). Towns in the RU5 village zone with identifiable business centres are provided for context.

	Centre Zones Used	B1, B2, B3 Land Area (ha)	B4, B5, B6 Land Area (ha)	Total Land Area (ha)
Taree	B1, B3, B4, B5, B6	39.25	100.35	139.6
Forster – Tuncurry	B1, B2, B4, B5	32.22	19.19	51.41
Gloucester	B2, B4	14.05	6.25	20.3
Tea Gardens – Hawks Nest	B1, B2, B4	12.59	7.14	19.73
Wingham	B1, B2 B6	10.28	0.68	10.96
Old Bar – Wallabi Point	B1	6.13	0	6.13
Hallidays Point	B1, B2	4.53	0	4.53
Harrington – Crowdy Head	B1	3.32	0.54	3.86
Pacific Palms	B1	0.76	0	0.76
Tinonee	B1	0.59	0	0.59
Brimbin	B4	0	115.07	115.07
	·	123.72 ha	249.22 ha	372.94 ha

Business zone land areas

Towns in the RU5 village zone, with identifiable business centres

	Bulahdelah	Nabiac	Stroud	Smiths Lake
Business land approx (ha)	1.2	1.1	0.8	0.4

Summary of directions

A summary of key directions is as follows. The adjoining maps illustrate these directions.

- Taree is the primary centre for the MidCoast with a large strategic catchment, quantum of business land and proximity to key infrastructure. Taree should remain as the only B3 Commercial Core zone in MidCoast.
- Forster-Tuncurry, Gloucester and Tea Gardens-Hawks Nest are important regional strategic centres with considerable business land area needed to deliver regional services and facilities appropriate for that location. These centres should include significant areas of B2 Local Centre zones.
- Wingham, Old Bar, Hallidays Point, Harrington and Pacific Palms are local townships with capacity to deliver supermarkets, civic spaces, businesses etc. These centres should be anchored by a B2 Local Centre zone.
- Neighbourhoods such as Cundletown, Tinonee and Forster Keys service smaller catchments and have proximity to a larger centre. These are B1 Neighbourhood Centre zones.

Detailed discussion and analysis of each centre is provided at Appendix H.



Figure 3: Network of centres - with 2016 population and 2011-2016 growth rates (Source: ABS)

Figure 4: Strategic catchments – with 2016 and 2036 population catchments (Source: ProfileID)



Current application of business zones

Each zone in the LEP has a *land use table* that details the objectives of that zone and uses that are permitted or prohibited. The Greater Taree, Great Lakes and Gloucester LEPs utilise a variety of business zones as illustrated by the following table. Greater Taree uses 6 of the 7 zones, while Great Lakes uses 4 and Gloucester only 2. None of the existing LEPs use the B7 Business Park Zone.

	Greater Taree	Great Lakes	Gloucester
B1 Neighbourhood Centre	✓	\checkmark	×
B2 Local Centre	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓
B3 Commercial Core	\checkmark	×	×
B4 Mixed Use	✓	\checkmark	✓
B5 Business Development	✓	\checkmark	×
B6 Enterprise Corridor	✓	×	×
B7 Business Park	×	×	×

Even where the same zone has been used across the existing LEPs there are differences in how they have been applied in terms of their objectives and land uses.

A summary of key points is provided below.

- The *primary business zones* (B1, B2 and B3) have little differentiation in the existing LEPs in terms of their objectives and permitted land uses. Greater diversity is needed to better reflect the different scale and purpose of each zone.
- The B4 zone has wide ranging land use permissibility in the existing LEPs. It will be important to ensure that this zone supports and does not have the potential to detract from the *primary business zones*.
- The B5 zones currently prohibit some bulky good type land uses that would be appropriate. It is also important to ensure that any permissible land uses do not have the potential to detract from the *primary business zones*.
- The B6 zone is generally used consistently and appropriately.
- The B7 zone is not currently used and no areas were found that would be appropriate for this type of zone in the MidCoast. However, it can be utilised at a later date if the need arises for a dedicated business or office park.

An analysis of each land use table was carried out and can be found at Appendix F.

Objectives in the land use table

A summary of the proposed business zone objectives is provided here. A detailed comparison of each existing and proposed business zone land use table is provided in Appendix G.

Note: the NSW Standard Instrument Local Environmental Plan has zone objectives that must be included. Any proposed additional objectives are listed below and justification is provided, taking into account the current Greater Taree (GT), Great Lakes (GL) or Gloucester (GS) LEP zone objectives.

B1 Neighbourhood Centre

B1	Zone Objectives	Justification
A	To provide a range of small-scale retail, business and community uses that serve the needs of people who live or work in the surrounding neighbourhood.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
В	To enable a range of residential accommodation and tourist and visitor accommodation to be located above commercial uses.	Consistent with existing objectives in the GT and GL LEPs for B1.
С	To encourage walking and cycling.	Reinforces the need for B1 zones to be at the centre of neighbourhoods.
D	To support vibrant neighbourhood centres that activate the street.	Reflects the Community Strategic Plan aspiration for our business precincts to be vibrant commercial, cultural and social hubs.

B2 Local Centre

B2	Zone Objectives	Justification
A	To provide a range of retail, business, entertainment and community uses that serve the needs of people who live in, work in and visit the local area.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
В	To encourage employment opportunities in accessible locations.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
С	To maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
D	To enable a range of residential accommodation and tourist and visitor accommodation to be located above commercial uses	Consistent with objectives existing in the GT and GL LEPs for B2.
E	To support vibrant local centres that activate the street and the public domain whilst providing a safe and accessible place for community engagement and interaction.	Reflects the Community Strategic Plan aspiration for our business precincts to be vibrant commercial, cultural and social hubs.

B3 Commercial Core

B 3	Zone Objectives	Justification
А	To provide a wide range of retail, business, office, entertainment, community and other suitable land uses that serve the needs of the local and wider community.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
В	To encourage appropriate employment opportunities in accessible locations.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
С	To maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
D	To enable a range of residential accommodation and tourist and visitor accommodation to be located above commercial uses.	Supports accommodation uses which are desirable in the CBD.
E	To maximise development potential of the Taree central business district as the major regional centre in the MidCoast.	Consistent with existing GT LEP which seeks to ensure the primacy of the Taree central business district.
G	To support a vibrant local and regional centre that activates the street and the public domain whilst providing a safe and accessible place for community engagement and interaction.	Reflects the Community Strategic Plan aspiration for our business precincts to be vibrant commercial, cultural and social hubs.

B4 Mixed Use

B4	Zone Objectives	Justification
А	To provide a mixture of compatible land uses.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
В	To integrate suitable business, office, residential, retail and other development in accessible locations so as to maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
С	To enable development that complements and does not detract from the core retail function and performance of Zone B2 Local Centre and Zone B3 Commercial Core.	Consistent with existing GL LEP which seeks to protect the viability of existing centres.
D	To provide tourist and visitor accommodation that supports the business centre.	Supports accommodation uses which are desirable in the B4 zone.

B5 Business Development

B5	Zone Objectives	Justification
A	To enable a mix of business, warehouse uses, and specialised retail premises that require a large floor area, in locations that are close to, and that support the viability of, centres.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
В	To enable light industry uses that complement existing uses in the zone.	Enables light industry to operate in the B5 zone, consistent with how these areas are currently functioning.

B6 Enterprise Corridor

B5	Zone Objectives	Justification
А	To promote businesses along main roads and to encourage a mix of compatible uses.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
В	To provide a range of employment uses (including business, office, retail and light industrial uses).	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
С	To maintain the economic strength of centres by limiting retailing activity.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
D	To enable residential accommodation above commercial uses and tourist and visitor accommodation.	Consistent with the existing GT LEP and supports accommodation uses in this zone.

Permissibility in the land use table

A summary of the proposed business zone land use permissibility is provided over the following pages.

The table below provides an overview of some of the significant development types associated with business zones in the MidCoast. The shaded boxes indicate where a change is recommended from the existing LEPs. Justification for these changes is provided below.

	B1	B2	B3	B4	B5	B6
Development Type	Neighbourhood Centre	Local Centre	Commercial Core	Mixed Use	Business Development	Enterprise Corridor
Shops (limited floor area)	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	√J
Shops (unlimited floor area)	×A	~	\checkmark	×E	×	×
Small business	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Restaurant or café	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Office	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	√К
Bulky goods	×B	~	\checkmark	×F	\checkmark	\checkmark
Light industry	×	×	×	×G	<mark>√</mark> 1	\checkmark
Community facilities	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Education facilities	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Entertainment facilities	×c	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Health services	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Service station	\checkmark	\checkmark	×D	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Hotel, motel, backpackers	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	\checkmark
Shop-top units	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	\checkmark
Standalone residential unit	×	×	×	\checkmark	×	×
Standalone house/dual occ.	×	×	×	×H	×	×

Appendix G provides a detailed comparison of existing and proposed business zone land use tables.

Justification of changes in the B1 Neighbourhood zone

- A *Large shops* (over 1,000m²) such as a supermarket are currently permitted in GT and GL B1 zone. Large shops are not consistent with the scale of these convenience centres and should be prohibited.
- B *Bulky goods (specialised retail premises)* are currently permitted in GL B1 zone. Bulky goods premises are not consistent with the neighbourhood scale of the B1 zone and should be prohibited.
- C *Entertainment facilities* are currently permitted in GL B1 zone. Entertainment facilities are not consistent with the neighbourhood scale of the B1 zone and should be prohibited.

Justification of changes in the B3 Commercial Core zone

D *Service stations* are currently permitted in GT B3 zone. Service stations are not consistent with the intended high-density scale of this zone and should be prohibited.

Justification of changes in the B4 Mixed Use zone

- E *Large shops* (over 1,000m²) such as a supermarket are currently permitted in GT, GL and GS B4 zones. This has the potential to detract from primary centre zones, therefore the retail *gross floor area* should be limited in the B4 zone.
- F Bulky goods (specialised retail premises) are currently permitted in GT, GL and GS B4 zones. Large floor spaces are not considered to be appropriate for this zone where a finer grain of mixed uses is desirable. Therefore, the gross floor area for retail (including specialised retail premises) should be limited in the B4 zone.
- G *Light industry* is currently permitted in GT B4 zone. Light industries are not consistent with objectives for this zone which primarily supports business, office, residential and retail development. Light industries should be prohibited in the B4 zone.
- H *Dwelling houses* are currently permitted in GT B4 zone. Single dwelling houses are not consistent with the intended scale of this zone which is more consistent with medium density residential and tourist accommodation.

Justification of changes in the B5 Business Development zone

I *Light industry* is currently not permitted in GT or GL B5 zone. Analysis of other NSW LEPs indicates that *light industry* it is often included in the B5 zone and fits appropriately with the B5 zone objectives.

Justification of changes in the B6 Enterprise Corridor zone

- J Shops are currently prohibited in the GT and GL B6 zones. The EZR recommends allowing *neighbourhood shops* in the B6 zone with a maximum floor space of 250m².
- K Office is currently permitted in GT B6 zone. This could potentially detract from the primary business zones. It is recommended to continue to allow offices in the B6 zone but to limit the size of office premises through a local clause.

Development standards and provisions

The LEP development standards and provisions are an opportunity to provide clear direction regarding densities and major design considerations in line with zone objectives. The following points provide a summary of the main recommendations for business zone development standards and provisions. Justification for these changes is provided over the following pages.

- 1 Remove all *minimum lot size* (for subdivision) requirements except for the B5 Business Development zone which should be 1,500m².
- 2 *Height of buildings* requirements are reviewed on a site by site basis with an aim to increase heights where locally appropriate.
- 3 Remove all *floor space ratio* requirements.
- 4 Apply *active street frontages* local provision to all B1, B2 and B3 zones and provide further detail to this clause to ensure desired outcomes are achieved.
- 5 Create a new provision relating to unstructured large B1 and B2 zones to ensure they can develop into vibrant commercial, cultural and social hubs.
- 6 Draft a new provision to ensure that uses within the *secondary business zones* (B4, B5, B6) do not detract from the *primary business zones* (B1, B2, B3).

Minimum lot size (for subdivision)

The development standard for *minimum lot size* aims to control the density of subdivision in accordance with the character of the location, site constraints and available services, facilities and infrastructure, and to ensure that lots are of a sufficient size and shape to accommodate future development.

The existing LEP requirements are provided below, along with general recommendations for the consolidated MidCoast LEP.

	B1	B2	B 3	B4	B5	B6
LEP	Neighbourhood Centre	Local Centre	Commercial Core	Mixed Use	Business Development	Enterprise Corridor
Greater Taree (GT)	no min	no min	no min	no min	no min	no min
Great Lakes (GL)	700m ²	500m ²	-	500m ²	1,000m ²	-
Gloucester (GS)	-	1,000m ²	-	1,000m ²	-	-
Recommendation	no min	no min	no min	no min	1,500m ²	no min

Removing the *minimum subdivision lot size* requirement from B1, B2, B3, B4 and B6 zones is consistent with the current approach in the Greater Taree LEP. It is not necessary to provide regulatory controls over lot sizes for these zones. This is also consistent with other NSW LEPs that were examined (including Port Stephens 2013, Port Macquarie-Hastings 2011, Shoalhaven 2014, Lake Macquarie 2014 and Tweed 2014).

A minimum lot size for the B5 Business Development zone is recommended as these areas are primarily for *bulky goods (specialised retail premises)* development, which require a larger lot size to function. An analysis of *bulky goods (specialised retail premises)* indicates that a minimum lot size of 1,500m² is appropriate.

Height of buildings

The development standard for *height of buildings* aims to ensure that the scale of proposed buildings is compatible with the existing and desired future character of a locality.

Broadly speaking, 8.5m = 2 storeys; 12m = 3 storeys; 15m = 4 storeys; 18m = 5 storeys; 21m = 6 storeys; 24m = 7 storeys; 27m = 8 storeys, etc.

The existing LEP requirements are provided below, along with general recommendations for the consolidated MidCoast LEP. However, there may be variation on a site-by-site basis.

	B1	B2	B3	B4	B5	B6
LEP	Neighbourhood Centre	Local Centre	Commercial Core	Mixed Use	Business Development	Enterprise Corridor
Greater Taree (GT)	8.5m	8.5m	8.5m	8.5m	no max or 8.5m	8.5m
Great Lakes (GL)	12m	13 to 30m	-	12 to 33m	8.5m	8.5m
Gloucester (GS)	-	11.5m	-	7.5m	-	-

The development standard for *height of buildings* varies considerably, to the extent that it is not possible to provide a standard recommendation.

Broadly speaking it is noted that centres are by nature a medium-density built environment with proximity to services, amenities and public transport. In that sense they are suited to increased height limits which can support additional commercial or residential uses above the ground floor. However, each business zone will be examined on a site by site basis to determine an appropriate *height of buildings* that considers local character and neighbouring amenity.

Floor space ratio

The development standard for *floor space ratio* aims to ensure that the scale of proposed buildings is compatible with the existing and desired future character of the locality; and to encourage a diversity of development on land in business zones, without jeopardising the supply of retail or business floor space in those zones.

	B1	B2	B 3	B 4	B5	B 6
LEP	Neighbourhood Centre	Local Centre	Commercial Core	Mixed Use	Business Development	Enterprise Corridor
Greater Taree (GT)	0.85:1	0.85:1	2:1	1 or 2:1	1:1	1:1
Great Lakes (GL)	no max	1.5:1	-	1.5:1	1:1	-
Gloucester (GS)	-	no max	-	1, 2 or 3:1	-	-
Recommendation	no max	no max	no max	no max	no max	no max

The existing LEP requirements are provided below, along with general recommendations for the consolidated MidCoast LEP.

Removing the *floor space ratio* requirement from business zones is consistent with other NSW LEPs that were examined (including Port Stephens 2013, Shoalhaven 2014 and Lake Macquarie 2014). Other controls such as building heights, setbacks and open space are considered to adequately regulate the scale and bulk of buildings and development.

Active street frontages

The local provision for *active street frontages* aims to provide attractive areas for pedestrians in commercial centres, by requiring accessible ground floor uses in *primary business zones*.

A development is considered to have an active street frontage if all premises on the ground floor of the building facing the street, are used for business or retail premises.

This local provision is currently used in Wharf Street, Forster; Manning Street, Tuncurry; Myall Street and Marine Drive, Tea Gardens; and Tuloa Avenue, Hawks Nest. It is also used in other NSW LEPs including Newcastle 2012, Wollongong 2009, Kiama 2011, Shoalhaven 2014 and Blue Mountains 2015.

Active streets have the following characteristics:

- 1 Engage with the street (without large blank facades).
- 2 Have a consistent building line (without breaks).
- 3 Are built to the front boundary line and offer continual awnings (instead of being setback with car parks dominating the streetscape).

Figure 5: Examples of (A) desirable and (B) undesirable street frontages



The recommendation is to apply the *active street frontages* local provision and associated mapping to all primary business zones (B1, B2 and B3) – noting that some variation may occur on a site-by-site basis.

It is also recommended that additional detail is provided in the clause to ensure that the desired outcome for an active streetscape is achieved, based on a similar clause from the Wollongong LEP 2009, as detailed below.

Current – Active street frontages (Great Lakes LEP 2014)

- 1 The objective of this clause is to promote uses that attract pedestrian traffic along certain ground floor street frontages in Zone B1 Neighbourhood Centre and Zone B2 Local Centre.
- 2 This clause applies to land identified as "Active Street Frontage" on the Active Street Frontages Map.
- 3 Development consent must not be granted to the erection of a building, or a change of use of a building, on land to which this clause applies unless the consent authority is satisfied that the building will have an active street frontage after its erection or change of use.
- 4 Despite subclause (3), an active street frontage is not required for any part of a building that is used for any of the following:
 - a) entrances and lobbies (including as part of mixed-use development),
 - b) access for fire services,
 - c) vehicular access.
- 5 In this clause, a building has an active street frontage if all premises on the ground floor of the building facing the street are used for the purposes of business premises or retail premises.

Proposed – Active street frontages

- 1 The objective of this clause is to promote uses that attract pedestrian traffic along certain ground floor street frontages in Zone B1 Neighbourhood Centre, Zone B2 Local Centre *and Zone B3 Commercial Core*.
- 2 This clause applies to land identified as "Active Street Frontage" on the Active Street Frontages Map.
- 3 Development consent must not be granted to the erection of a building, or a change of use of a building, on land to which this clause applies unless the consent authority is satisfied that the building will have an active street frontage after its erection or change of use.
- 4 Despite subclause (3), an active street frontage is not required for any part of a building that is used for any of the following:
 - a) entrances and lobbies (including as part of mixed-use development),
 - b) access for fire services,
 - c) vehicular access.
- 5 For the purposes of this clause, a building has an active street frontage if:
 - a) all premises on the ground floor of the building facing the street are used for the purposes of business premises or retail premises;
 - *b) its street frontage enables direct visual and physical contact between the street and the interior of the building;*
 - c) all premises on the ground floor are built to the street or public place boundary line or create a continuous building edge with adjoining commercial premises;
 - d) there is no continuous frontage of a single premises beyond 20m, and,
 - e) all car parking, loading and unloading areas are provided behind buildings.

Note. Clearly defined entrances, windows and shop fronts are elements of a building facade that contribute to an active street frontage.

Unstructured centres

This review has identified a number of centres that are (or have the potential to be) y internally focused retail environments with no public space and a landscape dominated by car parking. These centres do not have the underlying structure to meet community aspirations: *"our villages and business precincts are vibrant commercial, cultural and social hubs"* (MidCoast Council, Community Strategic Plan, 2018-2030).







These areas all have similar characteristics, including being zoned B1 or B2, containing a limited number of large lots, a limited number of owners and minimal public street framework.

They all include major retail floor spaces surrounded by significant areas of at grade car parking.

Photo of Stocklands Shopping Centre



Given these characteristics, these precincts require specific planning controls to facilitate their transition into vibrant commercial, cultural and social hubs.

The EZR recommends that these locations are identified by a local provision in the MidCoast LEP and associated map called *unstructured centres*. The draft clause could be structured as follows:

Unstructured centres

- 1 The objective of this provision is to allow increased building heights where it can be demonstrated the precinct will result in the development of a vibrant public realm.
- 2 The potential maximum building heights could be noted on the *unstructured centres* map, and would substantially increase development potential of these precincts:
 - a) 21m for Stocklands north of Breese Parade, Forster
 - b) 12m for Stocklands south Breese Parade, Forster
 - c) 18m for Myall Quays Boulevard, Tea Gardens
 - d) 18m for High Street, Black Head
 - e) 12m for Precinct 2B, Old Bar
 - f) 15m for Caledonia Street, Harrington
- 3 Support for increased heights would rely on development meeting the following criteria (in addition to Development Control Plan requirements):
 - A street network within the business zone which integrates the commercial area with surrounding development and provides for pedestrian access and circulation (walkable blocks with a width or length not greater than 100m)
 - b) Buildings designed in accordance with the active street frontages clause
 - c) Inclusion of a public space (e.g. park or square) at a size appropriate for the scale of the commercial precinct
 - d) Shop top housing and a mix of ground floor commercial premises
 - e) Minimal impact on the amenity of adjoining residential areas
 - f) Visual amenity in car parking areas provided by landscaping and other streetscape treatments
 - g) Delivery, service and storage areas located to ensure security; separation from pedestrians; noise, odor and visual impacts are minimised

Commercial premises in certain business zones

The following local provision is recommended to ensure that uses within the *secondary business zones* (B4, B5, B6) do not detract from the *primary business zones* (B1, B2, B3).

The draft provision draws on an example from the Coffs Harbour LEP 2013. Examples of this type of provision are also found in other NSW LEPs including Port Macquarie-Hastings 2011, Newcastle 2012 and Wollongong 2009:

Commercial premises in certain business zones

- A The objective of this clause is to maintain the commercial hierarchy of MidCoast by encouraging commercial development of an appropriate scale across business zones.
- B Despite any other clause, development consent must not be granted to development for the purposes of commercial premises on land in Zone B4 Mixed Use if the gross floor area of that development will exceed 400 square metres per premises.
- C Despite any other clauses, development consent must not be granted to development for the purposes of business or office premises on land in Zone B6 Enterprise Corridor if the total gross floor area of that part of the development comprising business and office premises, will exceed 600 square metres.

Neighbourhood shops/supermarket – Miscellaneous permissible uses

The LEP clause for miscellaneous permissible uses aims to control the amount of floor area permissible for different uses. Councils are required to set maximum floor areas for *neighbourhood shops* and *neighbourhood supermarkets*.

The existing LEP requirements are provided below, along with general recommendations for the consolidated MidCoast LEP.

	Neighbourhood Shops	Neighbourhood Supermarkets	
Standard Instrument	max between 80 to 1,000m ²	max 1,000m ²	
Greater Taree (GT)	max 80m ²	max 1,000m ²	
Great Lakes (GL)	max 120m ²	max 1,000m ²	
Gloucester (GS)	max 80m ²	max 1,000m ²	
Recommendation	max 250m ²	max 1,000m ²	

Increasing the existing maximum floor area for *neighbourhood shops* is consistent with other NSW LEPs that were examined, including Port Macquarie-Hastings 2011 (200m²), Byron 2014 (200m²), and Tweed 2014 (300m²). This allows for greater flexibility without affecting the finer grain of shops desirable at the neighbourhood scale.

Business zones review

Part B of this report analyses every business zone area across the MidCoast. Each parcel is reviewed to ensure it is zoned consistently and that it reinforces the strategic network of centres.

-

Gloucester town centre

The Gloucester town centre currently encompasses 14.05 hectares of land zoned B2 Local Centre. This town centre has been considered in more detail because the EZR recommends a significant change to this area, by proposing the rezoning of 4.9 hectares (35%) of the existing B2 land to a residential zone.

Gloucester Town Centre



Historical growth

Gloucester was established and surveyed by the Australian Agricultural Company (AA Co) in 1851. At this time Ravenshaw and Queen Streets were the main transport routes through the town.

While Queen and Ravenshaw Streets continue to provide key transport routes through Gloucester, Church Street is the defined main street and central business area of the town, with key access points at intersections with Queen, Hume and Philip Streets.

Key Transport routes



Existing Land Use Zones in Gloucester LEP 2010



The current B2 Local Centre zoning is constrained to the west of Church Street, but extends east to Barrington Street, north to Queen Street and south to Hume Street. The B4 Mixed Use zone to the south of the town centre includes a large supermarket established in 2010.

Community concerns about the Gloucester town centre

The Gloucester community have raised concerns with Council in various forums, about the extent of the B2 Local Centre zone and in particular, the prohibition of dwelling houses within this zone.

Within the existing B2 zone, if a house has been converted to a business, it cannot be returned to a residential use because a *dwelling house* is prohibited within the B2 zone. This is an unintended consequence of the existing LEP.



Commercial premises and outdoor dining in the B2 zone, Church Street

Residential buildings in the B2 zone, Barrington Street



Previous employment land strategies

There are two existing strategies which have considered the Gloucester town centre business zone: *Development Employment Land & Commercial/Retail Strategy* (2006) and *Gloucester Employment Land Review* (2014).
These strategies included an assessment of the floor space requirements of the Gloucester town centre based on population and employment projections. Both strategies indicated that the demand for commercial and retail floor space in Gloucester has been over-estimated and recommended a substantial reduction to the B2 zone.

Development Employment Land & Commercial/Retail Strategy (Ratio Consultants – January 2006)

The Strategy was commissioned as part of a review of the Gloucester Local Environmental Plan 2000 (LEP) and was adopted by Gloucester Shire Council on 23 May 2006.

The Strategy assessed the retail and commercial floor space required to meet the town centre's needs over the period 2015-2021. It projected that Gloucester would experience significant population growth (22%) between 2005 to 2021.

Despite these projections, the study still recommended a net reduction of 6 hectares (including roads) of business zoned land, as indicated in the map below:



Proposed zoning changes (Ratio Consultants – January 2006)

While the business zone was reduced in Gloucester LEP 2010, it was not to the full extent recommended in the strategy.

Gloucester Employment Land Review (MacroPlanDimasi – November 2014)

The Review was commissioned by the Department of Planning and Environment (DPE) to assess employment land in the Local Government Areas (LGA) that comprised the Mid and North Coast regions of New South Wales.

Fifteen LGAs were assessed using a forecast period of 2011 to 2031: Tweed, Byron Bay, Ballina, Lismore, Kyogle, Richmond Valley, Clarence Valley, Coffs Harbour, Bellingen, Nambucca, Kempsey, Port Macquarie, Greater Taree, Gloucester and Great Lakes.

The purpose of the review was to:

- Provide evidence-based research into employment lands as part of the DPE North Coast Regional Plan program.
- Examine the North Coast Regional Plan urban growth area boundaries, to ensure the boundaries were not restricting potential increases to employment lands.

The review concluded that Gloucester had an oversupply of 11.6 hectares of B2 zoned land (including roads). The report did not include any maps or further detail on how or where the B2 area could be reduced.

Demographics presented in the strategies

The following tables summarise the population projection and job growth analysis within both the *Development Employment Land & Commercial/Retail Strategy* (2006) and *Gloucester Employment Land Review* (2014); compared to current projections following the release of Australian Bureau of Statistics 2016 population data.

(Source: Profile ID population data https://profile.id.com.au/midcoast and REMPLAN employment figures https://www.remplan.com.au/).

Population projection comparisons

	2016	2021	2036
ABS 2016 - Profile ID	5,013	5,210	5,587
Strategy (2006)	5,680 (+667)	6,080 (+870)	7,080 <mark>(+1,493)</mark>
Review (2014)	-	4,900 (-310)	4,850 (-737)

Number of jobs comparisons

	2006	2011	2016	2021	2031
REMPLAN	-	1,816	1,794		
Strategy (2006)	-	-	-	-	-
Review (2014)	1,737	1,807	-	1,890	1,917

The figures above show that the Strategy (2006) was based on inflated population projections. In comparison, the Review (2014) population and employment projections are more consistent with those based on the 2016 ABS data.

Therefore, the recommendations contained in the *Gloucester Employment Land Review* (2014) for an 11.6ha reduction may be more reliable and have informed consideration of the reductions proposed within this Employment Zone Review.

Key considerations for Employment Zone Review

In considering the extent of the existing B2 Local Business zone in Gloucester town centre, three key issues were identified and considered: flooding, heritage and existing pattern of land uses.

The primary environmental constraint affecting the potential expansion or redevelopment of business land is the impact of river flooding during a 1 in 100 year (1% AEP) flood event, as documented in the Gloucester and Avon Rivers Flood Study.



Gloucester and Avon Rivers Flood Study

The most significant attribute of Church Street is the unique character provided by its many heritage buildings. This is recognised in Gloucester LEP 2010 with the identification of several individual buildings as Heritage Items and the main business centre being contained within the broad Heritage Conservation Area.



Heritage Items and Heritage Conservation Area in Gloucester LEP 2010

Finally, to verify the community feedback regarding existing dwellings within the B2 Local Business zone, a land use audit was undertaken which confirmed a high prevalence of single dwellings on the eastern part of the town centre, along with a number of community uses.

Land use audit 2018



Conclusions

The EZR recommends reducing the B2 Local Centre zone by 4.9 hectares, based on the review of recommendations from two previous town centre strategies and the findings of current land use audit/analysis in response to community concerns.

This reduction is consistent with completed strategies and aims to achieve the following outcomes:

- Encourage re-development and occupancy within the B2 Local Centre Zone and in particular, the main street precinct.
- Resolve community concerns regarding occupation of dwellings in the business zone.
- Maintain adequate opportunity for business expansion in the town centre.

It is recommended that the 4.9 hectares is returned to a residential zone, consistent with recommendations in the Draft Housing Strategy.



Figure 6: Recommended re-alignment of B2 Local Centre Zone – Gloucester Town Centre

Land Use Zones



5 Industrial Zones

"To grow and strengthen local business and attract new business"

MidCoast Council, Community Strategic Plan, 2018-2030

Industrial zones set the basis for manufacturing and innovation, employment generation and quality products and services for local, national and international markets.

A network of thriving industrial hubs that attract industry and employment are a crucial part of the MidCoast economy.

This review aims to support the creation of prosperous industrial precincts through the use of clear, simple and consistent rules that make it possible for development to occur in the right place and in the right way.

The following pages look in detail at industrial zones across the MidCoast. The purpose of the industrial zones is explained, followed by detailed analysis of how these could be applied as part of a consolidated MidCoast LEP. This work draws on the NSW Department of Planning directions, relevant state, regional and local policies, and a review of how industrial zones are applied in comparable NSW regional council LEPs.

Photo of oxy-fuel welding, Gloucester Industrial Estate



Industrial zones explained

The industrial zones available in the Standard Instrument Local Environmental Plan (LEP) are: IN1 General Industrial; IN2 Light Industrial; IN3 Heavy Industrial; and IN4 Working Waterfront. The table below provides an overview for each of the industrial zones and how they are intended to be applied in the regional MidCoast landscape. A detailed description of the zones is provided in Appendix I.

	IN1 General Industrial	IN2 Light Industrial	
Description	Industry with potential amenity impacts that require separation from residential areas	Industry with acceptable amenity impacts that can be in close proximity to residential areas	
Local Examples	Gloucester, Taree (below)	Tuncurry (below), Forster, Wingham, Taree, Harrington, Tea Gardens	
Plan Example	IN1	IN2	
Typical Uses	General industry, concrete batching plant, truss manufacturing, freight transport	Light industry, showrooms, storage sheds, automotive servicing and repairs, warehouses	
Access	Major roads with good connections	Varies	
Context	Separated from residential zones by vegetation buffers, road or railway. Industrial uses beyond those that serve local residents and businesses.	Directly adjacent to residential zones. Industrial uses that provide services to local businesses and residents.	

	IN3 Heavy Industrial	IN4 Working Waterfront	
DescriptionHeavy industry with significant amenity impacts requiring considerable separation from residential uses		Industrial areas that require access to navigable waterways	
Local Examples	Stratford (below)	Crowdy Head (below), Forster - Tuncurry, Tea Gardens	
Plan Example	INB		
Typical Uses	Fertiliser plants, canneries, tanneries, petroleum and gas processing	Fish co-ops, oyster processing, boat hire and boat chartering, cafes and restaurants	
Access	On major roads with other major transport infrastructure, i.e. heavy rail	Direct access to navigable waterways. Road access can vary	
Context	Master planned industrial areas catering for major heavy industry	Industrial and other activities that require direct access to navigable waterways	

Current application of industrial zones

Each zone in the LEP has a *land use table* that details the objectives of that zone and land uses that are permitted or prohibited. MidCoast Council currently uses the full range of industrial zones from the Standard Instrument LEP however, there is variation on how these are applied within the individual LEPs (Great Lakes, Greater Taree and Gloucester).

	Greater Taree	Great Lakes	Gloucester
IN1 General Industrial	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓
IN2 Light Industrial	\checkmark	\checkmark	×
IN3 Heavy Industrial	×	×	✓
IN4 Working Waterfront	\checkmark	✓	×

There are also variations in the zone objectives and which land uses permitted or prohibited, and a summary of the key findings is provided below:

- All three LEPs take the general approach of allowing:
 - light and general industries in the IN2 Light Industrial zone; and
 - light, general and heavy industries in the IN1 General Industrial zone
- The Greater Taree and Great Lakes LEPs also allow *heavy industry* uses in the IN1 General Industrial Zone the absence of an IN3 Zone to accommodate such activities.
- The IN2 Light Industrial Zone allows a wide range of industrial uses as well as *specialised retail premises* (formerly *bulky goods retail*).
- The IN3 Heavy Industrial zone exists only within the Gloucester LEP, to the purpose planned Stratford Heavy Industrial Precinct which has access to the heavy rail network.
- The IN4 Working Waterfront Zone in the Greater Taree LEP allows business and industrial uses that do not require access to navigable waterways.

A more detailed comparison of the land use tables can be found at Appendix J.

Photo example of IN2 General Industrial zone, Boona Street, Forster



Objectives in the land use table

A summary of the proposed industrial zone objectives is provided here.

Note: the NSW Standard Instrument Local Environmental Plan has zone objectives that must be included. Any proposed additional objectives are listed below and justification is provided, taking into account the current Greater Taree (GT), Great Lakes (GL) or Gloucester (GS) LEP zone objectives.

IN1 General Industrial

IN1	Objective	Justification
A	To provide a wide range of industrial and warehouse land uses.	Standard Instrument– cannot be changed.
В	To encourage employment opportunities.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
С	To minimise any adverse effect of industry on other land uses.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
D	To support and protect industrial land for industrial uses.	Standard Instrument– cannot be changed.
E	To enable land uses that provide facilities or services to meet the day-to-day needs of workers in the area that do not compromise the land being used for industrial purposes.	Strengthens the requirement for industrial land to be used for industrial purposes, except where complementary facilities that serve local workers are appropriate.

IN2 Light Industrial

IN2	Objective	Justification
A	To provide a wide range of light industrial, warehouse and related land uses.	Standard Instrument– cannot be changed.
В	To encourage employment opportunities and to support the viability of centres.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
С	To minimise any adverse effect of industry on other land uses.	Standard Instrument– cannot be changed.
D	To enable other land uses that provide facilities or services to meet the day to day needs of workers in the area.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
E	To support and protect industrial land for industrial uses.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
F	To provide for certain business and office premises and light industries in the arts, technology, production and design sectors.	Allows office premises for arts or cultural purposes that may be complementary to light industrial areas and/or in emerging industries.

IN3 Heavy Industrial

IN3	Objective	Justification
A	To provide suitable areas for those industries that need to be separated from other land uses.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
В	To encourage employment opportunities.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
С	To minimise any adverse effect of heavy industry on other land uses.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
D	To support and protect industrial land for industrial uses.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
E	To support and create opportunity for development in close proximity to heavy transport networks.	Provides for development that leverages accessibility to heavy transport in the Stratford Heavy Industrial Precinct.

IN4 Working Waterfront

IN4	Objective	Justification
A	To retain and encourage waterfront industrial and maritime activities.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
В	To identify sites for maritime purposes and for activities that require direct waterfront access.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
С	To ensure that development does not have an adverse impact on the environmental and visual qualities of the foreshore.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
D	To encourage employment opportunities.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
Е	To minimise any adverse effect of development on land uses in other zones.	Standard Instrument – cannot be changed.
F	To encourage complementary activities to revitalise waterfront areas	Supports the revitalisation of waterfront areas by encouraging recreation and entertainment uses that would benefit from waterfront views and/or access.

Appendix K provides a detailed comparison of existing and proposed industrial zone land use tables.

Permissibility in the land use table

A summary of the proposed industrial zone land use permissibility is provided over the following pages.

The table below provides an overview of some of the significant development types associated with business zones in the MidCoast. The shaded boxes indicate where a change is recommended from the existing LEPs. Justification for these changes is provided below.

	IN1	IN2	IN3	IN4
Development Type	General Industrial	Light Industrial	Heavy Industrial	Working Waterfront
General industry	\checkmark	×L	х	×w
Light industry	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	\checkmark
Heavy industries/Heavy industrial storage	×A	X	~	Х
Liquid fuel depot	√В	Х	\checkmark	Х
Storage premises	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	×w
Funeral homes	^ c	\checkmark	Х	Х
Restaurant or café	✓D	✓M	х	√x
Takeaway food & drinks	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	Х
Office	×E	√N	х	Х
Artisan food and drinks	\checkmark	\checkmark	×v	~
Specialised retail	×	×o	х	×w
Vehicle sales or hire premises	~	\checkmark	×	\checkmark
Freight transport	\checkmark	×P	\checkmark	√ Y
Education facilities (exc. Schools)	√F	√Q	×	×w
Service station	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	×w
Community facilities	√G	√R	×	×w
Emergency services facilities	√H	√S	×	√Z
Animal boarding and training establishments	√1	×	×	×
Marina	√J	√T	×	~
Dwelling houses	×ĸ	×u	×	×

Appendix K provides a detailed comparison of each existing and proposed industrial zone land use table.

Justification of changes in the IN1 General Industrial Zone

- A *Heavy industries* and *heavy industrial storage establishments* are currently permitted in the GT, GL and GSC IN1 Zones. These activities should be located only within the Stratford Industrial Park in the IN3 Zone where adequate separation can be achieved from residential areas.
- B *Liquid fuel depots* as a subgroup of *heavy industrial storage establishments* are currently permitted in the GT, GL and GS IN1 Zones in recognition that these establishments may be critical as service industries in specific locations.
- C *Funeral homes* are not currently permitted in GL IN1 zone. *Funeral homes* are considered an acceptable use from the IN1 zone.
- D *Restaurants and cafes* are currently permitted in the GL and GS IN1 Zones and are considered appropriate as a complementary activity, similar to *takeaway food* & *drink premises* in industrial areas, that can service the needs of local workers.
- E *Offices* are not currently permitted in the GS IN1 Zone and are to be prohibited to ensure this form of commercial activity does not intrude into industrial lands, consistent with the Ministerial directions.
- F Educational establishments (excluding schools) are currently permitted in the GT and GS IN1 zone and provides for industry-based learning facilities. The Infrastructure SEPP 2007 also allows TAFE establishments with consent. in industrial zones.
- G *Community facilities* are currently permitted in the GT and GS IN1 zone, allowing a range of community and not-for-profit uses e.g. meals on wheels, Men's Sheds.
- H *Emergency services facilities* are currently permitted in the GT and GS IN1 zone and are considered to be an appropriate land uses in all industrial zones.
- I *Animal boarding and training establishments* are permitted in the GS IN1 zone and are considered to be consistent with the objectives of the zone.
- J *Marinas* are permitted in the GL and GS IN1 zones and are considered to be consistent with the objectives of the zone.
- K *Dwelling houses* are currently prohibited in all industrial Zones. A local clause is to be prepared that will permit a *dwelling* in the IN1 zone, but only under certain conditions and where it is to be occupied as caretaker's residence.

Justification of changes in the IN2 Light Industrial Zone

- L *General industry* will be prohibited in the IN2 Zone to adequately protect the amenity of surrounding residential land.
- M *Restaurants and cafes* are currently permitted in the GL IN2 Zone and are considered appropriate as a complementary activity, similar to *takeaway food & drink premises* in industrial areas, that can service the needs of local workers.
- N *Offices* are not currently permitted in the GL and GT IN2 zone. However, in accordance with the proposed new zone objective, a local clause is to be prepared that will permit *office* premises in the arts, technology, production and design sectors.

- O *Specialised retail premises* (formerly *bulky goods*) are currently permitted in GT and GL IN2 zone and resulted in a loss of industrial land to what is a commercial/retail purpose.
- P *Freight transport facilities* are currently permitted in the GL IN2 zone, which is not consistent with IN2 zone objectives. and potentially conflicts with adjoining residential areas due to the potential impacts of traffic, noise and lighting resulting from continuous operation
- Q *Educational establishments* (excluding schools) are currently permitted in the GT IN2 zone and provides for industry-based learning facilities. The Infrastructure SEPP 2007 also allows TAFE establishments with consent. in industrial zones.
- R *Community facilities* are currently permitted in the GT IN2 zone, allowing a range of community and not-for-profit uses e.g. meals on wheels, Men's Sheds.
- S *Emergency services facilities* are currently permitted in the GT IN2 and IN4 zone and are considered to be an appropriate land uses in all industrial zones.
- T *Marinas* are permitted in the GL IN2 zone and are considered to be consistent with the objectives of the zone.
- U *Dwelling houses* are currently prohibited in all industrial Zones. A local clause is to be prepared that will permit a *dwelling* in the IN2 zone, but only under certain conditions and where it is to be occupied as caretaker's residence.

Justification of changes in the IN3 Heavy Industrial Zone

V The inclusion of *Artisan food and drink industry* is not consistent with the objectives of the zone, which seek to attract and retain significant heavy industries that can leverage access to heavy rail facilities and require separation from residential and other land uses.

Justification of changes in the IN4 Working Waterfront Zone

- W General industry, storage premises, specialised retail (formerly bulky goods), education facilities, community facilities and a range of other activities will be prohibited in the GT IN4 zone where the land use is not consistent with the objectives of the zone, which aim to attract and retain the land for *rural industries, marinas* and other activities that require direct access to navigable waterways.
- X *Restaurants and cafes* are currently permitted in the GL IN4 Zones and are recommended as a complementary activity to *rural industries* and *marinas*, that can assist in the revitalisation of waterfront areas.
- Y *Freight transport facilities* are to be permitted in the IN4 zone to allow for growth and expansion of existing *rural industry* and *marina* activities in the MidCoast.
- Z *Emergency services facilities* are currently permitted in the GT IN4 zone and are considered to be an appropriate land uses in all industrial zones.

Development standards and provisions

LEP development standards and provisions provide clear direction regarding development location, design and density. A summary of the main recommendations for industrial zone development standards and provisions is provided below:

- 1 Remove all *Minimum lot size* (for subdivision) requirements
- 2 Remove *Height of buildings* from the IN1 General Industrial Zone and IN3 Heavy Industrial Zone; but retain for the IN2 Light Industrial Zone and IN4 Working Waterfront Zone given potential visual impacts of development in these areas on adjoining residential land and waterways.
- 3 Remove all Floor space ratio requirements.
- 4 Draft a local clause that clarifies that a *dwelling*, for the purposes of a 'caretaker's residence', is permitted as an ancillary activity to development in industrial zones. Criteria and development restrictions may be applied in the clause.
- 5 Draft a local clause to ensure that uses within the IN4 Working Waterfront zone require access to navigable waterways or have a complementary function that assists in the revitalisation of the waterfront. Criteria and development restrictions may be applied in the clause.
- 6 Draft a local clause that provides objectives and controls for the establishment of offices for arts and cultural purposes in the IN2 Light Industrial zone.

Justification for these changes is provided over the following pages.

Minimum lot size (for subdivision)

Minimum lot size aims to control the density of subdivision in accordance with the character of the location, site constraints and available services, facilities and infrastructure. It also ensures that lots are of a sufficient size to accommodate future development.

The existing LEP requirements are provided below, along with general recommendations for the consolidated MidCoast LEP.

	IN1	IN2	IN3	IN4
LEP	General Industrial	Light Industrial	Heavy Industrial	Working Waterfront
Greater Taree (GT)	no min*	no min	NA	no min
Great Lakes (GL)	1,000m ²	1,000m ²	NA	1,000m ²
Gloucester (GS)	1,000m ²	NA	8,000m ²	NA
Recommendation	no min*	no min	no min	no min

*Except for a 2-hectare minimum subdivision lot size for Northern Gateway

Removing the *minimum subdivision lot size* requirement from industrial zones is consistent with the current approach in the Greater Taree LEP and other NSW LEPs that were reviewed, including Nambucca 2010, Coffs Harbour 2013, Port Stephens 2013, Maitland 2011 and Cessnock 2011.

Height of buildings

Height of buildings regulates the bulk and scale of proposed buildings to ensure that new buildings are designed to support the desired future character of the locality.

The existing LEP requirements are provided below, along with general recommendations for the consolidated MidCoast LEP.

	IN1	IN2	IN3	IN4
LEP	General Industrial	Light Industrial	Heavy Industrial	Working Waterfront
Greater Taree (GT)	no max	no max	NA	no max
Great Lakes (GL)	10m	10m	NA	8.5m
Gloucester (GS)	7.5m	NA	7.5m	NA
Recommendation	no max	10m	no max	8.5m

Removing the *height of buildings* requirement from the IN1 zone is consistent with the current approach in the Greater Taree LEP and other NSW LEPs that were examined including Upper Hunter 2013, Kempsey 2013 and Tamworth 2010.

The IN2 zone is located directly adjacent to residential areas it is recommended that the maximum *height of buildings* be 10m to limit visual impact of industrial development in urban areas. Similarly, an 8.5m *height of building* control is to be applied in the IN4 Zone to minimise visual intrusion and protect views of, and from, our waterways.

Floor space ratio

Floor space ratio controls may be applied to regulate the bulk and scale of proposed buildings to ensure that new buildings are designed to support the desired future character of the locality.

In commercial and industrial zones, it may also be applied to encourage a diversity of development without prejudicing the supply of industrial floor space in those zones e.g. allowing a portion of an industrial premises to be dedicated to office or retail floor space.

The existing LEP requirements are provided below, along with general recommendations for the consolidated MidCoast LEP.

	IN1	IN2	IN3	IN4
LEP	General Industrial	Light Industrial	Heavy Industrial	Working Waterfront
Greater Taree (GT)	no max	no max	NA	no max
Great Lakes (GL)	1:1	1:1	NA	1:1
Gloucester (GS)	no max	NA	no max	NA
Recommendation	no max	no max	no max	no max

It is recommended that the *floor space ratio* requirements be removed from all industrial zones as other development controls and requirements, such as building heights, building setbacks, car parking, vehicle access and circulation, dictate the built form of many industrial buildings.

Removing the *floor space ratio* requirement from industrial zones is also consistent with other NSW LEPs that were examined including Port Macquarie-Hastings 2011, Hawkesbury 2012, and Lithgow 2014.

Industrial retail outlets

Clause 5.4 of the Standard Instrument LEP for Miscellaneous permissible uses, includes controls for *industrial retail outlets*, which limits the retail floor area of an industrial premises. Councils may allow up to: 67% or 400 square metres of retail floor area within the premises.

The existing requirements across the three LEPs are provided below along with a recommendation for the consolidated MidCoast LEP.

	% Gross Floor Area	Square metres
Standard Instrument	up to max 67%	up to max 400m ²
Greater Taree (GT)	max 25%	max 400m ²
Great Lakes (GL)	max 10%	max 50m²
Gloucester (GS)	max 43%	max 400m ²
Recommendation	max 43%	max 400m ²

The recommended maximum of 43% and 400square metres are consistent with maximum controls from the existing LEPs. Applying these controls is expected to provide a reasonable retail space for industrial uses, whilst ensuring industrial areas are not undermined by business and retail uses.

This approach is consistent with the Gloucester LEP 2010 and other NSW LEPs that were examined, including Port Macquarie 2011, Canada Bay 2013, Auburn 2010 and Dungog 2014.

The draft clause is provided below:

Industrial retail outlets

If development for the purposes of an industrial retail outlet is permitted under this Plan, the retail floor area must not exceed:

- A 43% of the gross floor area of the industry or rural industry located on the same land as the retail outlet, or
- B 400 square metres,

whichever is the lesser.

Artisan food and drink premises

Clause 5.4 of the Standard Instrument LEP for Miscellaneous permissible uses also includes controls for *artisan food and drink premises*, which also limits the retail floor area of an industrial premises. Councils may allow up to: 67% or 400 square metres of retail floor area within the premises. Note that this does not include any café or restaurant area in the same premises.

The existing requirements across the three LEPs are provided below along with a recommendation for the consolidated MidCoast LEP.

	% GFA	Floor area
Standard Instrument	max 67%	max 400m ²
Greater Taree (GT)	max 25%	max 400m ²
Great Lakes (GL)	max 10%	max 50m ²
Gloucester (GS)	max 43%	max 400m ²
Recommendation	max 43%	max 400m ²

The recommended maximum of 43% and 400square metres are consistent with maximum controls from the existing LEPs. Applying these controls is expected to provide a reasonable retail space, whilst ensuring industrial areas are not undermined by business and retail uses.

Artisan food and drink industry premises are seen as an emerging market in the MidCoast area. Importantly, the maximum floor area permitted under this Clause does not include any floor area dedicated for restaurant and cafe purposes.

The draft clause is provided below:

Artisan food and drink

If development for the purposes of an artisan food and drink industry is permitted under this Plan in an industrial or rural zone, the floor area used for retail sales (not including any café or restaurant area) must not exceed:

- A 43% of the gross floor area of the industry or rural industry located on the same land as the retail outlet, or
- B 400 square metres,

whichever is the lesser.

Northern Gateway Freight Hub, Cundletown

The following existing local provision in the Greater Taree LEP 2010 is to be retained to ensure that the strategic importance of the Northern Gateway Freight Hub is not compromised by non-freight or non-transport/logistical uses.

The existing clause is provided below:

Clause 7.10 Use of land at 10, 34 and 44 Emerton Close, Cundletown

- 1 The objective of this clause is to provide for the development of a freight hub, being development that primarily transports goods, including any supporting development that solely supports the freight hub, such as a kiosk.
- 2 This clause applies to land at 10, 34 and 44 Emerton Close, Cundletown, being Lot 17, DP 856622 and Lots 44 and 46, DP 1191326 (the *freight hub*).
- 3 Before granting development consent for development on land to which this clause applies, the consent authority must consider the following matters:
 - a) whether the proposed development is likely to adversely affect the establishment and ongoing operation of a freight hub,
 - b) whether the development is likely to have any adverse impacts on the surrounding rural interface and residential community,
 - c) whether the development has been designed to minimise any adverse visual impact when viewed from the Pacific Highway and Princes Street.

Caretaker's residences

It is considered important and appropriate to allow for the erection of a *dwelling* as a caretaker's residence in industrial areas, to provide security for industrial goods and storage facilities.

The following local provision is recommended, to ensure that caretaker's residences ancillary to existing and proposed industrial activities, are permitted in appropriate industrial zones. The draft clause is based on a similar clause in Coffs Harbour LEP 2013.

Caretaker's residences are not defined as a land use in the Standard Instrument LEP but are permitted through the characterisation of development (NSW Planning Circular 13-001). The proposed clause clarifies the primacy of the industrial activity as a gross floor area measure and removes confusion.

The draft clause is provided below:

Erection of a dwelling on land in the IN1 General Industrial and IN2 Light Industrial zones

- 1 The objective of this clause is to permit the erection of a dwelling on land in Zone IN1 General Industrial or Zone IN2 Light Industrial in certain circumstances.
- 2 Despite any other provision of this Plan, development consent may be granted to the erection of a dwelling on a lot in Zone IN1 General Industrial or Zone IN2 Light Industrial, on which there is currently no dwelling, if the consent authority is satisfied that:
 - a) the lot is being used for a purpose permitted in Zone IN1 General Industrial or Zone IN2 Light Industrial, and
 - b) the gross floor area of the dwelling will be no more 40% of the gross floor area of the industry or rural industry located on the same land as the dwelling, or 120 square metres, whichever is the lesser
 - c) the dwelling will not require its own separate access.

Business and office premises

The following local provision is recommended to permit business and office premises and light industries in the arts, technology, production and design sectors in the IN2 Light Industrial zone. This draft clause draws on an example from the Leichardt LEP 2013.

The clause is provided below:

Business and office premises in the IN2 Light Industrial zone

- A The objective of this clause is to promote certain types of business and office premises in Zone IN2 Light Industrial.
- B This clause applies to land in Zone IN2 Light Industrial.
- C Development consent must not be granted to development for the purpose of business premises or office premises on land to which this clause applies, unless the consent authority is satisfied that the development will be used for a creative purpose such as media, advertising, fine arts and craft, design, film and television, music, publishing, performing arts, cultural heritage institutions or other related purposes.

Strategic network of industrial precincts

A range of industrial areas have been established across the MidCoast. However, with significant changes to this employment sector, there is increasing diversity in specialist activities and investment is reliant upon proximity and availability of significant infrastructure and services (road, rail, gas, electricity).

This review provides an opportunity to ensure that land use zoning is applied consistently at a strategic level and enables future industrial development to be appropriately located.

The table below provides a summary of the existing industrial zones and land areas, across the MidCoast. Towns in the RU5 village zone with identifiable industrial areas are provided for context.

	Industrial Zones Used	IN1 Land Area (ha)	IN2 Land Area (ha)	IN3 Land Area (ha)	IN4 Land Area (ha)	Total Land Area (ha)
Taree	IN1, IN2, N4	126.39	95.94	-	-	222.33
Gloucester	IN1	72.44	-	-	-	72.44
Forster – Tuncurry	IN1, IN2, IN4	18.67	26.75	-	7.5	52.92
Wingham	IN2	-	16.07	-	-	16.07
Tea Gardens – Hawks Nest	IN2	-	14.68	-	0.71	15.39
Old Bar – Wallabi Point	IN2	-	13.35	-	-	13.35
Harrington – Crowdy Head	IN2	-	7.35	-	2.06	9.41
Brimbin	IN1	116.47	-	-	-	116.47
Stratford	IN3	-	-	195.99	-	195.99
		333.97ha	205.67ha	195.99ha	10.27ha	745.9ha

Existing Industrial Zones and Land Areas

Towns in the RU5 village zone, with identifiable industrial areas

	Bulahdelah	Nabiac	Stroud	
Industrial land approx (ha)	16.5	3.0	2.0	

Summary of directions

This data is presented spatially on the adjoining map. Key observations are listed below:

- Light and general industrial areas are predominately located within urban settlements.
- Taree represents the major industrial centre in the MidCoast region. However, there is a considerable quantity of vacant industrial land within the urban area of Taree.
- Although servicing a much greater population, Forster/Tuncurry has less industrial land than Gloucester.
- There is a historical pattern of general and heavy industry zones establishing west of the Pacific Highway.
- The largest industrial areas in the MidCoast Brimbin and Stratford are undeveloped.

Current industrial centre locations



Case Study of Industrial Zones – NSW LEP's

A summary of industrial zone characteristics is provided below. This is based on a review of other regional New South Wales LEPs with similar demographic and spatial characteristics to the MidCoast.

Zone	Usage Range	Predominant Characteristics
IN1 General Industrial	All regional NSW LEP's	 'Default' industrial zone Away from coastal tourist areas – rarely within 5 kilometres of coastline Primarily on arterial roads or highways Often adjacent to rail corridors Always separated from residential areas by a buffer which may be a road/rail corridor or an environmental/open space corridor
IN2 Light Industrial	Rarely used across NSW regional LEP's	 Precinct directly adjacent to residential zones Preferred industrial zone for coastal locations consisting primarily of service industries (mechanical repair workshops etc.) Often located on major road corridors Sometimes historic industrial area closer to town
IN3 Heavy Industrial	Limited use Spread at strategic locations Rare to find two adjacent LEP areas with IN3 zone	 Primarily purpose built and/or master planned Always on major regional roads and/or highway Rare for a NSW LEP to have more than one IN3 precinct
IN4 Working Waterfront	In most NSW regional LEPs with waterfront locations	 Often water access achieved via W3 Working Waterways zone (MacLean, Palm Island, Port Macquarie) Direct water access but not always Often adjacent to business zones but isolated from other industrial zones

Summary of directions

The following directions convey the broad approach recommended for industrial zones, based on the case study analysis and a review of each industrial precinct in the MidCoast:

- Where adjoining residential areas, industrial land should be IN2 Light Industrial and only allow uses with minimal amenity impacts.
- Where adequate separation distances from residential areas exist, (such as environmental, open space, rail or road buffers) industrial land should be IN1 General Industrial and allow uses with some amenity impacts.
- Stratford Industrial Precinct will remain the only land in the IN3 Heavy Industrial zone.
- A range of land uses that require or benefit from direct water access will be permitted in the IN4 Working Waterfront zone, to encourage diversification and activation of waterfront areas.

Approach to specific challenges in the MidCoast

Specific challenges to industrial development and zones have been identified during the employment zone review for industrial zones and to address these in a strategic manner, three key principles have been established:

- Industrial lands require some flexibility in order to provide a range of critical services and products that support our towns, villages and the broader community;
- Adequate operational certainty for existing industries is required i.e. where possible, land should be rezoned to accommodate established patterns of existing land uses, rather than applying a zone that creates a reliance on existing use rights; and
- Industrial zones and development controls are to be applied to protect the amenity of surrounding land uses.

The following section of this report will address these challenges.

Intrusion of business uses in IN2 Light Industrial zone

An analysis of the IN2 Light Industrial Zone precincts in Taree (Muldoon/Whitbread Streets) and Forster (Enterprise Court/Breese Parade) have revealed significant intrusion of commercial activities into industrial zones. This is inconsistent with the Ministerial Directions and the Hunter Regional Plan that aim to ensure industrial land is protected from non-industrial development.

Of particular note, *specialised retail premises* (formerly *bulky goods retail*) are permitted with consent in both the GT LEP 2010 and GL LEP 2014, resulting in significant commercial encroachment into these industrial areas.

The EZR recommends that this intrusion be addressed as follows:

- Prohibit *specialised retail premises (formerly bulky goods retail)* in the IN1 General Industrial and IN2 Light Industrial zones.
- Rezone industrial areas with significant intrusion of specialised retail premises (bulky goods) to the B5 Business Development zone.
- Permit *light industries* with consent in the B5 Business Development zone, to allow greater flexibility within this zone.

Commercial development in the IN2 General Industrial zone, Enterprise Court, Forster



General industry in the Light Industrial zone

Land use audits carried out in MidCoast IN2 Light Industrial zones indicate that *General industries* are also occurring in these locations, primarily supporting the local construction industry e.g. concrete batching plants and truss manufacturing.

Prohibiting *general industries* in the IN2 Light Industrial Zone becomes increasingly problematic in coastal areas such as Forster/Tuncurry, where the supply of land in the IN1 General Industrial Zone is limited and/or undeveloped.

The EZR recommends addressing this situation by:

- Prohibiting general industry in the IN2 Light Industrial zone.
- Rezoning clusters of *general industry* where adequate separation from residential land can be achieved.

Truss manufacture in IN2 General Industrial zone Condell Place, Forster



Heavy industry in the IN1 General Industrial zone

Heavy industries and *heavy industrial storage establishments*, except for the subgroup of *liquid fuel depots* are to be prohibited in the IN1 General Industrial Zone. This is consistent with the increasing state-wide approach to restrict *Heavy industries* and *Heavy industrial storage establishments* to purpose planned IN3 Heavy Industrial estates such as the Stratford Precinct (Port Macquarie-Hastings LEP 2011).

The following comments are pertinent to this change:

- Liquid fuel depots will remain permissible in other industrial areas as they have historically serviced industry clusters. However, the changing nature of fuel supply and distribution is expected to limit the need for small-scale *liquid fuel depots* in the future.
- The MidCoast region, whilst containing many manufacturing *general industries* e.g. Steber International, Orora and Drifta Kitchens, does not contain any *heavy industries* at this time.
- There are no existing *heavy industrial storage establishments* e.g. bulk chemical storage facilities, in the MidCoast at this time.

Note: A greenfield *heavy industry* development with a capital investment of more than \$30 million will be deemed as State Significant Development (SSD) under the provisions of *State Environmental Planning Policy (State and Regional Development) 2011* (SRD SEPP). Therefore, any proposal to establish a *heavy industry* on land outside of the IN3 Heavy Industry zone at Stratford, will require a Planning proposal to rezone the land.

Industrial zones review

Part B of this report analyses every industrial zone area across the MidCoast. Each parcel is reviewed to ensure it is zoned consistently and in line with the recommendations of this report.

6 Consultation

Consultation on this Review was undertaken to ensure that the approach was consistent with the community's expectations around the planning controls for employment zones.

The 'Zoning In' consultation was undertaken from 5 February until 9 April 2020. It involved community conversations on future planning controls that would apply to the urban areas of the MidCoast, being our towns and villages. Feedback was sought on the Housing Strategy, Employment Zones Review, Recreation Zones Review, Infrastructure Zones Review and the Manning Health/Taree CBD Precinct Plan.

The community was consulted through eighteen information sessions in twelve locations attended by around 1,000 people; with over 9,200 visits to the 'Know your Zone' project page on Council's website. Changes were made to the Review in response to this consultation, as outlined in the Zoning In – Urban: Response to Feedback Report.

Consultation on the draft Rural Strategy will be undertaken as a separate process, to build up a picture of what our rural areas will look like in the future.

Upon completion of these consultation processes, the strategies and reviews will be updated and finalised to provide the framework for the next phase of 'Zoning in', being the preparation of the MidCoast Local Environmental Plan and MidCoast Development Control Plan.

7 Conclusion and Next Steps

Conclusion

The following tables summarise the main recommendations of the EZR.

	Business Zone Recommendations		
1	Recognise a strategic network of centres and zone accordingly:		
	 Taree as the primary centre for the MidCoast (zone B3 Commercial Core) Forster-Tuncurry, Gloucester and Tea Gardens-Hawks Nest as important regional strategic centres (zone B2 Local Centre) Wingham, Old Bar, Hallidays Point, Harrington and Pacific Palms as local town centres (zone B2 Local Centre) Neighbourhoods such as Cundletown, Tinonee and Forster Keys as smaller convenience centres (zone B1 Neighbourhood Centre) 		
2	Update objectives and land use permissibility for each zone		
3	Remove all <i>minimum lot size</i> (for subdivision) requirements except for the B5 Business Development zone which should be 1,500m ²		
4	Specify new height of building requirements on a site-by-site basis		
5	Remove all <i>floor space ratio</i> requirements		
6	Apply active street frontages local provision to all B1, B2 and B3 zones		
7	Define a new provision relating to unstructured large B1 and B2 zones to ensure they can develop into vibrant commercial, cultural and social hubs		
8	One significant zone boundary amendment - changing 4.9ha of the Gloucester town centre B2 zone to residential (as per recommendations in previous strategies)		
9	Various minor zoning changes in the majority of business zone precincts – see Part B		

Industrial Zone Recommendations Establish clear principles for industrial zones and apply accordingly: 1 IN1 General Industrial zone will be used where adequate separation exists to mitigate • adverse impacts on surrounding sensitive land uses IN2 Light Industrial zone will be used where inadequate separation exists to mitigate • adverse impacts on surrounding sensitive land uses The Stratford Heavy Industrial precinct shall remain the only IN3 Heavy Industrial zone in • the MidCoast 2 Update objectives and land use permissibility for each zone 3 Remove all minimum lot size (for subdivision) requirements 4 Specify new height of building requirements as follows: IN1 General Industrial: no maximum • IN2 Light Industrial: 10m maximum • IN3 Heavy Industrial: no maximum • IN4 Working Waterfront: 8.5m maximum • 5 Remove all floor space ratio requirements

within industrial zones, these areas will be rezoned E		Significant zone amendments - where large floor plan commercial intrusion has occurred within industrial zones, these areas will be rezoned B5 Business Development
		Various minor zoning changes in some industrial zone precincts – see Part B

Next steps

The following points outline the next steps for the Employment Zones Review (EZR) in the context of the consolidation of a new MidCoast LEP.

It is important to note that once the final EZR report is endorsed (by June 2020), the recommended changes will not come into effect until the consolidated MidCoast LEP is published on the NSW Legislation website (by December 2022).

Indicative timeframe for the EZR and MidCoast LEP

	Step	Timing
1	Undertake public exhibition of draft EZR as part of wider community engagement on all urban zones	November – February 2020
2	Update the EZR report based on community and stakeholder feedback	February – March 2020
3	Table final EZR report to Council for consideration and adoption	March – June 2020
4	Complete rural zones consultation and strategy	February – September 2020
5	Draft and consult on Planning Proposal for consolidated MidCoast Local Environmental Plan	July 2020 – December 2021
6	Finalise and adopt on Planning Proposal for consolidated MidCoast Local Environmental Plan	January – December 2022

Appendices

Relating to Introduction

- Appendix A State and regional policies
- Appendix B Local policies
- Appendix C Local economic/planning strategies
- Appendix D Current projects and strategies

Relating to Business Zones

- Appendix E Purpose of business zones
- Appendix F Analysis of business land use tables
- Appendix G Business zone land use tables
- Appendix H Business centres analysis

Relating to Industrial Zones

- Appendix I Purpose of industrial zones
- Appendix J Analysis of industrial land use tables
- Appendix K Industrial zone land use tables

Appendix A – State and regional policies

This appendix summarises completed state and regional strategic studies regarding employment lands where they currently include the MidCoast region or the former Great Lakes, Greater Taree or Gloucester LGAs.

Hunter Regional Plan 2036 (2016)

Ministerial Direction 5.10 requires future changes to planning controls to be consistent with the Hunter Regional Plan. The vision, land use strategy, goals, directions and actions described in the Hunter Regional Plan are considered generally reflective of current Government policy directions at National and State levels. On that basis, the Hunter Regional Plan was used as a platform for identifying top-down considerations for local strategic planning.

The Hunter Regional Plan acknowledges the growing importance of Greater Newcastle and sets a number of regionally focussed goals. Relevant to employment zones in the MidCoast is the following goal:

"The leading regional economy in Australia."

To achieve this goal, the Hunter Regional Plan provides the following 5 directions which are particularly relevant to high-level planning for employment zones within the MidCoast:

- Direction 4: Enhance inter-regional linkages to support economic growth
- Direction 6: Grow the economy of MidCoast and Port Stephens
- Direction 7: Develop advanced manufacturing, defence and aerospace hubs
- Direction 8: Promote innovative small business and growth in the service sectors
- Direction 24: Protect the economic functions of employment land

Relevant actions arising from these directions as they relate to employment zones are provided below with pertinent comments relating to the Employment Zone Review:

Action 4.6 Investigate opportunities for logistics and freight growth and other complementary land uses around airports, leveraging investments at Taree and Newcastle airports.

Comment

It is important the MidCoast area continues to encourage industrial and business development in vicinity of the airport.

Action 6.4 Promote growth of industries that can leverage accessibility provided by the Pacific Highway.

Comment

The MidCoast Region is recognised as a region where opportunities exist for freight distribution; attracting new and growing existing industries with good access to the Pacific Highway will support this growth.

Action 7.2 Growing and diversifying the manufacturing sector through local planning and appropriate controls.

Comment

The Hunter Regional Plan recognises manufacturing as the third-largest employer in the region and stresses that manufacturing will remain important to the region. Keeping pace with emerging trends, innovation and new practices is essential for the MidCoast employment zones. Adaptive re-use of business and industrial spaces is a critical factor.

Action 7.3 Promote manufacturing business export opportunities and become part of global supply chains.

Comment

Existing manufacturing should be encouraged where possible to allow growth and flexibility and allow value adding for industries to expand. Land use controls are critical for businesses to contribute to economic development and growth.

Action 8.1 Implement initiatives to promote small business growth and innovation, particularly in Newcastle City Centre and other strategic centres.

Comment

The Hunter Regional Plan recognises the contribution of small businesses to the regional economy and the increased likelihood for innovation and introduction of newer or improved goods. The Action suggests that it is critical to encourage diversity of development opportunities to support growth in sectors such as manufacturing, professional services and creative industries.

Action 8.2 Facilitate opportunities for incubator spaces for technology and nontechnology early stage businesses, and ensure opportunities for new and emerging enterprises are encouraged.

Comment

The Hunter Regional Plan encourages opportunities for new and emerging industries through land use. The emergence of shared business incubator spaces in the MidCoast is one example of this trend.

Action 8.6 Determine potential to grow allied health services on land around hospitals and health services at Kurri Kurri, Belmont, Cessnock, Gloucester, Muswellbrook, Singleton, Nelson Bay and Dungog.

Comment

The Hunter Regional Plan aims to ensure that adequate health services are available to support local communities whilst recognising the job creation form the fast growing sector. Whilst the Manning Health Taree CBD Precinct Plan is central to this function, opportunity exists for employment lands to recognise additional precincts and emerging health facility trends.

- Action 24.2 Protect the economic functions of employment land by not permitting nonindustrial uses unless:
 - Opportunities for urban renewal arise through the relocation of industry and in locations well-serviced by public transport
 - Contaminated land can be remediated

Comment

The plan recognises that urban activities and retail uses often encroach upon industrial land which in turn influences where manufacturing, construction,

transport industries and supply chains can locate. It is critical for the MidCoast region to find the appropriate balance of retail uses in industrial areas, particularly considering emerging trends and the decline in manufacturing.

Action 24.3 Provide for mixed use opportunities and themed employment precinct in local plans.

Comment

The Plan recognises the need to local planning to consider a range of uses that do not unnecessarily restrict future businesses; and seek to encourage clustering of similar developments. Land use opportunities are to remain open to encourage new business and investment whilst also considering opportunities where business can be appropriately co-located.

The Hunter Regional Plan recognises a network of centres in the MidCoast as per the figure below.

Hunter Regional Plan Centre Classification for the MidCoast



The Hunter Regional Plan contains a number of regional priorities for strategic centres in the MidCoast sub-region. The priorities for these strategic centres, as they relate to employment lands, include:

Taree

Maintain the retail and commercial role of the CBD, centred on Victoria Street.

- Develop opportunities to cluster appropriate economic activities around the Taree Airport and Pacific Highway interchanges (Northern Gateway and Manning River Drive) that support the ongoing commercial and retail role of the Taree CBD.
- Support the continuing role of manufacturing.
- Encourage greater utilisation of the Manning River for tourism, recreation and commercial purposes.

Forster-Tuncurry

• Consolidate commercial activities in existing precincts.

Mid North Coast Regional Strategy 2006-2031 (2009)

The Mid North Coast Regional Strategy applied to eight local government areas of Greater Taree, Great Lakes, Clarence Valley, Coffs Harbour, Bellingen, Nambucca, Kempsey and Port Macquarie-Hastings.

This strategy has been superseded by the Hunter Regional Plan.

Central to this plan was the designation of Taree as a major regional centre in a regional structure and settlement hierarchy. This hierarchy is described below.

Major Regional Centre

- Includes: Taree
- Serves the Greater Taree/Great Lakes subregion with major services and some regional functions, notably health care. It has land and infrastructure capacity to accommodate significant industrial and residential growth. Development of taller buildings will be encouraged around the Taree town centre.

Major Town

- Includes: Forster-Tuncurry
- Major towns have a functional role in serving their subregions with outreaches of regional services. They are self-contained with shopping and business services and may have bulky goods, warehousing, transport logistics, farm support services, health and professional services mixed with some medium density residential.

Town

- Includes: Wingham, Tea Gardens-Hawks Nest, Old Bar, Bulahdelah
- Like major towns, towns are larger settlements, however their service catchments are limited to major towns. They have small to medium scale concentration of retail, health and other services with lower density residential. They are reliant on major regional centres and major towns for higher order services, retailing and employment.

Village Inland / Village Coastal

• Includes: Stroud, Nabiac, Brimbin, Lansdowne, Coopernook, Harrington, Hallidays Point/Diamond Head, Coomba Park, Green Point, Blueys Beach/Pacific Palms, Smiths Lake, Pindimar and Karuah • Villages are smaller settlement which have limited local services. Coastal villages are located in the coastal area.

The Plan suggest that any future major commercial development should occur in the confines of the hierarchy described above whilst also providing a number of actions that are aimed at stimulating economic development and employment growth. Among these actions include:

- Local environmental plans (and other planning provisions) will facilitate employment growth in the major regional centres and major towns, as well as facilitate appropriate local jobs in towns and villages and recognise appropriate home-based employment opportunities.
- The opportunities and development potentials of commercial centres will be explored by councils and identified in local growth management strategies, local environmental plans and development control plans.

Councils will identify opportunities for bulky goods style retailing in accessible locations in or near commercial centres and restrict this form of retailing in industrial zones as set out in the NSW Government policy: *The right place for business and services*.

- Planning for commercial uses is to be integrated with transport, public domain and infrastructure opportunities.
- Local environmental plans will ensure that sufficient lands which are zoned industrial and business and currently vacant are protected to accommodate the new jobs required for each local government area until 2031.

Draft North Coast Regional Plan (2016)

The Draft North Coast Regional Plan 2016 was released in March prior to the Council's amalgamation 12 May 2016. Importantly the former Greater Taree City Council was part of the Draft Plan not having been included in development of the Hunter Regional Plan prior to the Draft Strategy release for comment. The former Gloucester Shire Council and Great Lakes Council were included in the Hunter Region.

At the time of drafting, the Greater Taree City area provided comments to the NSW Planning Northern Region which were included in the Draft North Coast Regional Plan. Specific comments primarily relating to former Grater Taree City employment zones included several major projects and employment opportunities which can be briefly described as follows:

- Leveraging development opportunities of the Pacific Highway with freight and logistics.
- Leveraging development of the Taree Airport with a possible aviation and aerospace precinct.
- Development of the Taree CBD for allied health and specialised medical precinct.

A 20-Year Economic Vision for Regional NSW (2018)

The 20-Year Economic Vision for Regional NSW (2018) is a strategic plan to accelerate economic growth in key sectors and attract more investments in regional communities. The Plan is a high-level document providing directions and opportunities and is accompanied by

a number of recommendations at a broad regional level. There are no specific recommendations that apply to employment lands in the MidCoast Council area.

Upper Hunter Region Diversification Report (2011)

The New South Wales Government and the six Councils in the Upper Hunter Region commissioned the Upper Hunter Region Diversification Report in 2010. At the time of drafting, this included the former Great Lakes and Gloucester but excluded Greater Taree. The focus of the project was on examining the future of the region and the emerging business and employment opportunities over the next 20 -25 years.

The Report, a high-level document that considered opportunities for economic growth did not include any specific recommendation to existing employment zones other than the proposed development of the Stratford Industrial Park for energy related industries.

Upper Hunter Strategic Regional Plan (2012)

The former Gloucester LGA was included in the Upper Hunter Strategic Regional Plan 2012. Relevant considerations and actions relating to Gloucester employment lands arising from the Plan included:

- Recognition of the Stratford Heavy Industrial precinct as an opportunity and potential economic driver.
- Ensure an adequate supply of employment lands.
- Implement the recommendations of the Upper Hunter Economic Diversification Report.
Appendix B – Local policies

This appendix summarises completed MidCoast Council strategic policies, as they relate to employment land use zones.

MidCoast Regional Economic Development Strategy (2018)

The MidCoast Regional Economic Development Strategy 2018-2022, prepared by the NSW Department of Premier & Cabinet.

The Strategy is a high-level order document linked with Council's Community Strategic Plan and Destination Management Plan; and provides a strategic platform for community, business and Council to work with the State Government in driving economic growth. The document establishes the following vision:

The MidCoast Region will have sustainable economic growth, founded on the Region's natural assets, amenity and location, while offering a healthy lifestyle and community connection.

The main opportunities identified by the strategy are aimed at leveraging:

- Land and water: Agricultural, aquaculture, forestry and mining. 1
- 2 Infrastructure and location: Freight and logistics, niche manufacturing.
- 3 Lifestyle and amenity: Tourism, retirees and sea/tree changers.

The primary strategies are:

- A Strengthening the Region as a location of choice (including the provision of adequate and well serviced employment lands)
- B Creating a supportive environment for businesses to invest and grow (including reducing uncertainty over land-use, removing barriers that hinder business growth, and resolving potential land-use conflicts through completion of a land-use strategy)
- C Marketing the MidCoast Region

Strategies and actions from the RED's that directly relate to employment lands include:

- A Strengthening the Region as a location of choice
- Renewal of maritime facilities, particularly in Forster Tuncurry. This action particularly relates to encouraging renewal of IN4 Working Waterfront Zones and associated infrastructure and facilities.
- Develop the Northern Gateway Project, on the Pacific Highway entrance to Taree.
- Develop employment lands for commercial and light industrial activities.

Community Strategic Plan

The EZR aligns with the following aims of the Community Strategic Plan 2018-2030:

Value	Where do we want to be?	How will we get there?
We value our thriving and growing economy	Our region is a popular place to visit, live, work and invest	Develop and promote our region as an attractive visitor destination offering products and experiences that meet the needs of our visitors and residents. Provide an environment to grow and strengthen local businesses, and attract
	Our villages and business precincts are vibrant commercial, cultural and social hubs.	new business. Ensure strategies and processes recognise, maintain and support sustainable economic growth.
We value our environment	We balance the needs of our natural and built environments	Optimise land use to meet our environmental, social, economic and development needs.
We value… strong leadership and shared vision	We make opportunities available for the community to inform decisions that shape our future	Empower community members to participate in decision-making by providing a broad range of engagement opportunities.

The draft Review will assist Council in meeting the following performance criteria within the Community Strategic Plan:

- The community is satisfied with land use planning decisions. •
- The community is satisfied with the level of engagement by Council •

Delivery Program and Operational Plan

The EZR aligns with the following objectives, strategies and actions in the 2018-2021 Delivery Program and 2019-2020 Operational Plan:

Objective	Strategy	3 year focus	1 year actions
11: Our villages and business precincts are vibrant commercial, cultural and social hubs.	11.3: Ensure strategies and processes recognise, maintain and support sustainable economic growth	11.3.1: Develop a suite of industrial and business land use zones and other planning controls to facilitate economic growth.	Complete an Employment Zone Review to provide a consistent framework for the application of business and industrial zones and development controls in the MidCoast Local Environmental Plan and Development Control Plan.
9: We balance the needs of our natural and built environments	9.1: Ensure growth and new development complements our existing natural assets, cultural assets and heritage sites	9.1.4: Prepare a MidCoast Local Environmental Plan and Development Control Plan that includes provisions to manage and protect our natural and heritage values	
	9.2: Optimise land use to meet out environmental, social, economic and developmental needs	9.2.3: Develop consistent land use planning controls for the MidCoast LGA that reflect the aspirations of the community, recognise the differences in our settlements and which strike a balance between protecting our environment while catering for social, development and employment needs	Review of various zones completed to inform the development MidCoast LEP and DCP's
15: We make opportunities available for the community to inform decisions that shape our future	15.3: Empower community members to participate in decision-making by providing a broad range of engagement opportunities	15.3.1: Facilitate channels for engagement with community service target groups	
		15.3.4: Develop and deliver an engagement strategy for council to ensure we are engaging with the community and providing opportunities for participating in decision making where appropriate	

Appendix C – Local economic/planning strategies

The appendix outlines key findings of completed local economic/planning strategies.

Strategy work was undertaken independently by each of the former Great Lakes, Greater Taree and Gloucester Shire Councils.

Greater Taree Council

Harrington Development Strategy 1998

A strategy concerning urban expansion and primarily residential land growth, demand and supply in Harrington. The study recommended reinforcing the Pilot Hill Precinct as the main retail and business commercial centre, by only allowing convenience shop-type uses in other locations.

Wingham Development Strategy 1999

This strategy makes no specific recommendations for business zones in Wingham but does recommend the extension of sewer infrastructure to existing industrial land in south-west (Viscount Road).

Hallidays Point Development Strategy 2000

Primarily concerned with urban residential land growth and supply in the Hallidays Point area. Also provided a specific recommendation regarding a light industrial facility on Blackhead Road. This rezoning has not been investigated further.

Old Bar/Wallabi Point Development Strategy 2003

A strategy primarily focussed on residential release areas - demand, supply and growth. Among its recommendations was an additional commercial area in Old Bar (rezoning completed) and identifying provisions for additional neighbourhood shops.

Hallidays Point Conservation and Development Strategy Review 2006

A review of the 2000 strategy to confirm levels of residential growth demand and supply. There were no specific recommendations for employment lands in the review.

Draft Manning Valley Local Strategy 2016 (not adopted)

Draft Strategy that covered the former Greater Taree LGA identifying priority projects and recommendations resulting from projected growth identifying the need for strong economic precincts. Recommendations (many completed or currently being completed) included:

- Northern Gateway (High Priority) Stage 1 completed
- Taree Medical Precinct (High Priority) Strategy part of MidCoast LEP work
- Manning River Drive Precinct (High) partially completed (Southern Gateway proposal being prepared)
- Muldoon Street Precinct (Medium) existing industrial hub (proposed rezoning from industry back to residential in western High Street)
- Taree Regional Airport Precinct (Medium) proposed business park for aviation industries

Great Lakes Council

South Forster Structure Plan 2006

The plan investigated the supply of employment lands, to support anticipated residential growth areas in South Forster. Recommendations and findings included:

- Stocklands Forster Village and Forster Keys neighbourhood shops were capable of providing larger services.
- Recommending a neighbourhood centre incorporating commercial and community facilities at the juncture of Carmona Drive and The Southern Parkway as part of proposed "Village Centre" (rezoning complete).
- Opportunity for an expanded industrial employment area as sand mining in Sweet Pea Road concludes or moves further east.
- Identification of an opportunity for an industrial/commercial 'gateway' building on the corner of Sweet Pea Road and The Lakes Way.

Great Lakes Employment Land Strategy 2006 (not endorsed)

The strategy was extensive, covering the former Great Lakes area. The strategy was not endorsed or implemented, but included a number of priority recommendations:

- Specifically indicates that due to proximity to residential areas, all industry will exclusively be for light industrial uses (except for the area in the Sweet Pea Road quarry).
- Indicates that it is highly unlikely that large scale warehousing and distribution operations would require land area greater than 1-25ha in Great Lakes LGA.
- Recommendations for employment land expansion in Village Zone areas i.e. Nabiac and Bulahdelah, primarily based on proximity to Pacific Highway; and Stroud/Booral for rural industries. Recommended review of permissible uses in Village zones to allow mixed residential-commercial.
- Stroud Road identified for further heavy Industry (possible IN3) close to heavy rail.
- Potential expansion Nabiac Town Centre with possible highway business and showroom type uses. Additional employment lands adjacent to Highway.
- Recommends to ensure bulky goods retail does not compromise existing industrial land. Preference for bulky goods and quasi-retail on primary road frontages.
- Recommendation for separate light and general industry uses that exclude core retail, office and commercial premises. High priority to prevent intrusion of commercial activities within industrial zones.
- Recommends clear definition and "hierarchy" to define role and function of commercial centres distinction between "main", "support" and "peripheral" centres.

Forster – Tuncurry Employment Land Implementation Strategy (2009)

Extending upon the findings from the 2006 study, this document provided a recommended hierarchy with proposed zonings, floor space ratio and maximum building heights, including:

- Stocklands Forster Village B3 Commercial Core Zone with B5 Business Development Zone adjacent (not implemented).
- B2 Local Centre Zone in Tuncurry/Forster with adjacent B4 Mixed Use Zone (rezoning complete).
- Remaining neighbourhood shops transition to the B1 Neighbourhood Centre Zone, including Crown land in North Tuncurry (complete with the exception of North Tuncurry – a state significant development site).
- Predominant IN1 General Industrial Zone in Sweet Pea Road.
- Tuncurry Waste Depot to IN2 Light Industrial Zone (not implemented).

• Medical precinct surrounding public hospital in South Street Forster.

Stroud and District Strategic Action Plan 2004

A Community Strategic Plan with significant local community input and participation. There were no specific recommendations for employment lands.

Forster/Tuncurry & Tea Gardens/Hawks Nest Urban Design and Density Review 2008

An Urban Design and Density Review focussing on the advanced utilisation of density in land use planning decisions. Recommendations primarily targeted toward Development Control Plan (DCP) amendments. Employment land recommendations included:

- Recommended local environmental plan amendments in accordance with Standard Instrument provisions, via concept diagrams for Forster, Tuncurry, Tea Gardens and Hawks Nest most implemented in Great Lakes LEP 2014.
- Town Vision and Objective statements for Forster and Tuncurry including: An active and revitalised working waterfront; and Business zones in town centres being refined.
- Town Vision and Objective statements for Tea Gardens and Hawks Nest including improvements to zoning for business precincts.

Nabiac Community Strategic Plan 2012

A Community Strategic Plan with extensive local community consultation and input. Opportunities were identified for freight distribution and additional industry with access to highway as advantages.

Community Strategic Plan 2012

Coolongolook, Wang Wauk & Wallingat River Catchment Communities. There were no specific recommendations for employment lands.

Gloucester Shire Council

Gloucester Local Environmental Study 2006

The study did not offer any specific recommendations for employment zones.

Stratford Industrial Park Structure Plan 2009

This is the principal document underpinning establishment of the IN3 Heavy Industrial Zone on the eastern side of the Bucketts Way South, at the Stratford Mining complex access. Development of this precinct was to cater for opportunities curated through coal seam gas and related mining developments, to capitalise on access to the heavy coal rail at this location.

Development Employment Land & Commercial/Retail Strategy: Business Study Gloucester CBD 2006

This document informed the Gloucester LEP 2010, focussing on all business and industrial zoned land in Gloucester. Recommendations included:

- Reducing the town centre business zone (not implemented to extent recommended).
- A Structure Plan specifying:
 - a retail core along Church Street, with mixed use/professional service area up to Barrington Street
 - potential car park/open space areas separating the commercial core close to Church Street from the mixed-use businesses occurring on Queen, Denison, King and Hume Streets.
 - a commercial core at the Hume and Church Street intersection.
 - amendments to the business areas as outlined above would still cater for projected retail and commercial space for 2005-2021.
 - That available industrial land exceeds projected demands, but however recommended further industrial land in Cemetery Road. Such rezoning did not include the adequate open space zone as recommended (most probably E2).

These recommendations were not carried out.

Gloucester Shire Council Development Strategy 2014-2017

A specific study that focussed on residential release areas, there are no specific recommendations for employment zones.

Gloucester Town Centre Study 2012

An urban design study which focussed on revitalising the Gloucester Town Centre, no specific recommendations for employment zones were offered in the study.

Gloucester Shire Council Economic Development Strategy 2010

No specific recommendations for employment zones despite being a broad study of the former Gloucester Shire Council economy and economic opportunities.

Appendix D – Current projects and strategies

Planning Proposals

Detailed below are any considerations from current (at the time of writing) MidCoast Council planning proposals (where a Gateway determination has been received) that are relevant to the Employment Zones Review:

 Northern Gateway Stage 2 Planning Proposal – proposes approximately 55 hectare IN1 General Industrial Zone in addition to the existing Stage 6.8 hectare IN1 General Industrial land intended for freight and logistics purposes. Leveraging access to the Pacific Highway and potential aviation and aerospace opportunities in close proximity to Taree Airport.

Major Projects

Detailed below are any considerations from current (at the time of writing) major projects that are relevant to the Employment Zones Review.

- Draft MidCoast Council Housing Strategy makes recommendations to provide a consistent approach to residential zones across the LGA. The EZR and the Housing Strategy have considerable overlap to ensure primary business centres are supported by increased residential densities.
- Draft Manning Health and Taree CBD Precinct Plan developed by MidCoast Council to provide a 20-year vision for the area. This precinct includes the only B3 Commercial Core area as well as a number of other business zones. The EZR and the Precinct Plan will be consistent with each other.
- North Tuncurry State Significant Project has been identified by the NSW Government as a site of State Significance and the NSW Department of Planning and Environment is the authority responsible for overseeing and approving the rezoning. This rezoning may include employment lands.

Appendix E – Purpose of business zones

The purpose, objectives and prescribed permissible uses for each of the business zones is provided below. Noting that the *purpose* is as described by the NSW Department of Planning Practice Note PN 11-002; and the *objectives* and *prescribed uses* are as detailed in the NSW Standard Instrument – Principal Local Environmental Plan (as of 1 July 2019).

Purpose	Objectives	Prescribed Uses
B1 Neighbourhood Centre		
The zone is for neighbourhood centres that include small-scale convenience retail premises ('neighbourhood shops'), 'business premises,' 'medical centres' and community uses that serve the day-to-day needs of residents in easy walking distance. 'Shop top housing 'is permitted in the zone, and other mixed-use development may be considered appropriate. This zone should not be used for single 'neighbourhood shops,' as these can generally be permitted within the residential zones. In areas where there is increasing	To provide a range of small-scale retail, business and community uses that serve the needs of people who live or work in the surrounding neighbourhood.	Residential Uses: Boarding houses; Shop top housing Business & Retail Uses: Business premises; Neighbourhood shops; Neighbourhood supermarkets; Oyster aquaculture; Tank-based aquaculture Community Uses: Centre-based childcare facilities; Community facilities; Respite day care centres; Medical Uses: Medical centres;
housing density and demand for local retail and business services, a B2 or B4 zone should be considered instead of a B1 zone to cater for expansion.		
B2 Local Centre		
This zone is generally intended for centres that provide a range of commercial, civic, cultural and residential uses that typically service a wider catchment than a neighbourhood centre. This zone provides for residential accommodation in the form of 'shop top housing,' and other uses such as 'educational establishments,' 'entertainment facilities,' 'function centres,' 'information and education facilities,' office premises,' and 'tourist and visitor accommodation.' Such a mix of uses will increase walking, cycling and public transport options for more people by making more activities available in one location. It is expected that this will be the most appropriate zone for most local and town centres across NSW.	To provide a range of retail, business, entertainment and community uses that serve the needs of people who live in, work in and visit the local area. To encourage employment opportunities in accessible locations. To maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling.	Residential Uses: Boarding houses; Shop top housing; Tourist and visitor accommodation Business & Retail Uses: Commercial premises; Service stations; Oyster aquaculture; Tank-based aquaculture Community Uses: Centre-based childcare facilities; Community facilities; Educational establishments; Information and education facilities; Respite day care centres; Medical Uses: Medical centres; Entertainment Uses: Entertainment facilities; Function centres; Recreation facilities (indoor); Registered clubs; Restricted premises; Transport Uses: Passenger transport facilities;

Purpose	Objectives	Prescribed Uses
B3 Commercial Core		
This zone is for major centres that provide a wide range of uses including large-scale retail, office, businesses, entertainment and community uses directly linked to major transport routes. These centres are intended to meet the needs of a wider region as well as those of the local community. The zone should be applied in major metropolitan or regional centres only where the focus is on the provision of employment and services. In some area's inclusion of higher density residential accommodation that would activate the area outside of working hours, may be appropriate depending on the scale, role and location of the commercial core. Land which is zoned Commercial Core might be surrounded by other business zones such as Mixed Use (zone B4) or Business Development (zone B5) where a variety of supporting uses provide a transition from the major centre.	To provide a wide range of retail, business, office, entertainment, community and other suitable land uses that serve the needs of the local and wider community. To encourage appropriate employment opportunities in accessible locations. To maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling.	Residential Uses: Hotel or motel accommodation; Business & Retail Uses: Commercial premises; Oyster aquaculture; Tank-based aquaculture Community Uses: Centre-based childcare facilities; Community facilities; Educational establishments; Information and education facilities; Respite day care centres; Medical Uses: Medical centres; Entertainment facilities; Function centres; Recreation facilities (indoor); Registered clubs; Restricted premises Transport Uses: Passenger transport facilities.
B4 Mixed Use This zone is generally used where a wide range of land uses are to be encouraged, including commercial, residential, tourist and visitor and community uses. The residential development component in this zone can form an important element in revitalising and sustaining the area, and increasing housing diversity close to Commercial Cores and major transport routes.	To provide a mixture of compatible land uses. To integrate suitable business, office, residential, retail and other development in accessible locations so as to maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling.	Residential Uses: Boarding houses; Hotel or motel accommodation; Seniors housing; Shop top housing Business & Retail Uses: Commercial premises; Oyster aquaculture; Tank-based aquaculture <i>Community Uses</i> : Centre-based childcare facilities; Community facilities; Educational establishments; Information and education facilities; Respite day care centres; <i>Medical Uses</i> : Medical centres; Entertainment Uses: Entertainment facilities; Function centres; Recreation facilities (indoor); Registered clubs; Restricted premises; <i>Transport Uses</i> : Passenger transport facilities;

Purpose	Objectives	Prescribed Uses
B5 Business Development		
This zone is to provide for business, warehouse and bulky goods retail uses that require a large floor area, in locations that are close to, and that support the viability of, centres. This zone provides for employment generating uses such as 'warehouses or distribution centres,' 'bulky goods premises,' 'hardware and building supplies,' 'landscaping material supplies' and 'garden centres.' The zone supports the initiatives set out in the Metropolitan Plan for Sydney 2036 (2010) and other regional strategies. The zone may be applied to areas that are located close to existing or proposed centres, and which will support (and not detract from) the viability of those centres.	To enable a mix of business and warehouse uses, and specialised retail premises that require a large floor area, in locations that are close to, and that support the viability of, centres.	Business & Retail Uses: Specialised retail premises; Garden centres; Hardware and building supplies; Landscaping material supplies; Warehouse or distribution centres; Oyster aquaculture; Tank-based aquaculture Community Uses: Centre-based childcare facilities; Respite day care centres; Transport Uses: Passenger transport facilities;
B6 Enterprise Corridor		
The zone is generally intended to be applied to land where commercial or industrial development is to be encouraged along main roads such as those identified by the metropolitan, regional and subregional strategies. The zone provides for uses such as 'business premises,' 'hotel or motel accommodation', 'light industries,' 'hardware and building supplies,' 'garden centres' and 'warehouse or distribution centres.' Retail activity needs to be limited to ensure that Enterprise Corridors do not detract from the activity centre hierarchy that has been identified or planned. Opportunities for urban consolidation along busy roads may be pursued and some residential accommodation uses may be included in this zone, if considered appropriate. In 2011, a zone Direction was included to clarify that where any type of residential is included in the Land Use Table, an additional zone objective must also be included relating to the provision of residential uses 'only as part of a mixed use development'.	To promote businesses along main roads and to encourage a mix of compatible uses. To provide a range of employment uses (including business, office, retail and light industrial uses). To maintain the economic strength of centres by limiting retailing activity.	Residential Uses: Hotel or motel accommodation; Business & Retail Uses: Business premises; Garden centres; Hardware and building supplies; Landscaping material supplies; Plant nurseries; Warehouse or distribution centres; Oyster aquaculture; Tank-based aquaculture Community Uses: Community facilities; Transport Uses: Passenger transport facilities; Industrial Uses: Light industries;

Purpose	Objectives	Prescribed Uses
B7 Business Park		
This zone is generally intended for land that primarily accommodates office and light industrial uses, including high technology industries. Business Parks perform vital economic and employment roles in a certain region. Specialised functions must be protected for the long term and competing uses must not override the core activities in these centres. The zone also permits a range of ancillary facilities and services to support the day-to-day needs of workers, such as 'childcare centres' and 'neighbourhood shops.' This zone should mainly be used for larger campus-style business parks, not isolated office buildings.	To provide a range of office and light industrial uses. To encourage employment opportunities. To enable other land uses that provide facilities or services to meet the day to day needs of workers in the area.	Business & Retail Uses: Garden centres; Hardware and building supplies; Neighbourhood shops; Office premises; Warehouse or distribution centres; Oyster aquaculture; Tank-based aquaculture <i>Community Uses</i> : Centre-based childcare facilities; Respite day care centres; <i>Transport Uses</i> : Passenger transport facilities; <i>Industrial Uses</i> : Light industries;

Appendix F – Analysis of business land use tables

The business zones across each LEP permit or prohibit land uses through their corresponding land use tables. An analysis of each zone is provided below.

B1 Neighbourhood Centre

Application: Used in Greater Taree and Great Lakes LEPs only.

Objectives: The land use tables in the Greater Taree and Great Lakes LEPs support the objective for the B1 zone (as described previously), but also allow for many more uses that would be beyond the neighbourhood scale.

Comparison to other B zones: In general, the B1 land use table permissions are very similar to the B2, B3 and B4 zones – with main differences between these zones being how recreation facilities and registered clubs are prescribed.

Comparison between LEPs: The zone is used by both LEPs in a fairly similar way. However, the B1 zone for Greater Taree is slightly more restrictive as the LEP prohibits hardware and building supplies, vehicle sales or hire premises, entertainment facilities, recreation facilities, registered clubs, and seniors housing. The Great Lakes LEP prohibits vehicle body repair workshop and warehouse/distribution centres whereas Greater Taree does not.

B2 Local Centre

Application: Used in Greater Taree, Great Lakes and Gloucester LEPs.

Objectives: The land use table permissions support the overall B2 zone objectives (outlined previously) to the extent that they allow for a range of retail, business, entertainment and community uses.

Comparison to other B zones: In general, the B2 land use table permissions are very similar to the B1, B3 and B4 zones.

Comparison between LEPs: The zone is used by all LEPs in a very similar way with no major permissibility differences.

B3 Commercial Core

Application: Used in Greater Taree LEP only.

Objectives: The land use table permissions support the overall B3 zone objectives (outlined previously) to the extent that they allow for a range of retail, business, office, entertainment, residential and community uses.

Comparison to other B zones: In general, the B3 land use table permissions are very similar to the B1, B2 and B4 zones.

Comparison between LEPs: Not applicable as only used by one LEP.

B4 Mixed Use

Application: Used in Greater Taree, Great Lakes and Gloucester LEPs.

Objectives: The land use table permissions support the overall B4 zone objectives (outlined previously) to the extent that they allow for a mixture of uses such as business, office, residential and retail.

Comparison to other B zones: The B4 zone is used in a similar way to the B1, B2, and B3 zones across the LEPs. As such, B4 zones are generally able to include all centre type uses and not necessarily just operate as a support area for a primary business/retail area.

Comparison between LEPs: The main difference between how the B4 zone is used across the LEPs include: greater permissibility in Greater Taree (including dwellings and light industry); and, far less permissibility in general in Gloucester as it is a closed zone.

B5 Business Development

Application: Used in Greater Taree and Great Lakes LEPs only.

Objectives: The land use table permissions support the overall B5 zone objectives (outlined previously) to the extent that they allow for a mix of business and warehouse uses, and bulky goods premises that require a large floor area. However, some large floor area uses are currently prohibited in the LEPs such as garden centre, plant nursery and rural supplies. Additionally, some uses are permitted which would not necessarily suit a primarily bulky goods environment (such as business premises, community facilities, educational establishments and school-based childcare) and could detract from a nearby centre.

Comparison to other B zones: The B5 zone has most land use permissibility similarity with the B6 zone which is used in Greater Taree. The key differences being that the B6 zone in Greater Taree LEP allows for office, freight transport facility, depot, light industry, shop top housing, some tourist accommodation and resource recovery facility.

Comparison between LEPs: The zone is used by both LEPs in a similar way with some minor differences relating to the range of commercial uses allowed in each LEP and also greater permissibility in Greater Taree with amusement centres, registered clubs, function centres, vehicle body repair workshops, and vehicle repair stations allowed.

B6 Enterprise Corridor

Application: Used in Greater Taree LEP only.

Objectives: The land use table permissions support the overall B6 zone objectives (outlined previously) to the extent that they allow for a range of employment uses (including business, office, retail and light industrial uses).

Comparison to other B zones: The B6 zone has most land use permissibility similarity with the B5 zone as noted above.

Comparison between LEPs: Not applicable as only used by one LEP.

B7 Business Park

Application: Not used in the MidCoast at this time and is not proposed.

Appendix G – Business zone land use tables

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
Standard Instrument	objectives that cannot b	be changed		
To provide a range of small-scale retail, business and community uses that serve the needs of people who live or work in the surrounding neighbourhood. Additional objectives	NA	To provide a range of small-scale retail, business and community uses that serve the needs of people who live or work in the surrounding neighbourhood.	To provide a range of small-scale retail, business and community uses which serve the needs of people who live and work in the surrounding neighbourhood.	To provide a range of small-scale retail, business and community uses which serve the needs of people who live and work in the surrounding neighbourhood.
Additional objectives		Tanakharana	To allow residential	The second second second
	NA	To enable a range of residential accommodation and tourist and visitor accommodation to be located above commercial uses to promote housing diversity and community activity within the business centre.	and tourist and visitor accommodation above retail, business and office uses to bring a higher level of vibrancy to the centre.	To enable a range of residential accommodation and tourist and visitor accommodation to be located above commercial uses.
		To ensure that traffic generation from development can be managed in a way that avoids conflict with the desired pedestrian environment.		To encourage walking and cycling.
			To strengthen the local community and support the role of the local centres.	To support vibrant neighbourhood centres that activate the street.

Zone B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Zone Objectives

-

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
2 Permitted without c	onsent			
	NA	Home occupations	Home occupations	Home occupations
3 Permitted with cons	ent			
				Amusement centres;
Boarding houses;	NA	Boarding houses;	Boarding houses;	Boarding houses;
				Boat sheds;
				Building identification sign;
				Business identification sign;
Business premises;		Business premises;	Business premises;	Business premises;
				Car parks;
				Cellar door premises;
Centre-based childcare facilities;		Centre-based childcare facilities;	Centre-based childcare facilities;	Centre-based childcare facilities;
				Charter & tourism boating facilities;
Community facilities;		Community facilities;	Community facilities;	Community facilities;
				Early education and care facility;
				Educational establishments;
				Flood mitigation works;
				Food & drink premises;
				Function centres;
				Health services facilities;
				Helipad;
				Home business;
			Home industries;	Home industry;
				Information and education facilities;
				Jetties;
				Kiosks;
				Marinas;
				Markets;
Medical centres;		Medical centres;	Medical centres;	Medical centres;
				Mooring pens;
Neighbourhood shops;		Neighbourhood shops;	Neighbourhood shops;	Neighbourhood shops;

Zone B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Land Use Permissibility

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
Neighbourhood supermarket;		Neighbourhood supermarket;	Neighbourhood supermarket;	Neighbourhood supermarket;
				Office premises;
Oyster aquaculture;		Oyster aquaculture;	Oyster aquaculture;	Oyster aquaculture;
				Passenger transport facilities;
				Places of public worship;
				Port facilities;
				Public administration building;
				Recreation areas;
				Recreation facilities (indoor);
				Recreation facilities (major);
				Recreation facilities (outdoor);
				Registered clubs;
Respite day care centres;		Respite day care centres;	Respite day care centres;	Respite day care centres;
				Restricted premises;
		Roads;	Roads;	Roads;
				Roadside stalls;
				School-based childcare;
		Seniors housing;		
				Service stations;
Shop top housing;		Shop top housing;	Shop top housing;	Shop top housing;
Tank-based aquaculture;		Tank-based aquaculture;	Tank-based aquaculture;	Tank-based aquaculture;
				Tourist and visitor accommodation;
				Veterinary hospitals;
				Water recreation structures;
				Water supply systems;
				Wharf or boating facilities;
		Any other development not specified in item 2 or 4	Any other development not specified in item 2 or 4	
4 Prohibited				
	NA	Agriculture;	Agriculture;	Any other development not

Standard	Gloucester	Great Lakes	Greater Taree LEP	MidCoast
Instrument LEP	LEP 2010	LEP 2014	2010	LEP Draft
				specified in item 2 or 3
		Air transport facilities;		
		Airstrips;		
		Animal boarding or training establishments;	Animal boarding or training establishments;	
		Boat building and repair facilities;	Boat building and repair facilities;	
		Boat launching ramps;		
		Boat sheds;		
			Bulky goods premises;	
		Camping grounds;	Camping grounds;	
		Caravan parks;	Caravan parks;	
		Cemeteries;	Cemeteries;	
			Charter and tourism boating facilities;	
		Correctional centres;		
		Crematoria;		
		Depots;	Depots;	
		Eco-tourist facilities;	Eco-tourist facilities;	
		Electricity generating works;	Electricity generating works;	
			Entertainment facilities;	
		Exhibition villages;		
		Extractive industries;		
		Farm buildings;	Farm buildings;	
		Farm stay accommodation;		
		Forestry;	Forestry;	
		Freight transport facilities;	Freight transport facilities;	
			Funeral homes;	
			Hardware and building supplies;	
		Heavy industrial storage establishments;		
			Helipads;	
		Highway service centres;		
			Home occupations (sex services);	

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
		Industrial retail outlets;		
		Industrial training facilities;	Industrial training facilities;	
		Industries;	Industries;	
			Marinas;	
		Mooring pens;	Mooring pens;	
		Moorings;		
		Mortuaries;	Mortuaries;	
		Open cut mining;		
Pond-based aquaculture;		Pond-based aquaculture;	Pond-based aquaculture;	Pond-based aquaculture;
			Recreation facilities (indoor);	
		Recreation facilities (major);	Recreation facilities (major);	
			Recreation facilities (outdoor);	
			Registered clubs;	
		Residential accommodation;	Residential accommodation;	
		Resource recovery facilities;		
		Rural industries;	Rural industries;	
			Sex services premises;	
		Storage premises;		
			Timber yards;	
		Transport depots;	Transport depots;	
		Truck depots;	Truck depots;	
		Vehicle body repair workshops;		
		Vehicle repair stations;	Vehicle repair stations;	
			Vehicle sales or hire premises;	
		Warehouse or distribution centres;		
		Waste disposal facilities;	Waste disposal facilities;	
			Waste or resource management facilities;	
		Wharf or boating facilities	Wharf or boating facilities	

Zone B2 Local Centre – Zone Objectives

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft		
Standard Instrument of	Standard Instrument objectives that cannot be changed					
To provide a range of retail, business, entertainment and community uses that serve the needs of people who live in, work in and visit the local area.	To provide a range of retail, business, entertainment and community uses that serve the needs of people who live in, work in and visit the local area.	To provide a range of retail, business, entertainment and community uses that serve the needs of people who live in, work in and visit the local area.	To provide a range of retail, business, entertainment and community uses that serve the needs of people who live in, work in and visit the local area.	To provide a range of retail, business, entertainment and community uses that serve the needs of people who live in, work in and visit the local area.		
To encourage employment opportunities in accessible locations.	To encourage employment opportunities in accessible locations.	To encourage employment opportunities in accessible locations.	To encourage employment opportunities in accessible locations.	To encourage employment opportunities in accessible locations.		
To maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling	To maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling	To maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling	To maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling	To maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling		
Additional objectives						
		To enable a range of residential accommodation and tourist and visitor accommodation to be located above commercial uses to promote housing diversity and community activity within the business centre.	To allow residential and tourist and visitor accommodation above retail, business and office uses to bring a higher level of vibrancy to the centre.	To enable a range of residential accommodation and tourist and visitor accommodation to be located above commercial uses.		
		To ensure that traffic generation from development can be managed in a way that avoids conflict with the desired pedestrian environment.				
			To support the role of the Taree central business district.			
			To ensure quality of design of buildings and public spaces to achieve a locality that is safe and accessible.	To support vibrant local centres that activate the street and the public domain whilst providing a safe and accessible place for community engagement and interaction.		

Zone B2 Local Centre – Land Use Permissibility

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
2 Permitted without	consent			
	Home businesses;			
	Home industries;			
	Home occupations;	Home occupations;	Home occupations;	Home occupations;
	Roads;			
3 Permitted with co	nsent			
				Amusement centres;
				Artisan food and drink industry;
Boarding houses;				
				Boat sheds;
				Building identification sign;
				Business identification sign;
	Car parks;			Car parks;
				Charter and tourism boating facilities;
Centre-based childcare facilities;				
Commercial premises;	Commercial premises;	Commercial premises;	Commercial premises;	Commercial premises;
Community facilities;				
				Early education and care facility;
Educational establishments;				
Entertainment facilities;	Entertainment facilities;	Entertainment facilities;	Entertainment facilities;	Entertainment facilities;
	Flood mitigation works;			Flood mitigation works;
Function centres;				
				Health services facilities;
				Helipad;
				High technology industries;
	Home-based childcare;			
				Home business;
				Home industry
	Hostels;		Hostels;	Hostels;
Information and education facilities;				
				Jetties;

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
				Marinas;
Medical centres;	Medical centres;	Medical centres;	Medical centres;	Medical centres;
				Mooring pens;
Oyster aquaculture;	Oyster aquaculture;	Oyster aquaculture;	Oyster aquaculture;	Oyster aquaculture;
Passenger transport facilities;	Passenger transport facilities;	Passenger transport facilities;	Passenger transport facilities;	Passenger transport facilities;
				Places of public worship;
				Port facilities;
				Public administration building;
				Recreation areas;
Recreation facilities (indoor);	Recreation facilities (indoor);	Recreation facilities (indoor);	Recreation facilities (indoor);	Recreation facilities (indoor);
				Recreation facilities (major);
				Recreation facilities (outdoor);
Registered clubs;	Registered clubs;	Registered clubs;	Registered clubs;	Registered clubs;
Respite day care centres;	Respite day care centres;	Respite day care centres;	Respite day care centres;	Respite day care centres;
Restricted premises;	Restricted premises;	Restricted premises;	Restricted premises;	Restricted premises;
		Roads;	Roads;	Roads;
	School-based childcare;	School-based childcare;	School-based childcare;	School-based childcare;
		Seniors housing;		Seniors housing;
Service stations;	Service stations;	Service stations;	Service stations;	Service stations;
Shop top housing;	Shop top housing;	Shop top housing;	Shop top housing;	Shop top housing;
Tank-based aquaculture;	Tank-based aquaculture;	Tank-based aquaculture;	Tank-based aquaculture;	Tank-based aquaculture;
Tourist and visitor accommodation	Tourist and visitor accommodation;	Tourist and visitor accommodation;	Tourist and visitor accommodation;	Tourist and visitor accommodation;
				Veterinary hospitals;
				Water recreation structures;
				Water supply systems;
				Wharf or boating facilities;
	Wholesale supplies;			
	Any other development not specified in item 2 or 4	Any other development not specified in item 2 or 4	Any other development not specified in item 2 or 4	
4 Prohibited				
Nil				Any other development not

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
				specified in item 2 or 3
	Agriculture;	Agriculture;	Agriculture;	
		Air transport facilities;		
		Airstrips;		
	Animal boarding or training establishments;	Animal boarding or training establishments;	Animal boarding or training establishments;	
	Boat building and repair facilities;	Boat building and repair facilities;	Boat building and repair facilities;	
		Boat launching ramps;		
		Boat sheds;		
	Camping grounds;	Camping grounds;	Camping grounds;	
	Caravan parks;	Caravan parks;	Caravan parks;	
	Cemeteries;	Cemeteries;	Cemeteries;	
		Correctional centres;		
		Crematoria;		
	Depots;	Depots;	Depots;	
	Eco-tourist facilities;	Eco-tourist facilities;	Eco-tourist facilities;	
	Electricity generating works;	Electricity generating works;	Electricity generating works;	
		Exhibition villages;		
		Extractive industries;		
	Farm buildings;	Farm buildings;	Farm buildings;	
	Forestry;	Forestry;	Forestry;	
	Freight transport facilities;	Freight transport facilities;	Freight transport facilities;	
		Heavy industrial storage establishments;		
	Helipads;		Helipads;	
		Highway service centres;		
	Home occupations (sex services);		Home occupations (sex services);	
		Industrial retail outlets;		
	Industrial training facilities;	Industrial training facilities;	Industrial training facilities;	
	Industries;	Industries;	Industries;	
	Liquid fuel depots;		Liquid fuel depots;	
			Marinas;	
		Mooring pens;	Mooring pens;	
		Moorings;		
	Mortuaries;	Mortuaries;	Mortuaries;	

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
	Offensive storage establishments;			
		Open cut mining;		
Pond-based aquaculture;	Pond-based aquaculture;	Pond-based aquaculture;	Pond-based aquaculture;	Pond-based aquaculture;
	Recreation facilities (major);	Recreation facilities (major);	Recreation facilities (major);	
	Recreation facilities (outdoor);		Recreation facilities (outdoor);	
	Residential accommodation;	Residential accommodation;	Residential accommodation;	
	Resource recovery facilities;	Resource recovery facilities;		
	Rural industries;	Rural industries;	Rural industries;	
	Sex services premises;		Sex services premises;	
		Storage premises;		
	Transport depots;	Transport depots;	Transport depots;	
	Truck depots;	Truck depots;	Truck depots;	
		Vehicle body repair workshops;		
	Vehicle repair stations;	Vehicle repair stations;	Vehicle repair stations;	
		Warehouse or distribution centres;		
	Waste disposal facilities	Waste disposal facilities;	Waste disposal facilities;	
			Waste or resource management facilities;	
		Wharf or boating facilities	Wharf or boating facilities	

Zone B3 Commercial Core – Zone Objectives

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
Standard Instrument	objectives that cannot I	be changed		
To provide a wide range of retail, business, office, entertainment, community and other suitable land uses that serve the needs of the local and wider community.	NA	NA	To provide a wide range of retail, business, office, entertainment, community and other suitable land uses that serve the needs of the local and wider community.	To provide a wide range of retail, business, office, entertainment, community and other suitable land uses that serve the needs of the local and wider community.
To encourage appropriate employment opportunities in accessible locations.			To encourage appropriate employment opportunities in accessible locations.	To encourage appropriate employment opportunities in accessible locations.
To maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling.			To maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling.	To maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling.
Additional objectives				
	NA	NA	To encourage residential accommodation above retail, business and office uses to bring a higher level of vibrancy to the centre.	To enable a range of residential accommodation and tourist and visitor accommodation to be located above commercial uses.
			To reinforce the role of the Taree central business district as the major regional centre.	To maximise development potential of the Taree central business district as the major regional centre in the MidCoast.
				To support a vibrant local and regional centre that activates the street and the public domain whilst providing a safe and accessible place for community engagement and interaction.

Zone B3 Commercial Core – Land Use Permissibilit	y
--	---

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
2 Permitted without of	consent			
	NA	NA	Home occupations;	Home occupations;
3 Permitted with con	sent			
				Amusement centres;
				Artisan food and drink industry;
				Boarding houses;
				Boat sheds;
				Building identification sign;
				Business identification sign;
				Car parks;
Centre-based childcare facilities;	NA	NA	Centre-based childcare facilities;	Centre-based childcare facilities;
				Charter and tourism boating facilities;
Commercial premises;			Commercial premises;	Commercial premises;
Community facilities;			Community facilities;	Community facilities;
			Early education and care facility;	Early education and care facility;
Educational establishments;			Educational establishments;	Educational establishments;
Entertainment facilities;			Entertainment facilities;	Entertainment facilities;
				Flood mitigation works;
Function centres;			Function centres;	Function centres;
				Health services facilities;
				Helipad;
				High technology industries;
				Home business;
				Home industry;
				Hostels;
Hotel or motel accommodation;			Hotel or motel accommodation;	Hotel or motel accommodation;
Information and education facilities;			Information and education facilities;	Information and education facilities;
				Jetties;
				Marinas;
Medical centres;			Medical centres	Medical centres;
				Mooring pens;

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
Oyster aquaculture;			Oyster aquaculture;	Oyster aquaculture;
Passenger transport facilities;			Passenger transport facilities;	Passenger transport facilities;
				Places of public worship;
				Port facilities;
				Public administration building;
				Recreation areas;
Recreation facilities (indoor);			Recreation facilities (indoor);	Recreation facilities (indoor);
Registered clubs;			Registered clubs;	Registered clubs;
Respite day care centres;			Respite day care centres;	Respite day care centres;
Restricted premises			Restricted premises;	Restricted premises;
			Roads;	Roads;
				School-based childcare;
				Seniors housing;
			Shop top housing;	Shop top housing;
Tank-based aquaculture;			Tank-based aquaculture;	Tank-based aquaculture;
				Tourist and visitor accommodation;
				Veterinary hospitals;
				Water recreation structures;
				Water supply systems;
				Wharf or boating facilities;
			Any other development not specified in items 2 or 4	
4 Prohibited				'
Nil	NA	NA	Agriculture;	Any other development not specified in item 2 or 3
			Animal boarding or training establishments;	
			Bed and breakfast accommodation;	
			Camping grounds;	
			Caravan parks;	
			Cemeteries;	

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
			Depots;	
			Eco-tourist facilities;	
			Electricity generating works;	
			Farm buildings;	
			Forestry;	
			Freight transport facilities;	
			Home occupations (sex services);	
			Industrial training facilities;	
			Industries;	
			Liquid fuel depots;	
			Mortuaries;	
Pond-based aquaculture;			Pond-based aquaculture;	Pond-based aquaculture;
			Recreation facilities (outdoor);	
			Residential accommodation;	
			Rural industries;	
			Sex services premises;	
			Transport depots;	
			Truck depots;	
			Vehicle repair stations;	
			Waste disposal facilities;	
			Waste or resource management facilities;	
			Wharf or boating facilities	

Zone B4 Mixed Use – Zone Objectives

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
Standard Instrument of	objectives that cannot b	be changed		
To provide a mixture of compatible land uses.	To provide a mixture of compatible land uses.	To provide a mixture of compatible land uses.	To provide a mixture of compatible land uses.	To provide a mixture of compatible land uses.
To integrate suitable business, office, residential, retail and other development in accessible locations to maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling	To integrate suitable business, office, residential, retail and other development in accessible locations so as to maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling	To integrate suitable business, office, residential, retail and other development in accessible locations so as to maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling	To integrate suitable business, office, residential, retail and other development in accessible locations so as to maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling	To integrate suitable business, office, residential, retail and other development in accessible locations so as to maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling
Additional objectives				
		To encourage development that does not prejudice the established business and industrial centres.		To ensure development complements and does not detract from the core retail function and performance of Zone B2 Local Centre and Zone B3 Commercial Core.
		To ensure that traffic generation from development can be managed in a way that avoids conflict with the desired pedestrian environment.		
		To ensure the inclusion and integration of housing to promote housing diversity and community activity within the business centre.		
		To enable a range of tourism-related uses that support the business centre.		To provide tourist and visitor accommodation that supports the business centre.

Zone B4 Mixed Use – Land Use Permissibility

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
2 Permitted without	consent			
Nil	Home businesses;			
	Home industries;			
	Home occupations;	Home occupations;	Home occupations;	Home occupations;
	Roads;			
3 Permitted with con	sent			
				Amusement centres;
				Artisan food and drink industry;
Boarding houses;				
				Boat sheds;
				Building identification sign;
				Business identification sign;
				Car parks;
Centre-based childcare facilities;				
				Charter & tourism boating facilities;
Commercial premises;				
Community facilities;				
				Correctional centres;
				Early education and care facility;
Educational establishments;				
				Emergency services facilities;
Entertainment facilities;				
	Exhibition homes;			
	Flood mitigation works;			Flood mitigation works
Function centres;				
		Group homes;		Group homes;
				Group homes (permanent);
				Group homes (transitional);
				Health services facilities;
				Helipad;

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
				High technology industries;
	Home-based childcare;			
				Home business;
				Home occupation (sex services);
				Home industry;
				Hostels;
Hotel or motel accommodation;				
Information and education facilities;				
		Jetties;	Jetties;	Jetties;
		Marinas;	Marinas;	Marinas;
			Mooring pens;	Mooring pens;
	Landscaping material supplies;			
			Light industries;	
Medical centres;				
				Multi-dwelling housing;
Oyster aquaculture;				
Passenger transport facilities;				
				Places of public worship;
	Plant nurseries;			
				Port facilities;
				Public administration building;
				Recreation areas;
Recreation facilities (indoor);				
				Recreation facilities (major);
				Recreation facilities (outdoor);
Registered clubs;				
	Residential flat buildings;	Residential flat buildings;		Residential flat buildings;
Respite day care centres;				
Restricted premises;				
		Roads;	Roads;	Roads;
				School-based childcare;

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
Seniors housing;	Seniors housing;	Seniors housing;	Seniors housing;	Seniors housing;
	Service stations;			Service stations;
Shop top housing	Shop top housing;	Shop top housing;	Shop top housing;	Shop top housing;
Tank-based aquaculture;	Tank-based aquaculture;	Tank-based aquaculture;	Tank-based aquaculture;	Tank-based aquaculture;
				Tourist and visitor accommodation;
				Veterinary hospitals;
				Water recreation structures;
				Water supply systems;
				Wharf or boating facilities;
	Wholesale supplies			
		Any other development not specified in item 2 or 4	Any other development not specified in item 2 or 4	
4 Prohibited				
Nil	Any development not specified in item 2 or 3			Any development not specified in item 2 or 3
		Agriculture;	Agriculture;	
		Air transport facilities;		
		Airstrips;		
		Animal boarding or training establishments;	Animal boarding or training establishments;	
		Boat building and repair facilities;		
		Boat launching ramps;		
		Boat sheds;		
		Camping grounds;	Camping grounds;	
		Caravan parks;	Caravan parks;	
		Cemeteries;	Cemeteries;	
		Crematoria;		
		Depots;	Depots;	
		Eco-tourist facilities;	Eco-tourist facilities;	
		Electricity generating works;	Electricity generating works;	
		Exhibition villages;		
		Extractive industries;		

Standard	Gloucester	Great Lakes	Greater Taree LEP	MidCoast
Instrument LEP	LEP 2010	LEP 2014	2010	LEP Draft
		Farm buildings;	Farm buildings;	
		Farm stay		
		accommodation;	- ·	
		Forestry;	Forestry;	
		Freight transport facilities;	Freight transport facilities;	
		Heavy industrial storage establishments;		
			Home occupations (sex services);	
		Highway service centres;		
		Industrial retail outlets;		
		Industrial training facilities;	Industrial training facilities;	
		Industries;	Industries;	
			Liquid fuel depots;	
		Mooring pens;		
		Moorings;		
		Mortuaries;	Mortuaries;	
		Open cut mining;		
Pond-based aquaculture;	Pond-based aquaculture;	Pond-based aquaculture;	Pond-based aquaculture;	Pond-based aquaculture;
		Recreation facilities (major);		
		Residential accommodation;		
		Resource recovery facilities;		
		Rural industries;	Rural industries;	
			Rural workers' dwellings;	
			Sex services premises;	
		Storage premises;		
		Transport depots;	Transport depots;	
		Truck depots;	Truck depots;	
		Vehicle body repair workshops;		
		Vehicle repair stations;		
		Warehouse or distribution centres;	Warehouse or distribution centres;	
		Waste disposal facilities;	Waste disposal facilities;	

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
			Waste or resource management facilities;	
		Wharf or boating facilities	Wharf or boating facilities	

Zone B5 Business Development – Zone Objectives

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft		
Standard Instrument of	Standard Instrument objectives that cannot be changed					
To enable a mix of business, warehouse uses, and specialised retail premises that require a large floor area, in locations that are close to, and that support the viability of, centres.	NA	To enable a mix of business, warehouse uses, and specialised retail premises that require a large floor area, in locations that are close to, and that support the viability of, centres.	To enable a mix of business, warehouse uses, and specialised retail premises that require a large floor area, in locations that are close to, and that support the viability of, centres.	To enable a mix of business, warehouse uses, and specialised retail premises that require a large floor area, in locations that are close to, and that support the viability of, centres.		
Additional objectives						
	NA		To enable commercial and retail uses that require a large floor area for handling, display or storage and maintain the economic strength of centres by limiting the retailing of food and clothing.			

Standard	Gloucester	Great Lakes	Greater Taree LEP	MidCoast
Instrument LEP	LEP 2010	LEP 2014	2010	LEP Draft
2 Permitted without o	consent			
	NA	Home occupations		Home occupations
3 Permitted with cons	sent		1	
				Amusement centres;
				Building identification sign;
				Business identification sign;
		Business premises;		Business premises;
				Car parks;
				Cellar door premises;
Centre-based childcare facilities;		Centre-based childcare facilities;	Centre-based childcare centres;	Centre-based childcare centres;
				Community facilities;
				Early education and care facility;
				Educational establishments;
				Emergency services facilities;
				Entertainment facilities;
				Flood mitigation works;
Garden centres;		Garden centres;	Garden centres;	Garden centres;
Hardware and building supplies;		Hardware and building supplies;	Hardware and building supplies;	Hardware and building supplies;
				Health services facilities;
				Helipad;
				Industrial retail outlets;
				Industrial training facilities;
				Information and education facilities;
		Kiosks;		Kiosks;
Landscaping material supplies;		Landscaping material supplies;	Landscaping material supplies;	Landscaping material supplies;
				Light industries;
				Markets;
Oyster aquaculture;		Oyster aquaculture;	Oyster aquaculture;	Oyster aquaculture;
Passenger transport facilities;		Passenger transport facilities;	Passenger transport facilities;	Passenger transport facilities;

Zone B5 Business Development – Land Use Permissibility
Standard	Gloucester	Great Lakes	Greater Taree LEP	MidCoast
Instrument LEP	LEP 2010	LEP 2014	2010	LEP Draft
				Places of public worship;
			Plant nurseries;	Plant nurseries;
				Public administration building;
				Recreation areas;
				Recreation facilities (indoor);
				Recreation facilities (major);
				Recreation facilities (outdoor);
				Registered clubs;
Respite day care centres;		Respite day care centres;	Respite day care centres;	Respite day care centres;
				Restricted premises;
				Restaurants or cafes;
		Roads;	Roads;	Roads;
				Roadside stalls;
			Rural supplies;	Rural supplies;
				School-based childcare;
				Service stations;
Specialised retail premises;		Specialised retail premises;	Specialised retail premises;	Specialised retail premises;
		Take away food and drink premises;		Take away food and drink premises;
Tank-based aquaculture;		Tank-based aquaculture;	Tank-based aquaculture;	Tank-based aquaculture;
		Timber yards;	Timber yards;	Timber yards;
				Vehicle repair stations;
		Vehicle sales or hire premises;	Vehicle sales or hire premises;	Vehicle sales or hire premises;
				Veterinary hospitals;
Warehouse or distribution centres		Warehouse or distribution centres;	Warehouse or distribution centres;	Warehouse or distribution centres;
				Water recreation structures;
				Water supply systems;
				Wharf or boating facilities;
				Wholesale supplies;
		Any other development not	Any other development not	

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
		specified in item 2 or 4	specified in item 2 or 4	
4 Prohibited				
				Any development not specified in item 2 or 3;
-	NA	Agriculture;	Agriculture;	
		Air transport facilities;		
		Airstrips;		
		Amusement centres;		
		Animal boarding or training establishments;	Animal boarding or training establishments;	
		Boat building and repair facilities;	Boat building and repair facilities;	
		Boat launching ramps;		
		Boat sheds;		
		Camping grounds;	Camping grounds;	
		Caravan parks;	Caravan parks;	
		Cemeteries;	Cemeteries;	
			Charter and tourism boating facilities;	
		Commercial premises;		
		Correctional centres;		
		Crematoria;		
			Depots;	
		Eco-tourist facilities;	Eco-tourist facilities;	
			Electricity generating works;	
		Exhibition homes;		
		Exhibition villages;		
		Extractive industries;		
		Farm buildings;	Farm buildings;	
		Forestry;	Forestry;	
		Freight transport facilities;	Freight transport facilities;	
		Function centres;		
		Heavy industrial storage establishments;		
		Highway service centres;		
			Home-based childcare;	

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester Great Lakes LEP 2010 LEP 2014		Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft	
			Home occupations (sex services);		
		Industrial retail outlets;			
		Industrial training facilities;	Industrial training facilities;		
		Industries;	Industries;		
			Liquid fuel depots;		
			Marinas;		
		Mooring pens;	Mooring pens;		
		Moorings;			
		Mortuaries;	Mortuaries;		
			Office premises;		
		Open cut mining;			
			Places of public worship;		
Pond-based aquaculture;		Pond-based aquaculture;	Pond-based aquaculture;	Pond-based aquaculture;	
		Recreation facilities (major);	Recreation facilities (major);		
			Recreation facilities (outdoor);		
		Registered clubs;			
		Residential accommodation;	Residential accommodation;		
		Restricted premises;	Retail premises;		
		Rural industries;	Rural industries;		
			Sex services premises;		
		Tourist and visitor accommodation;	Tourist and visitor accommodation;		
			Transport depots;		
			Truck depots;		
		Vehicle body repair workshops;			
		Vehicle repair stations;			
		Waste disposal facilities	Waste disposal facilities;		
			Waste or resource management facilities;		
			Wharf or boating facilities		

Zone B6 Enterprise Corridor – Zone Objectives

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
Standard Instrument	objectives that cannot b	e changed		
To promote businesses along main roads and to encourage a mix of compatible uses.	NA	NA	To promote businesses along main roads and to encourage a mix of compatible uses.	To promote businesses along main roads and to encourage a mix of compatible uses.
To provide a range of employment uses (including business, office, retail and light industrial uses).			To provide a range of employment uses (including business, office, retail and light industrial uses).	To provide a range of employment uses (including business, office, retail and light industrial uses).
To maintain the economic strength of centres by limiting retailing activity.			To maintain the economic strength of centres by limiting retailing activity.	To maintain the economic strength of centres by limiting retailing activity.
Additional objectives				
	NA	NA	To provide for residential uses, but only as part of a mixed-use development	To enable residential accommodation above commercial uses and tourist and visitor accommodation.

Zone B6 Enterprise Corridor – Land Use Permissibility

Standard	Gloucester	Great Lakes	Greater Taree LEP	MidCoast
Instrument LEP	LEP 2010	LEP 2014	2010	LEP Draft
2 Permitted without	consent			
	NA	NA	Home occupations;	Home occupations;
3 Permitted with cor	nsent			
	NA	NA		
				Amusement centre;
			Backpackers' accommodation;	
				Boarding houses;
				Boat sheds;
				Building identification sign;
				Business identification sign;
			Bulky goods premises;	
Business premises;			Business premises;	Business premises;
				Car parks;
				Cellar door premises;
				Centre-based childcare facility;
				Charter & tourism boating facilities;
Community facilities;			Community facilities;	Community facilities;
				Early education and care facility;
				Educational establishments;
				Emergency services facilities;
				Entertainment facilities;
				Flood mitigation works;
				Food & drink premises;
				Function centres;
Garden centres;			Garden centres;	Garden centres;
				Group homes;
				Group homes (permanent);
				Group homes (transitional);
Hardware and building supplies;			Hardware and building supplies;	Hardware and building supplies;

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
Instrument LEP	LEP 2010	LEP 2014	2010	
				Health services facilities;
				Helipad;
				Home-based childcare;
				Home business;
				Home occupation (sex services);
				Hostels;
Hotel or motel accommodation;			Hotel or motel accommodation;	Hotel or motel accommodation;
				Industrial retail outlets;
				Industrial training facilities;
				Information and education facilities;
				Jetties;
				Kiosks;
Landscaping material supplies;			Landscaping material supplies;	Landscaping material supplies;
Light industries;			Light industries;	Light industries;
				Marinas;
				Markets;
				Mooring pens;
				Neighbourhood shops;
				Office premises;
Oyster aquaculture			Oyster aquaculture	Oyster aquaculture
Passenger transport facilities;			Passenger transport facilities;	Passenger transport facilities;
				Places of public worship;
Plant nurseries;			Plant nurseries;	Plant nurseries;
				Port facilities;
				Public administration building;
				Recreation areas;
				Recreation facilities (indoor);
				Recreation facilities (major);
				Recreation facilities (outdoor);
				Registered clubs;
			Roads;	Roads;

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
Instrument LEP		LEP 2014		Roadside stalls;
			Roadside stalls; Rural supplies;	Rural supplies;
				School-based
				childcare;
				Seniors housing;
	_			Service stations;
				Sex service premises;
			Shop top housing;	Shop top housing;
				Specialized retail premises;
Tank-based aquaculture			Tank-based aquaculture	Tank-based aquaculture
			Timber yards;	Timber yards;
				Tourist and visitor accommodation;
				Vehicle repair stations;
			Vehicle sales or hire premises;	Vehicle sales or hire premises;
				Veterinary hospitals;
Warehouse or distribution centres			Warehouse or distribution centres;	Warehouse or distribution centres;
				Water recreation structures;
				Water supply systems;
				Wharf or boating facilities;
				Wholesale supplies;
			Any other development not specified in item 2 or 4	
4 Prohibited				
				Any other development not specified in item 2 or 3
			Agriculture;	
			Animal boarding or training establishments;	
			Boat building and repair facilities;	
			Camping grounds;	
			Caravan parks;	
			Cemeteries;	

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
			Eco-tourist facilities;	
			Electricity generating works;	
			Farm buildings;	
			Forestry;	
			Home occupations (sex services);	
			Industrial training facilities;	
			Industries;	
			Liquid fuel depots;	
			Marinas;	
			Mooring pens;	
Pond-based aquaculture;			Pond-based aquaculture;	Pond-based aquaculture;
			Recreation facilities (outdoor);	
			Registered clubs;	
			Residential accommodation;	
			Retail premises;	
			Rural industries;	
			Sex services premises;	
			Tourist and visitor accommodation;	
			Transport depots;	
			Truck depots;	
			Waste disposal facilities;	
			Waste or resource management facilities;	
			Wharf or boating facilities	

Appendix H – Business centres analysis

An overview of each centre is provided below with consideration of: population growth; local and strategic population catchments; employment statistics; access to major transport infrastructure; and guidance from regional strategies.

Taree

Taree is the primary centre for MidCoast with B3 zoning and 139.6 hectares of business zone land (includes Cundletown and Taree South). It is identified as a Strategic Centre by the Hunter Regional Plan and as a Major Regional Town by the Mid North Coast Regional Strategy. Taree employs 40% of the full time MidCoast workforce. It has direct access to the Pacific Highway, regional rail and a small-scale domestic airport. Taree has a large local population of approximately 18,000 people (ABS, 2016) and a considerable wider catchment within a 30-minute drive (approximately 29,000 additional people).

Given these characteristics, the EZR recommends that Taree continues to be considered as the primary centre for the MidCoast which includes the only B3 zoning for the LGA.

Forster-Tuncurry

Forster-Tuncurry has 51.41 hectares of business zone land (including 22.85ha of B2). It is identified as a Strategic Centre by the Hunter Regional Plan and as a Major Town by the Mid North Coast Regional Strategy. The centre employs 25% of the full time MidCoast workforce. Forster-Tuncurry is located on a major route, The Lakes Way and is approximately 15 minutes from the highway. It has a significant local population of approximately 20,000 people and a wider catchment including 8,000 additional people within 30 minutes.

Given these characteristics, the EZR recommends that Forster – Tuncurry continues to be considered as a strategic centre for the MidCoast (which includes large portions of predominately B2 zoning).

Gloucester

Gloucester has 20.3 hectares of business zone land (including 14.05ha of B2). It is identified as a Centre of Local Significance by the Hunter Regional Plan and as a Town by the Mid North Coast Regional Strategy. It is serviced by the regional railway. Although it has a small local population (2,390 – 2016 ABS) it has a strategic role for MidCoast, servicing the western rural population catchment (approximately 2,600 additional people).

Given these characteristics, the EZR recommends that Gloucester continues to be considered as a strategic centre for the MidCoast (which includes large portions of predominately B2 zoning).

Tea Gardens – Hawks Nest

Tea Gardens – Hawks Nest has 19.73 hectares of business zone land (including 7.34ha of B2). It is identified as a Centre of Local Significance by the Hunter Regional Plan and as a Town by the Mid North Coast Regional Strategy. Tea Gardens – Hawks Nest is located approximately 10 minutes from the highway and has proximity to Sydney (2.5hrs) and Newcastle (1hr). It has a local population of approximately 3,500 people and a wider catchment including an additional 5,500 people within a 30-minute drive.

Given these characteristics, the EZR recommends that Tea Gardens – Hawks Nest continues to be considered as a strategic centre for the MidCoast (which includes large portions of predominately B2 zoning).

Wingham

Wingham has 10.96 hectares of business zone land (including 10.12ha of B2). It is identified as a Centre of Local Significance by the Hunter Regional Plan and as a Town by the Mid North Coast Regional Strategy. Wingham is serviced by the regional railway. It has a local population of approximately 4,500 people and sits within the Taree wider catchment area.

Given these characteristics, the EZR recommends that Wingham is considered as a local township for the MidCoast and have a predominate zoning of B2.

Coastal Towns

Harrington, Old Bar-Wallabi Point and Hallidays Point each have between 3.86 to 6.13 hectares of business zone land (mainly B2 or B1) with only Harrington having a small portion of secondary business zone land (B4). Each locality is recognised as a Centre of Local Significance by the Hunter Regional Plan and as a Village by the Mid North Coast Regional Strategy. The centres are between 10-20 minutes from the highway, have growing coastal populations and sit within the Taree wider catchment area.

Given these characteristics, the EZR recommends that Harrington, Old Bar-Wallabi Point and Hallidays Point continue to be considered as coastal townships for the MidCoast and have a predominate zoning of B2.

Pacific Palms – Smiths Lake

Pacific Palms – Smiths Lake (including Charlotte Bay) is considered as one locality given the close proximity of these three residential villages and that business uses in each of these areas service all three communities. Pacific Palms has a small area of B1 (0.76ha) while Smiths Lake and Charlotte Bay both have business uses but within the RU5 Village zone. It is recommended that these localities are zoned consistently.

Given their lack of proximity to a B2 or B3 scale centre, EZR recommends that Pacific Palms – Smiths Lake be considered as coastal townships for the MidCoast and have a predominate zoning of B2.

Tinonee

Tinonee has 0.59 hectares of B1 business zone land. It is not identified by the Hunter Regional Plan. However, it is recognised as a Village (Inland) by the Mid North Coast Regional Strategy. Tinonee has a local population of approximately 750 people and sits within the Taree wider catchment area.

Given these characteristics, the EZR recommends that Tinonee is considered as a village for the MidCoast and have a predominate zoning of B1.

Brimbin

Brimbin has a large B4 mixed use zone at present. Future master planning of this area will help to clarify its role in the MidCoast hierarchy.

Rural villages

Bulahdelah, Nabiac and Stroud are communities zoned RU5 village. The extent of existing business areas has been identified, but have not been analysed as part of the EZR.

Appendix I – Purpose of industrial zones

The purpose, objectives and prescribed permissible uses for each of the industrial zones is provided below. Noting that: the *purpose* is as described by the NSW Department of Planning Practice Note PN 11-002; and the *objectives* and *prescribed uses* are as detailed in the NSW Standard Instrument – Principal Local Environmental Plan (as of 1 July 2019).

Purpose	Objectives	Prescribed Uses
IN1 General Industrial		
This zone is generally intended to accommodate a wide range of industrial and warehouse uses and includes 'general industry,' 'high technology industries,' 'industrial training facilities' and 'depots.' This zone would be suitable where a council wishes to have a range of industrial land uses and other compatible land uses generally catered for in an industrial zone. In 2011, a new objective was added to highlight that the purpose of industrial zones is to support and protect industrial land for industrial uses.	To provide a wide range of industrial and warehouse land uses. To encourage employment opportunities. To minimise any adverse effect of industry on other land uses. To support and protect industrial land for industrial uses.	Residential Uses: Ancillary caretaker's residences only Industrial uses: Depots, Freight transport facilities, Heavy industries, General industries, Light industries Business & Retail Uses: Garden centres, Hardware and building supplies, Neighbourhood shops Other: Industrial training facility, Places of public worship, Warehouse and distribution centres
IN2 Light Industrial		
This zone is for land that provides a range of 'light industry', 'warehouse or distribution centres' and 'depots.' Vehicle trade and other service industries may also be considered appropriate. The types of uses need to be 'light' in nature, meaning they will not cause nuisance or adversely affect the surrounding amenity for example by way of noise or emissions. It is important that bulky goods retailing occurs in a business zone and not in an industrial zone. Such an outcome would ease pressure on employment lands. In 2011, a new objective was added to highlight that the purpose of industrial zones is to support and protect industrial land for industrial uses.	To provide a wide range of light industrial, warehouse and related land uses. To encourage employment opportunities and to support the viability of centres. To minimise any adverse effect of industry on other land uses. To enable other land uses that provide facilities or services to meet the day to day needs of workers in the area. To support and protect industrial land for industrial uses.	Residential Uses: Ancillary caretaker's residences only Industrial uses: Depots, General; industries, Light industries Business & Retail Uses: Garden centres, Hardware and building supplies, Neighbourhood shops Other: Industrial training facility, Places of public worship, Warehouse and distribution centres

Purpose	Objectives	Prescribed Uses
IN3 Heavy Industrial		
This zone should be used where it is necessary to designate particular land for heavy industrial uses that require separation from other land uses, due to their potential risk to human health or the biophysical environment. The need for such a zone will depend on the type and nature of industrial uses that exist or that are likely to take place in the area. Other forms of industry might also be permitted in the zone if appropriate. To highlight the purpose of the zone, a new core objective was included in 2011.	To provide suitable areas for those industries that need to be separated from other land uses. To encourage employment opportunities. To minimise any adverse effect of heavy industry on other land uses. To support and protect industrial land for industrial uses.	Residential Uses: Ancillary caretaker's residences only Industrial uses: Heavy industries, Depots, Freight transport facilities, General industries, Hazardous storage establishments, Heavy industries, Offensive storage establishments Other: Warehouse and distribution centres
IN4 Working Waterfront		
This zone is generally intended for industrial and maritime uses that require waterfront access. The zone could be applied to small commercial fishing or other ports, as well as other maritime industrial uses. A special purpose zoning may be more appropriate for large commercial port facilities.	To retain and encourage waterfront industrial and maritime activities. To identify sites for maritime purposes and for activities that require direct waterfront access. To ensure that development does not have an adverse impact on the environmental and visual qualities of the foreshore. To encourage employment opportunities. To minimise any adverse effect of development on land uses in other zones.	Residential Uses: Ancillary caretaker's residences only Industrial uses: Light industries, Other: Charter and tourist boating, Boat building and repair facilities, Boat launching ramps, Jetties

Appendix J – Analysis of industrial land use tables

The industrial zones across each LEP permit or prohibit land uses through their corresponding land use tables. An analysis of each zone is provided below.

IN1 General Industrial

Application: Used in Greater Taree, Gloucester and Great Lakes LEPs.

Objectives: The Greater Taree, Gloucester and Great Lakes LEPs support the objective for the IN1 zone in that they allow for a wide range of industrial and warehouse uses with limited business uses except those that would support industrial workers.

Comparison to other IN zones: In general, the IN1 land use table permissions are very similar to the IN2 zone. The land uses tables also support heavier industries necessary to support business in major regional towns.

Comparison between LEPs: In general, the IN1 land use table permissions are generally very similar. The Gloucester LEP permits offices with consent whilst offices in the Great Lakes and Greater Taree LEPs are prohibited.

IN2 Light Industrial

Application: Used in Greater Taree and Great Lakes LEPs.

Objectives: The Greater Taree and Great Lakes LEPs generally support the objective for the IN2 zone in that they allow for a wide range of industrial and warehouse uses that would have minimal adverse impacts on adjacent residential land uses. However, there are a number of land uses, specifically "specialised retail premises" permissible with consent in both LEP's that are inconsistent with the objective by allowing non-industrial intrusion into industrial land.

Comparison to other IN zones: In general, the IN2 land use table permissions are similar to the IN1 zone but however there are a number of business uses such as "specialised retail premises" that are permitted with consent that are prohibited in the IN1 Zone. The land uses tables also include general industries necessary to support growth and construction.

Comparison between LEPs: In general, the IN2 land use table permissions are generally very similar.

IN3 Heavy Industrial

Application: Used in the Gloucester LEP only.

Objectives: The Gloucester LEP generally supports the objective for the IN3 zone in that it supports a wide range of heavy industrial uses within the Stratford Industrial park which has adequate separation distances for adjacent land uses. It also discourages any non-industrial uses.

Comparison to other IN zones: In general, the IN3 land use table permissions are different to the IN1 and IN2 zones in that all non-industrial uses are prohibited. It is generally considered uses that would otherwise support a major employment generator in the Stratford Precinct would be ancillary to the primary use.

Comparison between LEPs: Nil.

IN4 Working Waterfront

Application: Used in the Greater Taree and Great Lakes LEP's.

Objectives: The land use tables in the Greater Taree and Great Lakes LEPs support the objective for the IN4 zone (as described previously). The Great Taree LEP however allows for many more uses that are do not require waterfront access or frontage.

Comparison to other IN zones: In general, the IN4 land use table permissions are different to the IN1 and IN2 (and IN3) zones in that industries that require or would benefit from access to the waterfront are permitted with consent.

Comparison between LEPs: The zone is used by both LEPs in a fairly similar way. However, the IN4 zone for Greater Taree allows many uses such as would be permissible in the IN2 zone.

Appendix K – Industrial zone land use tables

		-		
Standard	Gloucester	Great Lakes LEP	Greater Taree LEP	MidCoast
Instrument LEP	LEP 2010	2014	2010	LEP Draft
Standard Instrument	objectives that cannot b	e changed		
To provide a wide	To provide a wide	To provide a wide	To provide a wide	To provide a wide
range of industrial	range of industrial	range of industrial	range of industrial	range of industrial
and warehouse land	and warehouse land	and warehouse land	and warehouse land	and warehouse land
uses.	uses.	uses.	uses.	uses.
To encourage	To encourage	To encourage	To encourage	To encourage
employment	employment	employment	employment	employment
opportunities.	opportunities.	opportunities.	opportunities.	opportunities.
To minimise any	To minimise any	To minimise any	To minimise any	To minimise any
adverse effect of	adverse effect of	adverse effect of	adverse effect of	adverse effect of
industry on other land	industry on other land	industry on other land	industry on other land	industry on other land
uses.	uses.	uses.	uses.	uses.
To support and protect industrial land for industrial uses.	To support and	To support and	To support and	To support and
	protect industrial land	protect industrial land	protect industrial land	protect industrial land
	for industrial uses.	for industrial uses.	for industrial uses.	for industrial uses.
Additional objectives				
	To conserve biological diversity and native vegetation corridors, and their scenic qualities, in an industrial setting.	To enable other land uses that provide facilities or services to meet the day-to- day needs of workers in the area.	To encourage innovation and sustainability in industry.	To enable land uses that provide facilities or services to meet the day-to-day needs of workers in the area that do not compromise the land being used for industrial purposes

Zone IN1 General Industrial – Zone Objectives

Zone IN1	General	Industrial -	Land Us	e Permissibility
----------	---------	--------------	---------	------------------

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
2 Permitted without	consent			
		Home occupations;		Home occupations;
3 Permitted with con	isent			
	Animal boarding and training establishments;			Animal boarding and training establishments;
		Boat building and repair facilities;		Boat building and repair facilities;
		Boat launching ramps;		Boat launching ramps;
		Boat sheds;		Boat sheds;
		Car parks;		Car parks;
		Charter and tourism boating facilities;		
		Crematoria;		Crematoria;
Depots;	Depots;	Depots;	Depots;	Depots;
				Electricity generating works;
				Emergency services facilities;
		Environmental facilities;		Environmental facilities;
		Environmental protection works;		Environmental protection works;
	Flood mitigation works;	Flood mitigation works;		Flood mitigation works;
Freight transport facilities;	Freight transport facilities;	Freight transport facilities;	Freight transport facilities;	Freight transport facilities;
	Funeral homes;			
Garden centres;	Garden centres;	Garden centres;	Garden centres;	Garden centres;
General industries;	General industries;	General industries;	General industries;	General industries;
Hardware and building supplies;	Hardware and building supplies;	Hardware and building supplies;	Hardware and building supplies;	Hardware and building supplies;
	Heavy industrial storage establishments;	Heavy industrial storage establishments;		
		Heavy industries;		
		Helipads;		Helipads;
		Home-based childcare;		
		Home businesses;		
		Home occupations (sex services);		
	Industrial retail outlets;	Industrial retail outlets;		Industrial retail outlets;

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
Industrial training	Industrial training	Industrial training	Industrial training	Industrial training
facilities;	facilities;	facilities;	facilities;	facilities;
		Information and education facilities;		
	Industries;			
		Jetties;		Jetties;
	Kiosks;	Kiosks;		Kiosks;
	Landscaping material supplies;	Landscaping material supplies;	Landscaping material supplies;	Landscaping material supplies;
Light industries;	Light industries;	Light industries;	Light industries;	Light industries;
				Liquid fuel depots;
	Mortuaries;	Marinas;		Marinas;
		Mortuaries;		Mortuaries;
Neighbourhood shops;	Neighbourhood shops;	Neighbourhood shops;	Neighbourhood shops;	Neighbourhood shops;
	Office premises;			
Oyster aquaculture;	Oyster aquaculture;	Oyster aquaculture;	Oyster aquaculture;	Oyster aquaculture;
				Passenger transport facilities;
Places of public worship;	Places of public worship;	Places of public worship;	Places of public worship;	Places of public worship;
	Plant nurseries;	Plant nurseries;	Plant nurseries;	Plant nurseries;
				Port facilities;
		Public administration buildings;		
				Recreation areas;
	Recreation facilities (indoor);	Recreation facilities (indoor);		Recreation facilities (indoor);
		Recreation facilities (outdoor);		
		Research stations;		Research stations;
		Restaurants or cafes;		Restaurants or cafes;
		Restricted premises;		Restricted premises;
	Roads	Roads;		Roads;
	Rural industries;	Rural industries;	Rural industries;	Rural industries;
	Rural supplies;	Rural supplies;		Rural supplies;
	Service stations;	Service stations;	Service stations;	Service stations;
		Sewerage systems;		Sewerage systems;
	Sex services premises;	Sex services premises;		Sex services premises;
		Signage;		Signage;
	Storage premises;	Storage premises;		
	Take away food and drink premises;	Take away food and drink premises;	Takeaway food and drink premises;	Takeaway food and drink premises;
Tank-based aquaculture;	Tank-based aquaculture;	Tank-based aquaculture;	Tank-based aquaculture;	Tank-based aquaculture;

Standard	Gloucester	Great Lakes	Greater Taree LEP	MidCoast
Instrument LEP	LEP 2010	LEP 2014	2010	LEP Draft
	Timber yards;	Timber yards;	Timber yards;	Timber yards;
		Transport depots;		Transport depots;
		Truck depots;		Truck depots;
	Vehicle body repair workshops;	Vehicle body repair workshops;		Vehicle body repair workshops;
	Vehicle repair stations;	Vehicle repair stations;		Vehicle repair stations;
	Vehicle sales or hire premises;	Vehicle sales or hire premises;		Vehicle sales or hire premises;
		Veterinary hospitals;		
Warehouse or distribution centres	Warehouse or distribution centres;	Warehouse or distribution centres;	Warehouse or distribution centres;	Warehouse or distribution centres;
		Waste or resource management facilities;		Waste or resource management facilities;
		Water recreation structures;		Water recreation structures;
		Water supply systems;		Water supply systems;
		Wholesale supplies		Wholesale supplies
	Any other development not specified in item 2 or 4		Any other development not specified in item 2 or 4	
4 Prohibited				
		Any development not specified in item 2 or 3		Any development not specified in item 2 or 3
	Agriculture;		Agriculture;	
			Animal boarding or training establishments;	
	Camping grounds;		Camping grounds;	
	Caravan parks;		Caravan parks;	
			Charter and tourism boating facilities;	
	Dwelling house	Dwelling house	Dwelling house	Dwelling house
	Eco-tourist facilities;		Eco-tourist facilities;	
	Entertainment facilities;		Entertainment facilities;	
	Farm buildings;		Farm buildings;	
	Forestry;		Forestry;	
	Function centres;		Function centres;	
	Home-based childcare;		Home-based childcare;	
	Hospitals;		Hospitals;	

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
	Information and education facilities;		Information and education facilities;	
			Marinas;	
	Medical centres;		Medical centres;	
			Mooring pens;	
			Office premises;	
Pond-based aquaculture;	Pond-based aquaculture;	Pond-based aquaculture;	Pond-based aquaculture;	Pond-based aquaculture;
	Recreation facilities (major);		Recreation facilities (major);	
	Recreation facilities (outdoor);		Recreation facilities (outdoor);	
	Registered clubs;		Registered clubs;	
	Residential accommodation;		Residential accommodation;	
	Retail premises;		Retail premises;	
	Schools;		Schools;	
	Tourist and visitor accommodation		Tourist and visitor accommodation;	

Zone IN2 Light Industrial – Zone Objectives

Standard Instrument	Gloucester	Great Lakes LEP	Greater Taree LEP	MidCoast	
LEP	LEP 2010	2014	2010	LEP Draft	
Standard Instrument objectives that cannot be changed					
To provide a wide	NA	To provide a wide	To provide a wide	To provide a wide	
range of light		range of light	range of light	range of light	
industrial, warehouse		industrial, warehouse	industrial, warehouse	industrial, warehouse	
and related land uses.		and related land uses.	and related land uses.	and related land uses.	
To encourage		To encourage	To encourage	To encourage	
employment		employment	employment	employment	
opportunities and to		opportunities and to	opportunities and to	opportunities and to	
support the viability of		support the viability of	support the viability of	support the viability of	
centres.		centres.	centres.	centres.	
To minimise any		To minimise any	To minimise any	To minimise any	
adverse effect of		adverse effect of	adverse effect of	adverse effect of	
industry on other land		industry on other land	industry on other land	industry on other land	
uses.		uses.	uses.	uses.	
To enable other land		To enable other land	To enable other land	To enable other land	
uses that provide		uses that provide	uses that provide	uses that provide	
facilities or services to		facilities or services to	facilities or services to	facilities or services to	
meet the day to day		meet the day to day	meet the day to day	meet the day to day	
needs of workers in		needs of workers in	needs of workers in	needs of workers in	
the area.		the area.	the area.	the area.	
To support and		To support and	To support and	To support and	
protect industrial land		protect industrial land	protect industrial land	protect industrial land	
for industrial uses.		for industrial uses.	for industrial uses.	for industrial uses.	
Additional objectives					
	NA		To encourage innovation and sustainability in industry.	To provide for certain business and office premises and light industries in the arts, technology, production and design sectors.	

Zone IN2 Light Industrial	- Land Use Permissibility
---------------------------	---------------------------

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
2 Permitted without	consent			
	NA	Home occupations;		Home occupations;
3 Permitted with co	nsent			
Nil	NA	Boat building and repair facilities;		Boat building and repair facilities;
		Boat launching ramps;		Boat launching ramps;
		Boat sheds;		Boat sheds;
		Bulky goods premises;		
		Business premises;		
		Car parks;		Car parks;
		Charter and tourism boating facilities;		Charter and tourism boating facilities;
				Community facilities;
		Crematoria;		
Depots;		Depots;	Depots;	Depots;
				Educational establishments;
				Emergency services facilities;
		Environmental facilities;		Environmental facilities;
		Environmental protection works;		Environmental protection works;
		Flood mitigation works;		Flood mitigation works;
			Food and drink premises;	Food and drink premises;
		Freight transport facilities;		
				Funeral homes;
Garden centres;		Garden centres;	Garden centres;	Garden centres;
		General industries;		
Hardware and building supplies;		Hardware and building supplies;	Hardware and building supplies;	Hardware and building supplies;
		Helipads;		Helipads;
		Home-based childcare;		Home-based childcare;
		Home businesses;		Home businesses;
		Home occupations (sex services);		Home occupations (sex services);
		Industrial retail outlets;		Industrial retail outlets;

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
Industrial training facilities;		Industrial training facilities;	Industrial training facilities;	Industrial training facilities;
		Information and education facilities;		
		Jetties;		Jetties;
		Kiosks;		Kiosks;
		Landscaping material supplies;	Landscaping material supplies;	Landscaping material supplies;
Light industries;		Light industries;	Light industries;	Light industries;
		Marinas;		Marinas;
				Mooring pens;
		Mortuaries;		Mortuaries;
Neighbourhood shops;		Neighbourhood shops;	Neighbourhood shops;	Neighbourhood shops;
				Office premises;
Oyster aquaculture;		Oyster aquaculture;	Oyster aquaculture;	Oyster aquaculture;
				Passenger transport facilities;
Places of public worship;		Places of public worship;	Places of public worship;	Places of public worship;
		Plant nurseries;	Plant nurseries;	Plant nurseries;
		Public administration buildings;		Public administration buildings;
			Recreation areas;	Recreation areas;
		Recreation facilities (indoor);		Recreation facilities (indoor);
		Recreation facilities (outdoor);		
		Research stations;		Research stations;
		Restaurants or cafes;		Restaurants or cafes;
		Restricted premises;		Restricted premises;
		Roads;	Roads;	Roads;
		Rural industries;	Rural industries;	Rural industries;
		Rural supplies;	Rural supplies;	Rural supplies;
		Service stations;		Service stations;
		Sewerage systems;		Sewerage systems;
		Sex services premises;		Sex services premises;
		Signage;		Signage;
		Storage premises;		Storage premises;
		Take away food and drink premises;		Take away food and drink premises;
Tank-based aquaculture;		Tank-based aquaculture;	Tank-based aquaculture;	Tank-based aquaculture;
		Timber yards;	Timber yards;	Timber yards;
		Transport depots;		Transport depots;

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
		Truck depots;		Truck depots;
		Vehicle body repair workshops;		Vehicle body repair workshops;
		Vehicle repair stations;		Vehicle repair stations;
		Vehicle sales or hire premises;	Vehicle sales or hire premises;	Vehicle sales or hire premises;
		Veterinary hospitals;		Veterinary hospitals;
Warehouse or distribution centres		Warehouse or distribution centres;	Warehouse or distribution centres;	Warehouse or distribution centres
		Waste or resource management facilities;		
		Water recreation structures;		Water recreation structures;
		Water supply systems;		Water supply systems;
		Wholesale supplies		Wholesale supplies
4 Prohibited				
	NA	Any development not specified in item 2 or 3		Any development not specified in item 2 or 3
			Agriculture;	
			Animal boarding or training establishments;	
			Camping grounds;	
			Caravan parks;	
			Cemeteries;	
			Childcare centres;	
			Commercial premises;	
			Depots;	
		Dwelling house	Dwelling house	Dwelling house
			Eco-tourist facilities;	
			Electricity generating works;	
			Entertainment facilities;	
			Farm buildings;	
			Forestry;	
			Function centres;	
			Home-based childcare;	
			Hospitals;	
			Industries;	
			Mooring pens;	

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
			Mortuaries;	
			Places of public worship;	
Pond-based aquaculture;		Pond-based aquaculture;	Pond-based aquaculture;	Pond-based aquaculture;
			Recreation facilities (indoor);	
			Recreation facilities (major);	
			Residential accommodation;	
			Respite day care centres;	
			Rural industries;	
			Schools;	
			Sex services premises;	
			Tourist and visitor accommodation;	
			Truck depots;	
			Waste disposal facilities;	
			Waste or resource management facilities;	
			Wharf or boating facilities	

Zone IN3 Heavy Industrial – Zone Objectives

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
Standard Instrument	objectives that cannot b	e changed		
To provide suitable areas for those industries that need to be separated from other land uses.	To provide suitable areas for those industries that need to be separated from other land uses.	NA	NA	To provide suitable areas for those industries that need to be separated from other land uses.
To encourage employment opportunities.	To encourage employment opportunities.			To encourage employment opportunities.
To minimise any adverse effect of heavy industry on other land uses.	To minimise any adverse effect of heavy industry on other land uses.			To minimise any adverse effect of heavy industry on other land uses.
To support and protect industrial land for industrial uses.	To support and protect industrial land for industrial uses.			To support and protect industrial land for industrial uses.
Additional objectives				
		NA	NA	To support and create opportunity for development in close proximity to heavy transport networks

Zone IN3 Heavy Industrial – Land Use Permissibility

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
2 Permitted without of	consent			
	Roads;	NA	NA	
3 Permitted with con	sent			
Depots;	Depots;	NA	NA	Depots;
				Electricity generating works;
				Emergency services facilities
				Extractive industries;
	Flood mitigation works;			Flood mitigation works
Freight transport facilities;	Freight transport facilities;			Freight transport facilities
General industries;	General industries;			General industries;
Hazardous storage establishments;	Hazardous storage establishments;			Hazardous storage establishments;
				Heavy industrial storage establishment
Heavy industries;	Heavy industries;			Heavy industries;
	Light industries;			
	Neighbourhood shops;			
Offensive storage establishments;	Offensive storage establishments;			Offensive storage establishments
Oyster aquaculture;	Oyster aquaculture;			Oyster aquaculture;
				Roads;
Tank-based aquaculture;	Tank-based aquaculture;			Tank-based aquaculture;
Warehouse or distribution centres	Warehouse or distribution centres			Warehouse or distribution centres
4 Prohibited				
Pond-based aquaculture;	Pond-based aquaculture;	NA	NA	Pond-based aquaculture;
	Any development not specified in item 2 or 3			Any development not specified in item 2 or 3

Zone IN4 Working Waterfront – Zone Objectives

Standard	Gloucester	Great Lakes LEP	Greater Taree LEP	MidCoast
Instrument LEP	LEP 2010	2014	2010	LEP Draft
Standard Instrument of	objectives that cannot b	e changed		
To retain and	NA	To retain and	To retain and	To retain and
encourage waterfront		encourage waterfront	encourage waterfront	encourage waterfront
industrial and		industrial and	industrial and	industrial and
maritime activities.		maritime activities.	maritime activities.	maritime activities.
To identify sites for		To identify sites for	To identify sites for	To identify sites for
maritime purposes		maritime purposes	maritime purposes	maritime purposes
and for activities that		and for activities that	and for activities that	and for activities that
require direct		require direct	require direct	require direct
waterfront access.		waterfront access.	waterfront access.	waterfront access.
To ensure that		To ensure that	To ensure that	To ensure that
development does		development does	development does	development does
not have an adverse		not have an adverse	not have an adverse	not have an adverse
impact on the		impact on the	impact on the	impact on the
environmental and		environmental and	environmental and	environmental and
visual qualities of the		visual qualities of the	visual qualities of the	visual qualities of the
foreshore.		foreshore.	foreshore.	foreshore.
To encourage		To encourage	To encourage	To encourage
employment		employment	employment	employment
opportunities.		opportunities.	opportunities.	opportunities.
To minimise any		To minimise any	To minimise any	To minimise any
adverse effect of		adverse effect of	adverse effect of	adverse effect of
development on land		development on land	development on land	development on land
uses in other zones.		uses in other zones.	uses in other zones.	uses in other zones.
Additional objectives				
	NA			To encourage complementary activities to revitalise waterfront areas

Zone IN4 Working Waterfront – Land Use Permissibility

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
2 Permitted without	consent			
	NA	Home occupations;		Home occupations;
3 Permitted with co	nsent			
	NA			
Aquaculture;		Aquaculture;	Aquaculture;	Aquaculture;
Boat building and repair facilities;		Boat building and repair facilities;	Boat building and repair facilities;	Boat building and repair facilities;
Boat launching ramps;		Boat launching ramps;	Boat launching ramps;	Boat launching ramps;
		Boat sheds;		Boat sheds;
			Bulky goods premises;	
		Car parks;		Car parks;
		Charter and tourism boating facilities;		Charter and tourism boating facilities;
				Emergency services facilities;
		Environmental facilities;		Environmental facilities;
		Environmental protection works;		Environmental protection works;
		Flood mitigation works;		Flood mitigation works;
			Food and drink premises;	Food and drink premises;
				Freight transport facilities;
			Garden centres;	
				General industries;
		Home-based childcare;		
		Home businesses;		
			Hardware and building supplies;	
				Helipad;
				Industrial retail outlets;
		Industrial training facilities;		Industrial training facilities;
		Information and education facilities;		Information and education facilities;
Jetties;		Jetties;	Jetties;	Jetties;
		Kiosks;		Kiosks;
			Landscaping material supplies;	

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
Light industries		Light industries;	Light industries;	Light industries;
		Marinas;		Marinas;
		Mooring pens;		Mooring pens;
		Moorings;		Moorings;
				Neighbourhood shops;
				Passenger transport facilities;
			Plant nurseries;	
				Recreation areas;
				Research stations;
		Restaurants or cafes;		
		Roads;	Roads;	Roads;
			Rural supplies;	
		Sewerage systems;		Sewerage systems;
		Signage;		Signage;
			Timber yards;	
				Water recreation structures;
		Water supply systems;		Water supply systems;
		Wharf or boating facilities;		Wharf or boating facilities;
		Wholesale supplies		
			Vehicle sales or hire premises;	Vehicle sales or hire premises;
			Any other development not specified in item 2 or 4	
4 Prohibited				
-	NA			
		Any development not specified in item 2 or 3		Any development not specified in item 2 or 3
			Agriculture;	
			Animal boarding or training establishments;	
			Camping grounds;	
			Caravan parks;	
			Cemeteries;	
			Childcare centres;	
			Commercial premises;	
		1		1

Standard Instrument LEP	Gloucester LEP 2010	Great Lakes LEP 2014	Greater Taree LEP 2010	MidCoast LEP Draft
			Eco-tourist facilities;	
			Electricity generating works;	
			Entertainment facilities;	
			Farm buildings;	
			Forestry;	
			Function centres;	
			Home-based childcare;	
			Hospitals;	
			Industries;	
			Mooring pens;	
			Mortuaries;	
			Places of public worship;	
			Recreation facilities (indoor);	
			Recreation facilities (major);	
			Residential accommodation;	
			Respite day care centres;	
			Rural industries;	
			Schools;	
			Sex services premises;	
			Tourist and visitor accommodation;	
			Truck depots;	
			Waste disposal facilities;	
			Waste or resource management facilities;	
			Wharf or boating facilities	







EMPLOYMENT ZONES REVIEW - Part B

Table of Contents

INTE	RODUCTION	7
TAR	EE	8
	A. Taree – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Hargreaves Drive	. 10
	B. Taree – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Edinburgh Drive	. 12
	C. Taree – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Kanangra Drive	. 14
	D. Taree – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Mudford Street	. 16
	E. Taree – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Commerce St (Wrigley Park)	. 18
	F. Taree – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Lyndhurst Street, Chatham	. 20
	G. Taree – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Milligan Street, Chatham	. 22
	H. Taree – B6 Enterprise Corridor – Oxley Street, Chatham	. 24
	I. Taree – B6 Enterprise Corridor – Crescent Avenue	. 26
	J. Taree – B4 Mixed Use – Figtrees on the Manning	. 28
	K. Taree – B4 Mixed Use – Cowper Street and Chatham Avenue	. 30
	L. Taree – B5 Business Development – Mill Close	. 32
	M. Taree – B5 Business Development – Wingham Road	. 34
	N. Taree – IN1 General Industrial – Kolodong Industrial Estate	. 36
	O. Taree – IN1 General Industrial – Muldoon Street	. 38
	P. Taree – IN2 Light Industrial – Whitbread Street	. 40
	Q. Taree – IN2 Light Industrial – Bushland Drive	.44
	R. Taree – IN2 Light Industrial – Beeton Parade/Railway Street	.46
CUN	IDLETOWN	48
	A. Cundletown – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Else Street	. 50
	B. Cundletown – B6 Enterprise Corridor – Main Street	. 52
	C. Cundletown – B6 Enterprise Corridor – Princes Street	. 54
	D. Taree – B6 Enterprise Corridor – Phillip St and Manning River Dr	. 56
	E. Cundletown – IN1 General Industrial – Northern Gateway	. 58
TAR	EE – SOUTH	60
	26. Taree South – B5 Business Development – Manning River Drive	. 62

B. Taree South – B6 Enterprise Corridor – Manning River Drive	64
C. Taree South – IN1 General Industrial –The Bucketts Way East	66
TINONEE	68
A. Tinonee – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Beecher Street	70
WINGHAM	72
A. Wingham – B2 Local Centre – Isabella Street	74
B. Wingham – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Union Street	77
C. Wingham – B6 Enterprise Corridor – Murray Road	79
D. Wingham – IN2 Light Industrial – Industrial Close	81
E. Wingham – IN2 Light Industrial – Dennes Street	
F. Wingham – IN2 Light Industrial – Viscount Road	
G. Wingham Beef Complex – Gloucester Road, Wingham	
H. Flett Street and Primrose Street, Wingham	
BRIMBIN	92
A. Brimbin – B4 Mixed Use – Lansdowne Road	
B. Brimbin – IN1 General Industrial – Lansdowne Road	
FORSTER	99
A. Forster – B2 Local Centre – Stocklands Shopping Centre	
B. Forster – B2 Local Centre – Wharf Street Precinct	
C. Forster – B4 Local Centre – Wharf Street Precinct	
D. Forster – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Forster Keys	
E. Forster – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Fairways	
F. Forster – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Southern Parkway	
G. Forster – B5 Business Development – The Lakes Way	
H. Forster – IN1 General Industrial – The Lakes Way/Sweet Pea Rd	116
I. Forster – IN2 Light Industrial – Kularoo Drive/Breese Parade	
J. Forster – IN4 Working Waterfront – Mark Street/Little Street	
TUNCURRY	122
A. Tuncurry – B2 Local Centre – Manning Street	

	B. Tuncurry – B4 Mixed Use – Manning Street	126
	C. Tuncurry – B4 Mixed Use – Point Road	128
	D. Tuncurry – IN2 Light Industrial – The Lakes Way	130
	E. Tuncurry – IN4 Working Waterfront – Leo Amato Close/Palm Street/Point Road.	132
TEA	GARDENS	134
	A. Tea Gardens – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Marine Drive	136
	B. Tea Gardens – B2 Local Centre – Myall Quays Boulevard	138
	C. Tea Gardens – B4 Mixed Use – Northerly Drive	140
	D. Tea Gardens – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Viney Creek Road	142
	E. Tea Gardens – IN2 Light Industrial – Tea Gardens Road	144
	F. Tea Gardens – IN4 Working Waterfront – Marine Drive	146
HAV	VKS NEST	148
	A. Hawks Nest – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Tuloa Avenue	150
	B. Hawks Nest – B4 Mixed Use – Booner Street	152
GLO	UCESTER	154
	A. Gloucester – B2 Local Centre – Church Street	156
	B. Gloucester – B4 Mixed Use – Church Street	158
	C. Gloucester – B4 Mixed Use – Philip Street	160
	D. Gloucester – B4 Mixed Use – King Street	162
	E. Gloucester – IN1 General Industrial – Tate Street	164
	F. Gloucester Town Centre (Western Fringe)	166
STR/	ATFORD	168
	A. Stratford – IN3 Heavy Industrial – The Bucketts Way South	170
HAR	RINGTON – CROWDY HEAD	172
	A. Harrington - B1 Neighbourhood Centre - Caledonia Street	174
	B. Harrington - B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Beach Street	176
	C. Harrington - B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Crowdy Street	178
	D. Harrington – B4 Mixed Use Centre – Electra Parade	180
	E. Harrington – IN2 Light Industrial – Industrial Drive	182

	F. Crowdy Head – IN4 Working Waterfront – Pacific Drive	184
OLD	BAR – WALLABI POINT	186
	A. Old Bar – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Old Bar Historic Centre	188
	B. Old Bar – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Precinct 2B (Old Bar Rd)	190
	C. Old Bar – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Old Bar Road	192
	D. Wallabi Point – IN2 Light Industrial – Saltwater Road	194
HALI	LIDAYS POINT	196
HALI	LIDAYS POINT A. Hallidays Point – B2 Local Centre – High Street, Black Head	
HALI		198
HALI	A. Hallidays Point – B2 Local Centre – High Street, Black Head	198 200
	 A. Hallidays Point – B2 Local Centre – High Street, Black Head B. Hallidays Point – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Tallwoods Village C. Hallidays Point – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Diamond Beach	198 200

Version	Purpose of Document	Reviewed by	Date
1	Draft Report	A FitzGibbon & A Kelly	10 August 2019
2	Draft Report for exhibition	A Macvean	20 August 2019
3	Amended as per Council resolution December 2020	A Kelly	4 August 2021
Introduction

Part B of the Employment Zones Review (EZR) analyses every business and industrial zone in the MidCoast. Each parcel is reviewed to ensure it is zoned consistently and that it reinforces the strategic context. The zones reviewed include:

- *Business zones:* B1 Neighbourhood Centre; B2 Local Centre; B3 Commercial Core; B4 Mixed Use; B5 Business Development; and B6 Enterprise Corridor.
- *Industrial zones:* IN1 General Industrial; IN2 Light Industrial; IN3 Heavy Industrial; and IN4 Working Waterfront.

The tables below are extracts from Part A of the EZR that provide a quick reference summary of the localities analysed and land areas for business and industrial zones in these locations.

Business zone land areas

	Business Zones Used	B1, B2, B3 Land Area (ha)	B4, B5, B6 Land Area (ha)	Total Land Area (ha)
Taree	B1, B3, B4, B5, B6	39.25	100.35	139.6
Forster – Tuncurry	B1, B2, B4, B5	32.22	19.19	51.41
Gloucester	B2, B4	14.05	6.25	20.3
Tea Gardens – Hawks Nest	B1, B2, B4	12.59	7.14	19.73
Wingham	B1, B2 B6	10.28	0.68	10.96
Old Bar – Wallabi Point	B1	6.13	0	6.13
Hallidays Point	B1, B2	4.53	0	4.53
Harrington – Crowdy Head	B1	3.32	0.54	3.86
Pacific Palms	B1	0.76	0	0.76
Tinonee	B1	0.59	0	0.59
Brimbin	B4	0	115.07	115.07
		123.72	249.22	372.94

Industrial zone land areas

	Industrial Zones Used	IN1 Land Area (ha)	IN2 Land Area (ha)	IN3 Land Area (ha)	IN4 Land Area (ha)	Total Land Area (ha)
Taree	IN1, IN2, N4	126.39	95.94	-	-	222.33
Gloucester	IN1	72.44	-	-	-	72.44
Forster – Tuncurry	IN1, IN2, IN4	18.67	26.75	-	7.5	52.92
Wingham	IN2	-	16.07	-	-	16.07
Tea Gardens – Hawks Nest	IN2	-	14.68	-	0.71	15.39
Old Bar – Wallabi Point	IN2	-	13.35	-	-	13.35
Harrington – Crowdy Head	IN2	-	7.35	-	2.06	9.41
Brimbin	IN1	116.47	-	-	-	116.47
Stratford	IN3	-	-	195.99	-	195.99
		333.97	205.67	195.99	10.27	745.9

Taree

Taree consists of 14 business zoned areas and 5 industrial zoned areas as shown on the following plan and described below.

Note: The Manning Health and Taree CBD Precinct was not examined as part of the EZR as this area forms part of a separate planning study.

#	Zone	Location	Area (ha)
Α	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Hargreaves Drive	1.31
В	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Edinburgh Drive	0.16
С	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Kanangra Drive	0.36
D	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Mudford Street	0.37
Е	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Commerce Street	0.19
F	B6 Enterprise Corridor	Crescent Avenue	7.79
G	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Lyndhurst Street (Chatham)	0.11
Н	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Milligan Street (Chatham)	1.74
I	B6 Enterprise Corridor	Oxley Street (Chatham)	3.65
J	B4 Mixed Use	"Figtrees on the Manning"	12.69
κ	B4 Mixed Use	Cowper Street (Chatham)	0.24
L	B5 Business Development	Mill Close	4.28
М	B5 Business Development	Wingham Road	7.22
Ν	IN1 General Industrial	Kolodong Industrial Estate	65.97
0	IN1 General Industrial	Muldoon Street	24.47
Р	IN2 Light Industrial	Whitbread Street	64.44
Q	IN2 Light Industrial	Bushland Drive	17.87
R	IN2 Light Industrial	Beaton Parade and Railway Street	10.91
	Subtotal Business Zones		41.01
	Subtotal Industrial Zones		183.22
	Total Employment Zones		224.23*

*This does not include the land areas within the *Manning Health and Taree CBD Precinct* Plan area.



A. Taree – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Hargreaves Drive

Description	A vacant B1 Neighbourhood Centre planned to service the existing industrial workers and residential community as well as planned future urban development in north west Taree
Current uses	Vacant
Built form	NA
Land area	1.31ha
Major retail floor area	NA
Hierarchy context	Planned to service some day-to-day shopping needs of neighbourhood residents Located 8 minutes to Taree B3 area

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B1	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain as not a suitable location to encourage shop-top housing
Floor space ratio	0.85:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Include active street frontages as per adjoining map to ensure that future development provides a high-quality frontage to Hargreaves Drive with overlooking of remnant bushland

Note that there is currently an intersection upgrade of Hargreaves Drive and Wingham Road being considered by Council. The above recommendations would need to be revisited if this planning and upgrade goes ahead as it would also include the realignment of Hargreaves Drive.

I

I



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
85	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Vacant land - Arkwright Crescent



B. Taree – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Edinburgh Drive

Description	A B1 Neighbourhood Centre in the south west corner of Taree settlement and nearby a bowling club
Current uses	Hairdresser, medical fronting Winton Avenue and two dwellings fronting Edinburgh Drive
Built form	1-2 storeys
Land area	0.16ha
Major retail floor area	NA
Hierarchy context	Located 6 minutes to Taree B3 area

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	В1	Change to an appropriate residential zone given existing dwellings in the zone, location on periphery of urban settlement, lack of integration with main transport routes, public transport and open space. This would be a reduction of 1568.6m ² . Note that there is currently no residential zone that permits business uses.
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Refer above
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	To be determined by housing strategy
Floor space ratio	0.85:1	To be determined by housing strategy
Minimum lot size	NA	To be determined by housing strategy
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	NA

-



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
85	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential	<u> </u>	Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Commercial premises fronting Winton Avenue



C. Taree – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Kanangra Drive

Description	A B1 Neighbourhood Centre in the residential north of Taree, located at the intersection of two main distributor roads and bounded by a railway corridor to the east and a substation to the south
Current uses	Shop (specialty deli)
Built form	1 storey
Land area	0.36ha
Major retail floor area	NA
Hierarchy context	Located 6 minutes to Taree B3 area

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B1	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain (as shop-top units is not needed in this location)
Floor space ratio	0.85:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Retain (no active street frontages needed as there is significant grade drop between the street level and allotment)



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
BZ	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones or active street frontage provisions



Kanangra Drive

D. Taree – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Mudford Street

Description	A B1 Neighbourhood Centre in the north of Taree surrounded by low density residential
Current uses	Mix of small-scale commercial premises, mostly vacant.
Built form	1 storey
Land area	0.37ha
Major retail floor area	NA
Hierarchy context	Located 6 minutes to Taree B3 area

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B1	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain (as shop-top units is not needed in this location)
Floor space ratio	0.85:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Provide active street frontages along street frontages as per adjoining map to promote a vibrant, public centre not dominated by car parking



Proposed



Map legend

B 1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
85	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential	-	Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Corner of Mudford and Dunoon Streets



Mudford Street – premises to the south



E. Taree – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Commerce St (Wrigley Park)

Description	A B1 Neighbourhood Centre in inner Taree west, opposite large park and tennis centre to the east and service station to the north Located on Commerce Street which has high traffic volumes		
Current uses	Shops (bakery, butcher, bottle shop), business (hairdresser), restaurant, and dwelling (on lot to south west)		
	Service station and coffee shop opposite on Spence Street		
Built form	1-2 storeys		
Land area	0.19ha		
Major retail floor area	NA		
Hierarchy context	Located 3 minutes to Taree B3 area		

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B1	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Logical expansion to include neighbouring service station (1,707m ²), exclude 2 Spence Street from B1 area (609m ²) as existing commercial footprint is unlikely to expand over the existing dwelling.
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain
Floor space ratio	0.85:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Provide active street frontages along Spence Street as per adjoining map to promote a vibrant, civic centre not dominated by car parking



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
BZ	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B 5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential	-	Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Spence Street to south

Spence Street to north





F. Taree – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Lyndhurst Street, Chatham

Description	A B1 Neighbourhood Centre on the corner of Oxley Street and Lyndhurst Street, forming part of the B6 Enterprise Corridor east of the Taree CBD			
Current uses	Businesses (solicitors, barber), medical and restaurant			
Built form	1 storey			
Land area	0.11ha			
Major retail floor area	NA			
Hierarchy context	Located 1 minute to Chatham B1 area and 4 minutes to Taree B3 area			

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B1	Change to B6 Enterprise Corridor as per the surrounding zone. B6 allows for a range of commercial uses and neighbourhood shops (with a floor area less than 250m ²)
Zone boundary	Refer plan	As above – include in surrounding B6 zone
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain (as per adjoining B6 provisions)
Floor space ratio	0.85:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	NA (as proposed to change to B6)



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
85	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Existing commercial premises - Oxley Street



G. Taree – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Milligan Street, Chatham

Description	A B1 Neighbourhood Centre in Chatham centred around Milligan Street and anchored by an IGA supermarket and cinema			
Current uses	Supermarket, cinema, small businesses, auto mechanic and dwellings			
Built form	1-2 storey development			
Land area	1.74ha			
Major retail floor area	IGA supermarket is approximately 1,000m ²			
Hierarchy context	Services day-to-day shopping needs of Chatham area residents and visitors Located 5 minutes to Taree B3 area			

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B1	Change to B2 Local Centre given the size of this centre, the variety of commercial uses (including a supermarket) and the catchment it serves
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Expand to include café and restaurant adjoining the cinema on Oxley Street
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Change to 12m to allow for increased residential density over centre uses that encourages high quality centre development
Floor space ratio	0.85:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Include active street frontages as per adjoining map to promote a vibrant, public centre not dominated by car parking and blank walls



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Commercial uses - Milligan Street



H. Taree – B6 Enterprise Corridor – Oxley Street, Chatham

Description	B6 Enterprise Corridor in Chatham with frontage to Oxley Street and with links with B1 to the north and IN2 to the south		
Current uses	Mix of uses including business, café, motel, dwelling, storage, car sales/repairs		
Built form	1-2 storey development		
Land area	3.65ha		
Major retail floor area	NA		
Hierarchy context	Located 3 minutes to Taree B3 area		

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B6	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Amend as per previous recommendations – refer plan.
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain
Floor space ratio	1:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Retain

Proposed



B2 B2 B6 B6

Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Café - Oxley Street

General commercial uses - Oxley Street





I. Taree – B6 Enterprise Corridor – Crescent Avenue

Description	B6 Enterprise Corridor in between the rail spur and Browns Creek near the Taree CBD Majority of this area is prone to flooding
Current uses	Mix of uses including houses, auto mechanics, motel, businesses, light industry
Built form	1-2 storey development
Land area	0.24ha
Major retail floor area	NA
Hierarchy context	Located 2 minutes to Taree B3 area

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone B6		Predominately retain Change to residential zone (as per adjoining plan) where predominately existing houses and lots not completely prone to flooding
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain
Floor space ratio	1:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Retain



Proposed



Map legend

B 1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
BZ	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Various Commercial Uses - Crescent Avenue





J. Taree – B4 Mixed Use – Figtrees on the Manning

Description	B4 Mixed Use zoned area over the proposed Figtrees on the Manning development plan. The Local Plan within the Greater Taree DCP states the following. Overall, the vision is to create a distinctive and vital urban redevelopment area with a quality public domain while optimising the utilisation of the waterfront location. There will be a range of development outcomes including commercial and retail outlets, residential units, modern adaptive reuse of some of the old dairy factory buildings on
Current uses	site, and a commercial marina. Development not yet commenced – existing uses prevail and include dwellings, car yards, and industry
Built form	1-2 storey development
Land area	12.69ha
Major retail floor area	NA
Hierarchy context	Located 5 minutes to Taree B3 area

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B4	Retain (current and preferred uses as per the B4 zone objectives)
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	17m	18m (Noting building heights in Figtrees on the Manning Master Plan)
Floor space ratio	NA	Retain
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Retain



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
83	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones or active street frontage provisions



Approved precinct areas for Figtrees on the Manning and associated heights

- Precinct 1 Gateway Residential: 3 storeys
- Precinct 2 Figtree Commercial: 3-4 storeys
- Precinct 3 Dairy Heritage: 2-3 storeys
- Precinct 4 Riverpark Village: 3-5 storeys
- Precinct 5 Marina Commercial: 3-4 storeys

K. Taree – B4 Mixed Use – Cowper Street and Chatham Avenue

Description	A standalone B4 Mixed Use lot at the intersection of Chatham Avenue and Cowper Street Highly visible corner location
Current uses	Car yard
Built form	1 storey development
Land area	0.24ha
Major retail floor area	NA
Hierarchy context	Located 5 minutes to Taree B3 area

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B4	Change to B6 Enterprise Corridor to reflect current use and location on a main road
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain
Floor space ratio	1:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Retain

-



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Existing vehicle sales premises – Cowper Street



L. Taree – B5 Business Development – Mill Close

Description	B5 Business Development at Mill Close set amongst industrial land		
Current uses	Predominately bulky goods / specialised retail premises (e.g. furniture, camping, hardware stores)		
Built form	1 storey large footprint development		
Land area	4.38ha		
Major retail floor area	NA		
Hierarchy context	Located 5 minutes to Taree B3 area		

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B5	Retain (current and preferred uses as per the B5 zone objectives)
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	NA	Change to 8.5m to be consistent with all other B5 areas in the MidCoast
Floor space ratio	1:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Change to 1,500m ² (as per justification in report)
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Retain



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation	
BZ	Local Centre	E1 National Parks and Nature Reserves	E1 National Parks and Nature Reserves	E1 National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities	
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure	
B 5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary	
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary	
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage	

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones or active street frontage provisions



Bulky Goods and Specialised Retail in Mill Close

M. Taree – B5 Business Development – Wingham Road

Description	B5 Business Development with frontage to Wingham Road
Current uses	Bulky goods / specialised retail premises store (Bunnings) and remaining lots vacant
Built form	1 storey large footprint development
Land area	7.22ha
Major retail floor area	NA
Hierarchy context	Located 7 minutes to Taree B3 area

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B5	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Extend B5 to replace existing IN2. This will remove split zoning of this lot and takes into account that light industry is permitted in the B5 zone. This would be a change to land area approximately 33,000m ² .
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain
Floor space ratio	1:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Change to 1,500m ² (as per justification in report)
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Retain

-

Proposed





Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
82	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Bushland Drive over IN2 (foreground) and B5 land in front of existing Bulky Goods/Hardware Store



N. Taree – IN1 General Industrial – Kolodong Industrial Estate

Description	IN1 General Industrial area in western Taree. Includes Hargreaves Drive and Arkwright Crescent				
Current uses	Various heavy, general and light industries Large heavy factories, Council depot and pound, storage, SES headquarters, various industrial tenancies, small and large scale engineering, picture framing, joineries, distribution centres, small repairs and other automotive services, rural supplies, concrete batching plant, construction, contractor and maintenance depots, NPWS depot, sandblasting, residences Council owned vacant land and ecologically sensitive bushland subject to a Koala Plan of Management				
Built form	Large to small industrial buildings – Orora and Southcott exceeding 7m height				
Land area	65.97ha				
Notable industrial uses	Orora (Aerosol Packaging Plant) – GFA 9,700m ² Southcott (Hydraulic and Control system factory) – GFA 12,000m ²				
Context	Some buffer from residential areas to east and north by way of RE1 corridor. Southern section adjacent to rural land uses in rural zones. Planned Kolodong residential estate to west will require adequate buffering from industrial uses. Good access to Wingham Road				

Land use	Existing	Recommendations
Land use zone	IN1	Conversion of parcels of environmentally sensitive land in Hargreaves Drive from the IN1 General Industrial Zone to an Environmental Zone (additional Recommendations)
		Conversion of parcels in existing drainage reserve from IN1 General Industrial to either RE1 Public or Environmental Zone (additional Recommendations) Retain balance in IN1 General Industry
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Development standards	Existing	Recommendations for IN1
Height of buildings	Nil	Retain (as per justification in report)
Floor space ratio	Nil	Retain (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	Nil	Retain (as per justification in report)

Proposed





Map legend

na	pieg	unu						
1	B1 Neighbourhood Centre		B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
	B2	Local Centre	E1	E1 National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
	B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
	B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
	B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
	B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
	B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Kolodong Industrial Estate Wingham Road

Orora Plant Hargreaves Drive



O. Taree – IN1 General Industrial – Muldoon Street

r				
Description	General industrial area on northern side of Muldoon Street including Greygum Road, Caesia Place, Mahogany Crescent and Coolabah Drive			
Current uses	Established general industrial area with wide range of industrial and semi-commercial uses. Minimal vacant parcels Heavy fuel depot, service station, small to large scale engineering, industrial tools, automotive parts and servicing, rural and agricultural supplies, building supplies, smash repairs, auto wreckers, building consultancies, warehousing and distribution centres, sign manufacturing, food wholesalers, transport depots, steel supplies, glass, door and window warehouses, powder coating and protective lining applicators, agricultural and lawn machinery sales, electrical supplies, wholesale seafood and seafood processing, mini storage, diesel fitting, church, weighbridge, paint sales, solar power depot, kitchen showrooms, wholesale printing, furniture stores, tenpin bowling alley, contractors depots, carpet wholesalers, carwash			
Built form	Various scale industrial buildings			
Land area	24.47ha			
Major industrial uses	Bayview Seafood's Processing facility – GFA approx. 4,000m ²			
Context	Buffered from residential uses by RE1 Public Recreation Zone corridors, fringe IN2 Light Industrial Zone areas or road. Ease of access to primary collector road (Muldoon Street)			
	Intrusion of commercial uses into IN1 General Industrial Zone with specialised retail premises (formerly bulky goods) prevalent to eastern part of area			
	Slight concern for proximity of heavy industries impacting on residential areas despite existing separation buffers			

Land use	Existing	Recommendations			
Land use zone	IN1	Conversion of IN1 General Industrial Zone to IN2 Light Industrial Zone where land is in close proximity to residences in Coolabah Drive			
		Conversion of IN1 General Industrial Zone where commercial intrusion has occurred to B5 Business Development Zone on opposite side of road to existing B5 Zone in Muldoon Street			
Zone boundary	Refer plan	As per above			
Development standards	Existing	Recommendations for IN1 and IN2			
Height of buildings	Nil	IN1: Retain (as per justification in report) IN2: Amend to 10m (as per report)			
Floor space ratio	Nil	IN1 and IN2: Retain (as per report)			
Minimum lot size	Nil	IN1 and IN2: Retain (as per report)			

Proposed



Map legend

B 1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1 National Parks and Nature Reserves	E1 National Parks and Nature Reserves IN4 Working Waterfront	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation	
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
85	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

General Industrial uses Grey Gum Road

General industrial uses Caesia Place



P. Taree – IN2 Light Industrial – Whitbread Street

Description	Light industrial area on southern side of Muldoon Street including Whitbread Street, Elizabeth Avenue, eastern Christie Street, Marathon Street, Olympia Street, Cornwall Street (east), Florence Street (north) and High Street			
Current uses	Established light industrial area with wide range of industrial and semi-commercial uses. Minimal vacant parcels or dwellings			
	Display centres, bulk fruit/vegetables/meat, wholesale supplies, lighting, electrical and refrigeration, electrical substation, wholesale nursery and landscape supplies, smash repairs, mufflers and exhausts, kitchen showrooms, rural supplies, automotive detailing, pumps and irrigation, bus depot, display home centres, 2 nd hand furniture, trophies and engraving, engineering premises, boat manufacturing and repair, custom furniture, communication services, transport depot, ambulance depot, aluminium, glass and windscreen warehouses/installers, distribution centres, power tool service and repairs, wholesale pet supplies, food and drink premises, air conditioning and service, carpet showroom, furniture sales, electrical works depot, appliance repairs, pottery and ceramics, locksmith, benchtop manufacturing, blinds and awnings, garage doors, timber warehouse, workwear manufacturers/ embroiders, showrooms, fencing contractors, computer repairs			
Built form	Small to large industrial buildings.			
Land area	64.44ha			
Major industrial uses	MidCoast Council Water Services Depot and Sewerage Treatment Plant – approx. 7ha land area			
	Electrical substation – approx. 7.67ha land area			
	Essentially Energy Depot – approx. 3.14ha land area			
	Stebercraft (Boat Building) – approx. 7,000m ² GFA			
	Pearson's Transport – 9,007m² land area			
	Eggins Coaches – 8,151m ² land area			
Context	Buffered from residential uses by rail corridor except for 4 lots on opposite side of railway in Golf Avenue. Ease of access to primary collector road (Muldoon Street)			
	Minimal intrusion of commercial uses. Predominantly single dwellings toward eastern Whitbread Street, High Street and Cornwall Street with sporadic light industrial uses in between. Some significant manufacturing and general industrial uses occurring in the vicinity of Elizabeth Street			
	Whitbread Street and High Street are subject to significant flood inundation which has historically been an influencing factor toward industrial zoning			

Land use	Existing	Recommendations		
Land use zone	IN2	 Conversion of IN2 Light Industry to IN1 General Industrial where: adequate separation distances from industrial areas and residential uses industrial areas are not directly adjoining residential land uses and are separated by rail corridor significant general industries (by LEP definition) are located, i.e. Elizabeth Avenue Conversion of the IN2 Light Industrial Zone to B5 Business Development where commercial intrusion has occurred to: The eastern side of Whitbread Street on the opposite side of Browns Creek from the existing B5 Business Development precinct in Mill Close The block of allotments bound by Whitbread Street and Elizabeth Avenue. Conversion of IN2 Light Industrial Zone to SP2 Infrastructure Zone over: The Transgrid electricity substation in Muldoon Street The MidCoast Council sewerage treatment plant in Muldoon Street Retain IN2 Light Industry Zone: in areas of high prevalence of historical dwellings in eastern section in vicinity of eastern Whitbread Street and High Street where IN2 Zones occur both on Muldoon Street (40 Muldoon Street) adjacent to railway corridor on opposite side of rail corridor in Golf Avenue 		
Zone boundary	Refer plan	As per above		
Development standards	Existing	Recommendations for IN1 and IN2		
Height of buildings	Nil	IN1: Nil (as per justification in report) IN2: 10m (as per justification in report)		
Floor space ratio	Nil	IN1/IN2: Nil (as per justification in report)		
Minimum lot size	Nil	IN1/IN2: Nil (as per justification in report)		

•



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B 7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage
Mixed residential and industrial uses Whitbread Street

Taree Railway Station and opposite light industrial uses Olympia Street



Mixed residential and industrial uses Cornwall Street



Light industrial uses Whitbread Street



Emergency services facilties Muldoon Street



Boat building and truss manufacturing Elizabeth Avenue



Q. Taree – IN2 Light Industrial – Bushland Drive

Description	Light Industrial area on northern and southern side of western Bushland Drive. Includes Flametree Close			
Current uses	Large vacant industrial lot adjunct to B5 Business Development Zone (Bunnings) intended for Home Maker Centre (Currently vacant)			
	Former Railway sleeper yard (currently vacant)			
	Flame tree close with range of light industries and adjacent vacant former drive-in theatre			
Built form	Small to large industrial buildings and infrastructure, open storage yards, single storey dwellings			
Approx. land area	17.87ha			
Examples of significant industrial uses	Former railway sleeper yard – land area 8.52ha			
Context	Residential zoned areas adjacent in Bushland Drive and Wingham Road			

Land use	Existing	Recommendations
Zone classification	IN2	Conversion of the former railway sleeper yard from the IN2 Light Industrial Zone to the IN1 General Industrial Zone considering the adequate separation distances between this land and residential zones
		Conversion of the IN2 Light Industrial Land that comprises the vacant balance of the Taree Homemaker Centre accessing Bushland Drive to the B5 Business Development Zone to match the B5 Zone of the land adjacent
Zone boundary	Refer plan	As per above
Development standards	Existing	Recommendations for IN1 and IN2
Height of buildings	Nil	IN1: Retain (as per justification in report) IN2: Amend to 10m (as per report)
Floor space ratio	Nil	IN1/IN2: Retain (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	Nil	IN1/IN2: Retain (as per justification in report)

-

Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B 4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

IN2 Zoned land toward Taree Homemaker Centre Bushland Drive

Light industrial uses Flametree Close

.



R. Taree – IN2 Light Industrial – Beeton Parade/Railway Street

Description	IN2 Light Industrial area in eastern Taree in the vicinity of Browns Creek. Includes Beeton Parade, Bent Street and Railway Street			
Current uses	Wholesale supplies, automotive services, equipment hire, vehicle and machinery sales premises, rural supplies, gas storage and sales, warehousing, smash repairs, dwellings			
Built form	Small to large scale industrial buildings and warehouses. Single storey dwellings and offices			
Land area	10.91ha			
Notable industrial uses	Former milk product factory – approx. 2ha land area			
Context	Light industrial area centred around former milk product factory and associated railway siding in the Browns Creek area to the east of the Taree CBD. Ease of access to Crescent Avenue/Oxley Street. Undeveloped in sections containing predominantly dwellings			
	IN2 Zone abuts B6 Enterprise Corridor Zone on primary road frontage. B6 Enterprise Corridor Zone comprises whole block bound by Beeton Street and Crescent Avenue			
	Beeton Parade and Bent Street subject to flooding			

Land use	Existing	Recommendations
Land use zone	IN2	Retain in IN2 Zone
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain zone boundary
Development standards	Existing	Recommendations
Height of buildings	No max.	Amend to 10m (as per justification in report)
Floor space ratio	No max.	Retain (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	No min.	Retain (as per justification in report)
Heritage	Petersville Milk Factory	Noted

Other Recommendations

The former Petersville milk products factory is identified in the Housing Strategy as a possible residential/mixed use development site. A Future Employment Lands Strategy is to investigate feasibility of rezoning considering both proximity to residences in railway street and the heritage significance of the site.



Map legend

B 1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B 5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones

Cundletown

Cundletown consists of 3 business zoned areas and 1 industrial zoned area as shown on the following plan and described below.

#	Zone	Location	Area (ha)
Α	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Else Street	0.67
В	B6 Enterprise Corridor	Main Street,	1.25
С	B6 Enterprise Corridor	Princes Street	1.88
D	B6 Enterprise Corridor	Philip Street	1.45
Е	IN1 General Industry	"Northern Gateway Stage 1"	7.06
	Subtotal Business Zones		5.25
	Subtotal Industrial Zones		7.06
	Total Employment Zones		12.31



A. Cundletown – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Else Street

Description	A B1 Neighbourhood Centre in Cundletown on Else Street, fronting onto a well-maintained community park	
Current uses	A set of shops (including a general store), one vacant lot and a service station	
Built form	1 storey development	
Land area	0.67ha	
Major retail floor area	General store is approximately 150m ²	
Hierarchy context	Services some day-to-day shopping needs of Cundletown residents and visitors Located 10 minutes to Taree B3 area	

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B1	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain
Floor space ratio	0.85:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Heritage	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Include active street frontages as per adjoining map – with aim for future redevelopment with a high-quality active street edge overlooking the park



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
84	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Neighbourhood shops - Else Street

Commercial premises - Main Street





B. Cundletown – B6 Enterprise Corridor – Main Street

Description	B6 Enterprise Corridor along Main Street and near the entry to the Taree Airport	
Current uses	Building/storage, rural supplies, car sales yard	
Built form	Predominately 1 storey development	
Land area	1.25ha	
Major retail floor area NA		
Hierarchy context	Located 2 minutes to Cundletown B1 area and 7 minutes to Taree B3 area	

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B6	Retain (note that proposed Cundletown bypass is planned directly through this B6 area)
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain
Floor space ratio	1:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Retain



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
BZ	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B 5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones



Commercial premises - Main Street

C. Cundletown – B6 Enterprise Corridor – Princes Street

Description	B6 Enterprise Corridor along Princes Street and near the Northern Gateway Stage 1 IN2 area
Current uses	Motel
Built form	Predominately 1 storey development
Land area	1.88ha
Major retail floor area	NA
Hierarchy context	Located 3 minutes to Cundletown B1 area and 12 minutes to Taree B3 area

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B6	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain
Floor space ratio	1:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Retain



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones

Former hotel premises - Princes Street



D. Taree – B6 Enterprise Corridor – Phillip St and Manning River Dr

Description	B6 Enterprise Corridor with frontage to Manning River Drive and adjacent to the Manning Entertainment Centre and the Taree Tourist/Visitor Information Centre
Current uses	Restaurant (MacDonalds) and two vacant lots
Built form	1 storey large development
Land area	1.45ha
Major retail floor area	NA
Hierarchy context	Located 7 minutes to Taree B3 area

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B6	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain
Floor space ratio	1:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Retain

-



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential	12	Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential	1 <u>1</u>	Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones or active street frontage provisions



Existing Food and Drink premises - Centenarians Way

E. Cundletown – IN1 General Industrial – Northern Gateway

Description	IN1 General Industrial area in Cundletown
Current uses	Dwellings, outbuildings
Built form	Single storey, rural
Land area	7.06ha
Notable industrial uses	Nil
Context	IN1 planned and rezoned with intention of a transport and logistics hub with ease of access to Pacific Highway from northern entrance to Taree known as the "Northern Gateway". Major intended occupant is Pearson's Transport currently operating in Elizabeth Avenue, Taree
	Manning River Drive provides adequate buffer from nearby residential zones to the west and good access thereto to the Pacific Highway
	Subject to an additional local clause in the GTLEP 2010 to facilitate freight distribution and transport depots from the site. A significant project identified in the Regional Economic Development Strategy 2018

Land use	Existing	Recommendations
Land use zone	IN1	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Development standards	Existing	Recommendations
Height of buildings	Nil	Retain (as per justification in report)
Floor space ratio	Nil	Retain (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	2ha	Amend to Nil (as per justification in report)
Other provisions		
Additional Local Provision	Clause 7.10 GTLEP 2010	Retain (as per justification in report)



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B 4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones

Taree – South

Taree South consists of 2 business zoned areas and 1 industrial zoned area as shown on the following plan and described below.

#	Zone	Location	Area (ha)
Α	B5 Business Development	Manning River Drive and Biripi Way	26.75
В	B6 Enterprise Corridor	Manning River Drive	17.95
С	IN1 General Industrial	The Bucketts Way East	28.89
	Subtotal Business Zones		44.70
	Subtotal Industrial Zones		28.89
	Total Employment Zones		73.59



26. Taree South – B5 Business Development – Manning River Drive

Description	A largely vacant B5 Business Development zone developed under the name <i>Manning River Drive Business Park</i> . Part L of the Greater Taree DCP provides the following vision for the area: Manning River Business Park located on the southern entrance of Taree is being planned to accommodate a mixture of business, industrial, and warehouse uses while also providing for specialised retail uses that require a large floor area, in a location that is well served by transport systems.
Current uses	One closed bulky goods store on Biripi Way
Built form	Not developed enough to have an established built form character
Land area	26.75ha
Major retail floor area	NA
Hierarchy context	Located 4 minutes to Taree B3 area

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B5	Retain as B5 – note that consideration was given to changing this zone to B7 Business Park in line with the development name, however, the B5 zone is more appropriate given the types of intended uses
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	NA	Change to 8.5m to be consistent with all other B5 areas in the MidCoast
Floor space ratio	1:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Change to 1,500m ² (as per justification in report)
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Retain



Map legend

B 1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential	-	Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential	·	Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones or active street frontage provisions



MidCoast Council administration building - Biripi Way

B. Taree South – B6 Enterprise Corridor – Manning River Drive

Description	A B6 Enterprise Corridor zone along Manning River Drive at the southern entry to Taree				
Current uses	Landscape/rural supplies, aged care, motels, auto sales yards manufacturing, caravan park				
Built form	Predominately 1 storey development				
Land area	17.95ha				
Major retail floor area	NA				
Hierarchy context	Located 4 minutes to Taree B3 area				

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B6	Retain B6 majority, Rezone Caravan Park to RE2 to match existing long-term use
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Exclude Caravan Park (18,400m²), Retain remaining B6
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain
Floor space ratio	1:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Retain

-



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B 5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Commercial premises - Manning River Drive



C. Taree South – IN1 General Industrial –The Bucketts Way East

Description	IN1 General Industrial area in Taree South in 3 sections				
Current uses	Soft drink manufacturers, concrete/asphalt plant, concrete mouldings, document services, distribution depot, vacant land				
Built form	Large industrial buildings				
Land area	28.86ha				
Notable industrial uses	Saxby's Soft Drinks – GFA 2,400m² Holcim (Batching Plant) – 13.16ha				
Context	Large vacant industrial lot planned and rezoned in association with Biripi Way Existing established Saxby's Soft Drink factory				
	"Bucketts Way Industrial Park". Industrial subdivision with a number of existing established uses. Road reserve not yet named				
	All sections adequately buffered from village of Purfleet by way of RE2/ E2 Zone corridors or The Bucketts Way Road reserve				
	Good access to The Bucketts Way South through to pacific Highway				

Land use	Existing	Recommendations		
Land use zone IN1		Retain		
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain		
Development standards Existing		Recommendations		
Height of buildings Nil		Retain (as per justification in report)		
Floor space ratio Nil		Retain (as per justification in report)		
Minimum lot size	Nil	Retain (as per justification in report)		



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones

Saxby's Soft Drinks The Bucketts Way South, Taree South

General Industrial uses The Bucketts Way South



Tinonee

Tinonee consists of 1 business zoned area as shown on the following plan and described below.

#	Zone	Location	Area (ha)
Α	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Beecher Street	0.59
	Subtotal Business Zones		0.59
	Subtotal Industrial Zones		-
	Total Employment Zones		0.59



A. Tinonee – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Beecher Street

Description	A B1 Neighbourhood Centre zone in Tinonee on Beecher Street (section of the Buckets Way)				
Current uses	General store, service station, restaurant, business, dwellings and vacant lots				
Built form	1 storey development				
Land area	0.59ha				
Major retail floor area	General store is approximately 110m ²				
Hierarchy context	Services some day-to-day shopping needs of Tinonee residents and visitors Located 15 minutes to Taree B3 area				

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B1	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Align more accurately with existing lot boundaries where possible Reduce area to exclude the business zoning over two residential lots (as per adjoining plan) – this would be a reduction of approximately 1,600m ²
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain (to reflect very low-density character of Tinonee)
Floor space ratio	0.85:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Active street frontages along Beecher Street as per adjoining map to encourage consistent centre development at Tinonee



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	88	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Existing shops - Tinonee



Wingham

Wingham consists of 3 business zoned areas and 3 industrial areas as shown on the following plan and described below. Additionally, 2 rural zoned areas considered appropriate for industrial zoning have be investigated.

#	Zone	Location	Area (ha)
Α	B2 Local Centre	Isabella Street	10.12
В	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Union Street	0.16
С	B6 Enterprise Corridor	Murray Road	0.68
D	IN2 Light Industrial	Industrial Close	8.41
Е	IN2 Light Industrial	Dennes Street	2.51
F	IN2 Light Industrial	Viscount Road	5.15
G	RU1 Primary Production	Wingham Beef Complex, Gloucester Road	NA
Н	RU1 Primary Production	Flett Street and Primrose St	NA
	Subtotal Business Zones		10.96
	Subtotal Industrial Zones		16.05
	Total Employment Zones		27.01



A. Wingham – B2 Local Centre – Isabella Street

Description	A B2 Local Centre which encompasses the historic town centre of Wingham centred around Isabella Street and Central Park – the town centre is anchored at the western end by a Coles supermarket and shopping mall				
Current uses	Supermarket, shops, café/restaurants, businesses, hotel/motel and shop-top units, with some light industry type uses in south west corner of the B2 zone				
Built form	Predominately 1-2 storey development				
Land area	10.12ha				
Major retail floor area	Coles supermarket approximately 1,400m ²				
Hierarchy context	Services the weekly shopping needs of Wingham residents and visitors Located 13 minutes to Taree B3 area				

Land use	Existing	Recommendation		
Land use zone	B2	Retain predominately as B2		
		Change areas marked on adjoining plan to B4 as they include a range on predominately non- retail uses that support the town centre, however do not need a primary business zone classification and active street frontages		
		Overall, the aim is to consolidate the town centre around Isabella Street and Bent Street		
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain		
Standards	Existing	Recommendation		
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain as 8.5m given heritage and character within the zone		
Floor space ratio	0.85:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)		
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain		
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation		
Active street frontage	NA	Active street frontages as per adjoining map to reflect and reinforce the predominate active street environment		
Heritage	Applies	No change		

-



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
BZ	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential	-	Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Commercial premises - Bent Street

Commercial premises - Isabella Street





B. Wingham – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Union Street

Description	A vacant B1 Neighbourhood Centre zone on the south-western edge of the Wingham township			
Current uses	Not yet developed			
Built form	Not yet developed			
Land area	0.16ha			
Major retail floor area	NA			
Hierarchy context	Located 3 minutes to Wingham B2 area and 16 minutes to Taree B3 area			

Land use	Existing	Recommendation		
Land use zone	B1	Change to appropriate residential zone as there is limited rationale for a B1 in this location now or in the future - it is not at the centre of a residential catchment, there is no land to the west identified for future urban development at this stage, and it does not have exposure to a primary road		
Zone boundary	Refer plan	No change		
Standards	Existing	Recommendation		
Height of buildings	8.5m	To be determined by housing strategy		
Floor space ratio	0.85:1	To be determined by housing strategy		
Minimum lot size	NA	To be determined by housing strategy		
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation		

-



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
85	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage
C. Wingham – B6 Enterprise Corridor – Murray Road

Description	B6 Enterprise Corridor along Murray Road to west of town centre and North Coast Railway line				
Current uses	Building/storage, service station, tree loppers business				
Built form	Predominately 1 storey development				
Land area	0.68ha				
Major retail floor area	NA				
Hierarchy context	Located 3 minutes to Wingham B2 area and 16 minutes to Taree B3 area				

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B6	Change to IN2 Light Industrial to reflect existing uses (building/storage, service station, tree loppers business) – also noting that the B6 Enterprise Corridor zoning is inappropriate for this scale of road
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	10m, consistent with IN2 Light Industrial Zone
Floor space ratio	1:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Retain



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
BZ	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B 5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Commercial premises - Murray Road



D. Wingham – IN2 Light Industrial – Industrial Close

Description	Light industrial area off Comboyne Road to north of Wingham			
Current uses	Relatively new light industrial area with a range of industrial uses and medium level vacancy. Small scale engineering and welding, rural supplies, warehousing, mini storage sheds, light fabrication, bus depot, hydraulic equipment, farm machinery.			
Built form	Various scales of industrial buildings			
Land area	8.41ha			
Major industrial uses	Southcott Hydraulics – approx. 7,000m ² GFA			
Context	Surrounding residential uses occur in RU1 Primary Production Zone and the estate has been granted separation from nearby residences by way of extending the road reserve width of Comboyne Road and a vegetated buffer to the north of a Council owned parcel. The estate is flanked to the west by the Wingham Sporting complex. Good access to Comboyne Road			

Land use	Existing	Recommendations			
Land use zone	IN2	Conversion of IN2 Light Industrial to IN1 General Industrial			
		Adequate separation distances between industrial areas and residential uses exist. Land is used for a range of general industries such as large manufacturing and bus depot			
Zone boundary	Refer plan	No change			
Development standards	Existing	Recommendations			
Height of buildings	Nil	Retain (as per justification in report)			
Floor space ratio	Nil	Retain (as per justification in report)			
Minimum lot size	Nil	Retain (as per justification in report)			

Proposed



Map legend

B 1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
BZ	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
85	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential	-	Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

General Industrial uses in Industrial Close



.

E. Wingham – IN2 Light Industrial – Dennes Street

Description	Light industrial rail corridor land adjacent to railway line on Dennes Street and on northern side of Farquhar Street. Also includes Combined Street
Current uses	Established machinery sales centre on corner of Dennis and Farquhar Street with vacant commercial premises adjacent to east
	IN2 Light Industrial land is wholly within rail corridor of when the lot was used as a station master's residence and/or freight loading yard
	No industrial uses are currently occurring on the site. Site is majority maintained and leased by Council with park and open space improvements
Built form	Large industrial building on corner of Dennes Street and Farquhar Street with low set commercial premises. Land adjacent to Railway predominantly used for public open space. Skate bowl, open space and basketball court.
Land area	2.51ha
Major industrial uses	Sheathers Machinery – approx. 820m ² GFA
Context	This industrial area has good access to Farquhar Street or to Combined Street out of Wingham

Land use	Existing	Recommendations
Land use zone	IN2	 Rezoning of IN2 Light Industrial railway corridor land as follows: R1 General Residential to contain curtilage of heritage listed station master's residence RE1 Public Recreation in parkland area to east of residence Balance area to SP2 Infrastructure where it locates as part of rail corridor alignment Retain balance of Farquhar Street in IN2 Light Industrial Zone
Zone boundary	Refer plan	As per above
Development standards	Existing	Recommendations for IN2 zone
Height of buildings	Nil	IN2: 10m (as per justification in report)
Floor space ratio	Nil	Retain (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	Nil	Retain (as per justification in report)



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
82	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Council skatepark and recreation area Dennes Street

Light industrial uses Farquar Street





F. Wingham – IN2 Light Industrial – Viscount Road

Description	Light industrial estate on southern side of Viscount Road in south-western Wingham			
Current uses	Transport depots and distribution services, workshop			
Built form	Large industrial buildings with open space storage areas with parking of large vehicles			
Land area	5.15ha			
Major industrial uses	Transport Depot (Bakers Haulage) – approx. 3.1ha land area			
Context	Established isolated transport and haulage depots with small workshop in predominant rural context. Acceptable separation distances from residential areas to major industrial operations. east and south			
	This industrial area has good access to Bungay Road to Gloucester Road out of Wingham			

Land use	Existing	Recommendations		
Land use zone	IN2	Conversion of western portion of lot containing freight transport depot from IN2 Light Industrial to IN1 General Industrial		
		Adequate separation distances from industrial areas and residential uses exist to major transport depot		
Zone boundary	Refer plan	As per above		
Development standards	Existing	Recommendations		
Height of buildings	Nil	10m (as per justification in report)		
Floor space ratio	Nil	Retain (as per justification in report)		
Minimum lot size	Nil	Retain (as per justification in report)		

Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
BZ	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B 5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Existing transport depot Viscount Road

General industrail uses Viscount Road





G. Wingham Beef Complex – Gloucester Road, Wingham

Description	Existing RU1 Primary Production holding on northern side of Gloucester Road, Wingham currently used for the Wingham Beef commercial abattoir and associated and ancillary activities. Associated service station and industrial uses in a residential zone adjacent to Wingham beef to the east.					
Current uses	Various industrial facilities Abattoir, holding pens, loading facilities, employee carparking, administration offices, transport and logistics, processing and packaging, refrigerated storage, yards, waste facilities, workers dwellings, service station, industrial sheds					
Built form	Large industria	I buildings with open space storage areas				
Land area	Approx. 18.6ha					
Major industrial uses	Abattoir					
Context	This industrial Wingham	area has good access to Gloucester Road out of				
Land use	Existing	Recommendations				
Land use zone	RU1	Refer to detailed justification below				
Zone boundary	Refer plan	As per justification noted below				
Development standards	Existing	Recommendations				
Height of buildings	NilIN1: Retain (as per justification in report)IN2: 10m (as per justification in report)					
Floor space ratio	Nil	Retain (as per justification in report)				
Minimum lot size	40ha	Amend to Nil for IN Zones (as per justification in report)				

Detailed justification:

- 1. Conversion of the RU1 Primary Production Zone to IN1 General Industrial:
 - Over the majority of existing buildings and factory/abattoir operations primarily on the opposite side of Gloucester Road from the Wingham Showground
 - Where there are adequate separation distances from industrial areas and residential uses
 - To allow industrial retail outlets to occur with consent on the site
- 2. Conversion of the RU1 Primary Production Zone to IN2 Light Industrial:
 - Over parts of the Wingham beef holdings used for ancillary and associated activities such as holding pens, yards and employee car parking where such activities are in close proximity to residential zones without adequate separation distances.
- 3. Retain the RU1 Primary Production Zone over the balance of the western section of the holding including the employee car parking area and all land in the holding west of the employee car parking area.

4. Conversion of the Residential Zone at 1235 Gloucester Road containing the service station and ancillary industrial sheds to the IN2 Light Industrial Zone

Existing



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundar
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Wingham Beef Gloucester Road

Service station and industrial sheds Gloucester Road





•

.

H. Flett Street and Primrose Street, Wingham

Description	Existing RU1 Primary Production area on northern side of railway on the southern side of Flett Street				
Current uses	Rural supplies store, truss fabrication, industrial storage				
Built form	Large industrial buildings with open space storage areas, commercial buildings with unloading and loading areas				
Land area	Approx. 1.8ha				
Major industrial uses	Truss fabrication (Wingham frames and trusses) – 4,500m ² GFA plus open storage areas				
Context	Established truss fabrication premises and rural supplies store currently in a rural zone due to flooding constraints that does not preclude industrial zoning				
	Reasonable separation distance to nearby residences by way of a riparian vegetated buffer to the west but however residences are in close proximity also in the rural zone on the opposite side of Flett Street. Predominant heavier manufacturing occurring centrally to the large site. Reasonable access to Wingham Road via Combined Street.				

Land use	Existing	Recommendations
Land use zone	RU1	 Conversion of the RU1 Primary Production Zone to: IN1 General Industrial covering existing general industrial operation (Truss Manufacturing) over the site IN2 Light Industrial covering any of the remaining industrial operations where there is a direct frontage to Flett Street
Zone boundary	Refer plan	As per above Recommendations.
Development standards	Existing	Recommendations
Height of buildings	Nil	IN1: Retain (as per justification in report) IN2: 10m (as per justification in report)
Floor space ratio	Nil	Retain (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	40ha	Amend to nil (as per justification in report)

Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B 5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Truss manufacturing and rural supplies Flett Street

Industrial operations Primrose Street





Brimbin

Brimbin consists of 1 business zoned area and 1 industrial zoned area as shown on the following plan and described below.

Note that Brimbin includes a significant master planned area of residential land that could accommodate up to 8,000 lots in the future.

#	Zone	Location	Area (ha)
Α	B4 Mixed Use	Lansdowne Road	115.07
В	IN1 General Industrial	Lansdowne Road	116.47
	Subtotal Business Zones		115.07
	Subtotal Industrial Zones		116.47
	Total Employment Zones		231.54



A. Brimbin – B4 Mixed Use – Lansdowne Road

Description	A B4 Mixed Use zone at the centre of the Brimbin master planned area north of Taree.
Current uses	Vacant
Built form	NA
Land area	115.07ha
Major retail floor area	NA
Hierarchy context	Located 16 minutes to Taree B3 area

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B4	Retain – this may change in the future as detailed master planning takes place for Brimbin
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain – as above
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	14.5m	Increase to 18m
Floor space ratio	2:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Retain as active street frontages do not apply to B4 areas However, future master planning of a Brimbin town centre should take into account community aspirations for active and vibrant centres as detailed in Part A of this report



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones

B. Brimbin – IN1 General Industrial – Lansdowne Road

Description	IN1 General Industrial area in eastern part of Brimbin Masterplan Community. Northern and southern section on Lansdowne Road.
Current uses	Northern section - Dwelling and farmland with associated agricultural infrastructure and buildings Southern section – former UGL Rail Taree rail carriage building and maintenance factory (ceased operation in 2013)
Built form	Northern section - Single storey dwelling, rural landscape, dams Southern section – Large and high industrial buildings, open storage yards and associated infrastructure
Land area	116.47ha
Notable industrial uses	22ha building and improvements over former railway maintenance facility.
Context	Intended to serve employment and service industry needs for future Brimbin master planned community. Lansdowne Road buffers industrial land from residential zoned land to west. IN1 land has good access to Lansdowne Road and rail corridor.

Land use Existing		Recommendations
Land use zone	IN1	Retain
Zone boundary Refer pl		Retain
Development standards	Existing	Recommendations
Height of buildings Nil		Retain (as per justification in report)
Floor space ratio	Nil	Retain (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	Nil	Retain (as per justification in report)



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones

This page is intentionally left blank

Forster

Forster consists of 7 business zoned areas and 3 industrial zoned areas as shown on the following plan and described below.

#	Zone	Location	Area (ha)
Α	B2 Local Centre	Stocklands Shopping Centre	15.87
В	B2 Local Centre	Wharf Street	6.98
С	B4 Mixed Use	Wharf Street	5.57
D	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Forster Keys	0.22
Е	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Fairways	0.11
F	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Southern Parkway	0.30
G	B5 Business Development	The Lakes Way	3.34
Н	IN1 General Industrial	Sweet Pea Road	18.67
I	IN2 Light Industrial	Kularoo Drive	26.75
J	IN4 Working Waterfront	Memorial Drive and Little Street	5.94
	Subtotal Business Zones		33.39
	Subtotal Industrial Zones		51.36
	Total Employment Zones		83.75





A. Forster – B2 Local Centre – Stocklands Shopping Centre

Description	A B2 Local Centre which includes a major shopping centre for Forster situated on The Lakes Way		
Current uses	Major supermarkets, shops, bulky goods/specialised retail premises, businesses, offices, community uses		
Built form	1 storey predominately with bulky built form		
Land area	15.87ha		
Major retail floor area	Woolworths for example is approximately 2,000m ² Bunnings for example is approximately 4,500m ²		
Hierarchy context	Services weekly shopping needs of local residents and visitors Primary retail centre for Forster and villages south along The Lakes Way		

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B2	Retain
Zone boundary Refer plan		Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	13m	Increase to 15m This increase in height will allow for the potential of increased residential density over centre uses, promoting a more active centre
Floor space ratio	NA	Retain
Minimum lot size 1,000m ²		Remove minimum lot size (as per justification in report)
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	To be captured as part of <i>unstructured centres local provision</i> as per below
Unstructured centres	NA	Include in this local provision which requires structure plans with future development (refer report)



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones



Stocklands Shopping Centre – Breese Parade



B. Forster – B2 Local Centre – Wharf Street Precinct

Description	Historic B2 Local Centre for Forster, centred along Wharf Street and Wallis Street				
Current uses	Shops, restaurants, cafes, businesses, offices, shop-top units, medical, car parking				
Built form	Predominately 2 storeys but some higher developments also				
Land area	6.98ha				
Major retail floor area	NA				
Hierarchy context	Provides a tourist and recreation function for residents and visitors				
	Located 8 minutes to Forster B2 Stocklands mall				

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B2	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	Varies 13 to 30m	Increase in heights to 15m on lots with existing 13m HOB with dual frontages to both Memorial Drive and Wharf Street. Retain all other remaining heights
Floor space ratio	NA	Retain
Minimum lot size	1,000m ²	Remove minimum lot size (as per justification in report)
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	Refer plan	Retain



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
BZ	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
85	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundar
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones

Wharf Street business uses



Wallis Street mixed use



C. Forster – B4 Local Centre – Wharf Street Precinct

Description	A B4 Mixed Use precinct adjoining the historic main streets						
Current uses		Units, businesses and the new Civic Precinct development which consists of seniors living, supermarket, community uses, cinema					
Built form		Existing 2-5 storey built form, however Civic Precinct will change this significantly reaching up to 11 storeys					
Land area	5.57ha						
Major retail floor area	New supermarket in the Civic Precinct will have a floor area of approximately 1,200m ²						
Hierarchy context	Services weekly shopping needs of neighbourhood residents/visitors Located 7 minutes to Forster B2 Stocklands mall						
Land use	Existing Recommendation						
Land use zone	B4	Refer to adjoining plan and detailed justification below					
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Refer above					
Standards	Existing	Recommendation					
Height of buildings	18 to 30m	Increase in heights to 15m on lots with existing 13m HOB on Little Street. Retain all other remaining heights					
Floor space ratio	2:1 to 3:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)					
Minimum lot size	1,000m ²	Remove minimum lot size (as per report)					
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation					
Active street frontage	NA	Include active street frontage to lots proposed to change to B2 as per the adjoining plan					

Detailed justification for proposed land use changes

The Civic Precinct development (noted on plans) has effectively extended this historical centre towards the south (along West Street and the lake). It is recommended that the zoning reflects this by changing from B4 to B2 as per the adjoining plan.

The B4 zoning along Little Street is recommended to change to R3 Medium Density Residential to reflect the existing uses, context and desired future residential and not business outcome.

The B4 zoning with frontage on Middle Street is currently NSW Department of Education offices. Given the residential nature of Middle Street it is proposed to change this lot to R3 Medium Density Residential.

The remaining lots to be retained as B4 to reflect future potential for centre growth.



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

D. Forster – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Forster Keys

Description	A B1 Neighbourhood Centre near the intersection of The Lakes Way and Cape Hawk Drive, at the entry to the Forster Keys community and with proximity to the Forster High School		
Current uses	Small supermarket, stops, business and shop-top units		
Built form	2 storeys with car park to front		
Land area	0.22ha		
Major retail floor area	Minimart approximately 80m ²		
Hierarchy context	Services day-to-day shopping needs of neighbourhood residents and visitors Located 4 minutes to Forster B2 Stocklands mall		

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B1	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	12m	Retain
Floor space ratio	1:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	700m ²	Remove minimum lot size (as per justification in report)
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Include active street frontages as per adjoining map to promote a high amenity neighbourhood centre overlooking greenspace and not dominated by car parking



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Forster Keys Shopping Centre



Adjoining green space



E. Forster – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Fairways

Description	A B1 Neighbourhood Centre on Boundary Street adjacent to Forster Golf Course			
Current uses	Real estate, restaurant/takeaway, hairdresser, pharmacy and shop-top units			
Built form 2 storeys built to street front with awning				
Land area	0.11ha			
Major retail floor area	NA			
Hierarchy context	Planned to service some day-to-day shopping needs of neighbourhood residents and visitors Located 7 minutes to Forster B2 Stocklands mall			

Land use	Existing	Recommendation				
Land use zone	B1	Retain				
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain				
Standards	Existing	Recommendation				
Height of buildings	12m	Retain				
Floor space ratio	NA	Retain				
Minimum lot size	700m ²	Remove minimum lot size (as per justification in report)				
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation				
Active street frontage	NA	Include active street frontages as per adjoining map to ensure future redevelopment continues to address the street and adjoining green space				



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B 4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Fairways shopping centre



F. Forster – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Southern Parkway

Description	A vacant B1 Neighbourhood Centre planned to service the emerging community along the Southern Parkway
Current uses	Vacant
Built form	NA
Land area	0.3ha
Major retail floor area	NA
Hierarchy context	Planned to service some day-to-day shopping needs of neighbourhood residents Located 5 minutes to Forster B2 Stocklands mall

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B1	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Change to 12m to allow for increased residential density over centre uses, promoting a more active centre (note that adjoining R3 land is 12m)
Floor space ratio	NA	Retain
Minimum lot size	1,000m ²	Remove minimum lot size (as per justification in report)
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Include active street frontages as per adjoining map



Proposed



Map legend

B 1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
BZ	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B 5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundar
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

G. Forster – B5 Business Development – The Lakes Way

Description	Predominantly vacant B5 land along the Lakes Way, Forster		
Current uses Vacant except for one business			
Built form	NA		
Land area	3.34ha		
Major retail floor area	NA		
Hierarchy context	Located 2 minutes to Forster B2 Stocklands mall		

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B5	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain
Floor space ratio	1:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	Inimum lot size1,000m²Change to 1,500m² (as per just report)	
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	NA


Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
BZ	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
85	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones



Boat sales premises – The Lakes Way

H. Forster – IN1 General Industrial – The Lakes Way/Sweet Pea Rd

Description	IN1 General In western section	dustrial area in South Forster. Eastern and n		
Current uses	Current quarrying operation in eastern section. Animal hospital in western section			
Built form	Associated qua	arrying infrastructure with one storey buildings al hospital		
Land area	18.67ha			
Notable industrial uses	Concrete Crus	hing – approx. land area 15ha		
Context	Only IN1 General Industrial Zone in the former Great Lakes area. Intended to serve higher order functions following depletion of quarrying resource and subsequent rehabilitation. Substantial E2 buffers to residential zoned land. Sewerage treatment plant to south. Good access from the Lakes Way			
Land use	Existing	Recommendations		
Land use zone	IN1	Predominately retain IN1 zone Change to IN2 Light Industrial in the western section containing the existing animal hospital, due to Residential Zones in close proximity to west on the opposite side of the Lakes Way		
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain		
Development standards	Existing	Recommendations		
Height of buildings	10m	IN1: Amend to nil (as per justification in report) IN2: 10m (as per justification in report)		
Floor space ratio	1:1	IN1 and IN2: Amend to nil (as per report)		
Minimum lot size	1,000m ²	IN1 and IN2: Amend to nil (as per report)		
Other Recommendations				
Other Recommendations				

Council to investigate incentive for the provision of development of the IN1 area in this location to provide for general industries in the Forster area.



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	88	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
82	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B 7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Existing veterinary hospital – The Lakes Way



Existing quarry operations – Sweet Pea Road



.

I. Forster – IN2 Light Industrial – Kularoo Drive/Breese Parade

Description	Light industrial estate in Kularoo Drive and Breese Parade
Current uses	Established primary industrial estate in Forster servicing the Forster- Tuncurry area. Major commercial intrusion on the northern side of Breese Parade and Enterprise Court.
	Populated by a number of general industrial uses primarily providing essential services such as a bus depot, concrete batching plant, truss manufacture and large-scale manufacturing
Built form	Industrial/commercial buildings with open space storage areas. Northern side of Kularoo Drive between Water Street and Likely Street is vacant
Land area	26.75ha
Major industrial uses	McNamara's Timber yard – approx. 1.14ha land area Readymix Concrete – approx. 6,344m²
Context	Good access to The Lakes Way but however historical issues with heavy industry access

Land use	Existing	Recommendations
Land use zone	IN2	Conversion of IN2 Light Industrial land to IN1 General Industrial on the southern side of Kularoo Drive where:
		 Uses are predominantly made up of general industrial uses Such uses are not directly adjacent to residential zones
		Conversion of IN2 Light Industrial Land to B5 Business Development on the northern side of Breese parade and the whole of Enterprise Court where uses are predominantly made up of specialised retail uses and/or where significant commercial intrusion has occurred
		Conversion of the IN2 Light Industrial land to RE1 Public Recreation over existing drainage reserves
Zone boundary	Refer plan	As per above
Development standards	Existing	Recommendations for IN1 and IN2
Height of buildings	10m	IN1: Amend to nil (as per justification in report) IN2: Retain (as per justification in report)
Floor space ratio	1:1	IN1/IN2: Amend to nil (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	1,000m ²	IN1/IN2: Amend to nil (as per justification in report)
Other Recommendations		

Further broad consideration for future Employment Land Strategy to determine extent and need of the IN1 General Industrial Zone in the coastal areas.



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
82	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B 4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Light industrial uses Kularoo Drive

Bulky goods intrusion into industrial area Breese Parade



J. Forster – IN4 Working Waterfront – Mark Street/Little Street

Description	IN4 Working Waterfront zoned parcels area in Forster on foreshore of Wallis Lake		
Current uses	Oyster farming operation, charter boating facilities, tourist boating, cafes, bait and tackle shops		
Built form	One storey industrial sheds and associated infrastructure, open storage yards, boat ramps, moorings, jetties		
Land area	5.94ha		
Notable industrial uses	Graham Barclay Oysters - approx. 2,000m² GFA (3,500m² open storage area)		
Context	Buffered from established residential zoned areas to east by either RE1 Public Recreation Zone corridor or Wharf and Little Streets		

Land use	Existing	Recommendations
Land use zone	IN4	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Development standards	Existing	Recommendations
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain (as per justification in report)
Floor space ratio	1:1	Amend to nil (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	1,000m ²	Amend to nil (as per justification in report)



Map legend

B 1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
85	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential	1 <u>-</u>	Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones



Boat hire, café, chater boat facilties and marina, Little Street

Existing café Little Street

Tuncurry

Tuncurry consists of 3 business zoned areas and 2 industrial zoned areas as shown on the following plan and described below.

#	Zone	Location	Area (ha)
Α	B2 Local Centre	Manning Street, Tuncurry	8.74
В	B4 Mixed Use	Manning Street, Tuncurry	9.55
С	B4 Mixed Use	Point Road, Tuncurry	0.73
D	IN2 Light Industrial	The Lakes Way, Tuncurry	31.53
E	IN4 Working Waterfront	Point Road, Palm Street and Leo Amato Close, Tuncurry	1.56
	Subtotal Business Zones		19.02
	Subtotal Industrial Zones		33.09
	Total Employment Zones		52.11



A. Tuncurry – B2 Local Centre – Manning Street

Description	A significant B2 Local Centre around Manning Street, Tuncurry	
Current uses	Supermarket, shops, restaurants, cafes, businesses, offices, shop-top units, medical, car parking	
Built form	Predominately 1 to 2 storeys	
Land area	8.74ha	
Major retail floor area	Woolworths approximately 2,300m ²	
Hierarchy context	This is the primary retail centre for Tuncurry, servicing weekly shopping needs of neighbourhood residents and visitors	

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B2	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain as is except change area noted on adjoining plan to B4 so as to limit office and major retail leakage away from core main street area This area currently contains dwellings, government services and small retail/businesses
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	Varies 20 to 30m	Increase in heights to 21m on lots with existing 20m HOB on Peel Street and Lake Street. Retain all other remaining heights
Floor space ratio	NA	Retain
Minimum lot size	1,000m ²	Remove minimum lot size (as per justification in report)
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	Refer plan	Retain If area rezoned to B4 – this should not have an active street frontage requirement

Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
82	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Manning Street commercial uses



B. Tuncurry – B4 Mixed Use – Manning Street

Description	B4 Mixed Use zone surrounding the main centre of Tuncurry
Current uses	Predominately residential with some medical premises also
Built form	2 to 4 storey developments
Land area	9.55ha
Major retail floor area	NA
Hierarchy context	Located adjoining the Tuncurry B2 area

Land use	Existing	Recommendation			
Land use zone	B4	Retain as is (noting changes below).			
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Change areas noted on adjoining plan to appropriate medium density residential zone that allows cafes, restaurants and medical facilitates. This reflects existing uses in these areas and also ensures the core centre area along Manning Street is not detracted from. Change a small area of B4 on Peel Street to B2 Local Centre to be consistent with surrounding zone. This block is currently a residential use.			
Standards Existing		Recommendation			
Height of buildings	Varies 12 to 20m	Increase in heights to 21m on lots with existing 20m HOB on Wharf Street, Rockpool Road and Peel Street. Retain all other remaining heights			
Floor space ratio	1:1 to 2:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)			
Minimum lot size	1,000m ²	Remove minimum lot size (as per justification in report)			
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation			
Active street frontage	NA	Retain			

Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B 5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential	-	Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Mixed uses - Peel Street

Mixed uses - Wharf Street



C. Tuncurry – B4 Mixed Use – Point Road

DescriptionA B4 Mixed Use zone on the waterfront in Tuncurry			
Current uses	All units with one lot used as government offices and a small community centre on the ground floor of one of the unit developments		
Built form	2 storeys		
Land area	0.73ha		
Major retail floor area	NA		
Hierarchy context	Located 2 minutes to the Tuncurry B2 centre		

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B4	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	12m	Retain
Floor space ratio	1:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	1,000m ²	Remove minimum lot size (as per justification in report)
Heritage	Heritage conservation area but no heritage items	Noted
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Retain

-



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones

Palm Street - residential development and DPI office (white 1 storey building)





D. Tuncurry – IN2 Light Industrial – The Lakes Way

Description	Light industrial estate on western side of The Lakes Way. Also includes Grey Gum Road, Douglas Avenue, Rodmay Street, Leo Street, Norfolk Close and Dee Crescent
Current uses	Established primary industrial estate in Tuncurry servicing the Forster-Tuncurry area. Minor commercial intrusion on the Lakes Way service road frontage by businesses relying on roadside exposure including a bicycle sales centre and liquidation and auction centre
Built form	Industrial buildings with open space storage areas with parking of large vehicles
Land area	31.53ha
Major industrial uses	MidCoast Council Tuncurry Depot – approx. 1.8ha land area Ditchfield Contracting Depot- approx. land area 7,138m ²
Context	Directly adjacent to R2 Low Density Residential Zones to north Good access to The Lakes Way but however historical issues with heavy industry access

Land use	Existing	Recommendations
Land use zone	IN2	Retain IN2 Light Industrial zone as predominantly used for light industrial purposes
		Extend of IN2 zone to the south to include land with additional permitted use provisions (in Schedule 1 of Great lakes LEP 2014) for vehicle repair station and vehicle sales. This is currently used for 4x4 vehicle parts and sales premises at 156-158 Manning Street. Vehicle sales premises will be permitted with consent in the IN2 Zone
Zone boundary	Refer plan	As per above
Development standards	Existing	Recommendations
Height of buildings	10m	Retain (as per justification in report)
Floor space ratio	1:1	Amend to nil (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	1,000m ²	Amend to nil (as per justification in report)



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential	12	Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Mixed industrial/buisness uses The Lakes Way

Additional Permitted Use 4x4 sales and parts centre The Lakes Way





E. Tuncurry – IN4 Working Waterfront – Leo Amato Close/Palm Street/Point Road

Description	IN4 Working Waterfront Zone in 4 sections. Directly opposite residential areas			
Current uses	Fish-cooperative, oyster aquaculture and ancillary facilities, café and restaurant, moorings, jetties, wharfs			
Built form	Low set commercial/industrial waterfront buildings extending into leases in the Crown waterway			
Land area	1.56ha			
Major industrial uses	Peter Barclay Oysters - approx. 900m ² GFA (2,000m ² open storage area)			
Context	Four sections of IN4 Working Waterfront zones fully occupied by a range of uses. All are owned or leased from NSW Department of Fisheries or NSW Department of Primary Industries. Crown leases extend into the waterway			
	Well buffered from established residential by way of recreation zones, road corridor or business zones			

Land use	Existing	Recommendations
Land use zone	IN4	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Development standards	Existing	Recommendations
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain
Floor space ratio	1:1	Amend to nil (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	1,000m ²	Amend to nil (as per justification in report)

-



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones

Wallis Lake Fish Co-operative Leo Amato Close

DPI NSW boat shed Palm Street



Tea Gardens

Tea Gardens consists of 4 business zoned areas and 2 industrial zoned areas as shown on the following plan and described below.

#	Zone	Location	Area (ha)
Α	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Marine Drive	3.99
В	B2 Local Centre	Myall Quays Boulevard	7.34
С	B4 Mixed Use	Northerly Drive	2.89
D	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Viney Creek Road, Tea Gardens	0.26
Е	IN2 Light Industrial	Tea Gardens Road	14.68
F	IN4 Working Waterfront	Marine Drive	0.71
	Subtotal Business Zones		14.48
	Subtotal Industrial Zones		15.39
	Total Employment Zones		29.87



A. Tea Gardens – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Marine Drive

Description	A B1 Neighbourhood Centre which captures the historic retail street for Tea Gardens				
	Premises along Marine Drive have very high amenity overlooking the Myall River and foreshore linear park				
Current uses	Shops, businesses, restaurants, cafes, hotel, church, shop-top units and residential (some vacant blocks)				
Built form	Predominately 1-2 storey development				
Land area	3.99ha				
Major retail floor area	NA				
Hierarchy context	Planned to service some day-to-day shopping and recreation needs of visitors and residents				
	Located 3 minutes to Tea Gardens B2 area (Myall Quays Bvd)				

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B1	Change to B2 Local Centre to reflect the size of this centre and strategic importance of Tea Gardens.
		Change existing church and adjoining residences (refer plan notation 'A') to appropriate residential zone. Future retail or similar uses should not be encouraged away from Myall St or Marine Dr as this will diminish the vibrancy of the centre. Proposed reduction of 4,770.8m ² (not including roads).
		Logical expansion of business zone to include all vacant lots at 91-95 Marine Drive (refer plan notation 'B'). Proposed addition of 1,400m ² .
Zone boundary	Refer plan	As above
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	12m	Retain
Floor space ratio	NA	Retain
Minimum lot size	700m ²	Remove minimum lot size (as per report)
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	Refer plan	Retain (applied to business zone areas only) and remove from Ogden Street

Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B 5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential	12	Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Mixed Uses - Marine Drive





B. Tea Gardens – B2 Local Centre – Myall Quays Boulevard

Description	A B2 Local Centre at the entry to Tea Gardens-Hawks Nest			
Current uses	Supermarket, shops, medical, service station, car parking and vacant land			
Built form	1 storey development			
Land area	7.34ha			
Major retail floor area	Coles supermarket approximately 1,800m ²			
Hierarchy context	Planned to service weekly shopping needs of neighbourhood residents and visitors			

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B2	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	13m	Increase to 15m to reflect importance of the centre and to encourage greater mixed use in the future
Floor space ratio	NA	Retain
Minimum lot size	1,000m ²	Remove minimum lot size (as per justification in report)
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	To be captured as part of <i>unstructured centres local provision</i> as per below
Unstructured centres	NA	Include in this local provision which requires structure plans with future development (refer report)

-



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones

However, note comment in following B4 Mixed Use precinct relating to a part 3A modification in this area.

Myall Quays shopping centre



C. Tea Gardens – B4 Mixed Use – Northerly Drive

Description	A B4 Mixed Use zone on Northerly Drive adjoining a large B2 Local Centre
Current uses	Vacant
Built form	NA
Land area	2.89ha
Major retail floor area	NA
Hierarchy context	Located 1 minute to Tea Gardens B2 area on Myall Quays Boulevard

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B4	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	12m	Retain
Floor space ratio	1:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	1,000m ²	Remove minimum lot size (as per justification in report)
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Retain



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
BZ	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B 5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones

Note: that there is a concept plan (below) for this area that has been supported by the previous Great Lakes Council and the NSW Department of Planning and Environment (via a part 3A modification of Riverside approval). The consolidated MidCoast LEP could update the zoning in this area to reflect this approved concept plan.

Existing Commercial Area Zonings

Proposed Commercial Area Zonings



D. Tea Gardens – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Viney Creek Road

Description	A vacant planned B1 Neighbourhood Centre
Current uses	Vacant
Built form	NA
Land area	0.26ha
Major retail floor area	NA
Hierarchy context	Planned to service some day-to-day shopping needs of neighbourhood residents
	Located 8 minutes to Tea Gardens B2 area on Myall Quays Boulevard

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B1	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	12m	Retain
Floor space ratio	NA	Retain
Minimum lot size	700m ²	Remove minimum lot size (as per justification in report)
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Add as per adjoining plan (as per justification in report)



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP3	Tourist
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential	-	Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

E. Tea Gardens – IN2 Light Industrial – Tea Gardens Road

Description	IN2 Light Industrial area, only industrial area in Tea Gardens/Hawks Nest			
Current uses	Mini storage sheds, building companies, garden and landscaping supplies, small scale engineering, distributions centres, boat repairs, smash repairs, waste transfer station			
Built form	1 – 2 story industrial premises			
Land area	14.68ha			
Notable industrial usesMidCoast Council Tea Gardens waste transfer stationLand area – 10.56 hectares				
Context	Light industrial area servicing the coastal Tea Gardens and Hawks Nest communities. Nearby undeveloped residential areas to east buffered by E3 zone corridor. Possibility of residential expansion to south. Access to Tea Gardens Road not suitable for general industries.			

Land use	Existing	Recommendations
Land use zone	IN2	Generally, retain in IN2 Zone Change to SP2 Infrastructure zone over existing Council owned land used for waste transfer purposes
Zone boundary	Refer plan	As above
Development standards	Existing	Recommendations for IN2
Height of buildings	10m	IN2: Retain (as per justification in report)
Height of buildings	10m	IN2: Retain (as per justification in report)

Other Recommendations

Future Employment Land Strategy to investigate possibility of IN1 land in Tea Gardens particularly as it relates to the permissibility of critical general industries in the area that support the construction industry in growth areas such as concrete batching plants and truss manufacturing.

Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Tea Gardens Industrial Estate

Light Industrial uses - Wanya Road



F. Tea Gardens – IN4 Working Waterfront – Marine Drive

Description	IN4 Working Waterfront Zone in 4 sections on the waterfront aside of Marine Drive	
Current uses	Seafood, café, restaurant and takeaway, fish co-op NSW Fisheries office, boat hire, moorings, jetties, wharfs	
Built form	Low set commercial waterfront buildings extending into leases in the Crown waterway	
Land area	0.71ha	
Major industrial uses	Fish co-operative and restaurant – approx. 720m ² GFA (excluding moorings)	
Context	4 portions of IN4 Working Waterfront Zones fully occupied by a range of uses. All are either owned or leased form NSW Department of Fisheries or NSW Department of Primary Industries. Crown leases extend into the waterway	
	Buffers from established residential zoned areas vary	
	Some sections are separated by way of a RE1 Public Recreation zone corridor whilst some directly adjoin the residential zone	
	The Tea Gardens ferry to Nelson Bay departs from this location	

Land use	Existing	Recommendations
Land use zone	IN4	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Development standards	Existing	Recommendations
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain
Floor space ratio	1:1	Amend to nil (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	1,000m ²	Amend to nil (as per justification in report)



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones

NSW Department of Fisheries Office Marine Drive

Existing seafood retail premises Marine Drive



Hawks Nest

Hawks Nest consists of 2 business zoned areas as shown on the following plan and described below.

#	Zone	Location	Area (ha)
Α	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Tuloa Avenue, Hawks Nest	1.00
В	B4 Mixed Use	Booner Street, Hawks Nest	4.25
	Subtotal Business Zones		5.25
	Subtotal Industrial Zones		-
	Total Employment Zones		5.25



A. Hawks Nest – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Tuloa Avenue

Description	Historical centre of Hawks Nest zoned B1 Neighbourhood Centre	
Current uses	Supermarket, shops, businesses, post office, restaurants, medical and car parking – very little vacancy	
Built form	1 to 2 storey development	
Land area	1ha	
Major retail floor area	IGA Express approximately 390m ²	
Hierarchy context	Planned to service some day-to-day and weekly shopping needs of neighbourhood residents and visitors	
	Located 8 minutes to Tea Gardens B2 area on Myall Quays Boulevard	

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B1	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Flag potential expansion of B1 to include lots labelled 'A' (refer adjoining plan) so as to create a two-sided commercial street and to also create a better linkage with the existing park and community facilities. This would be an increase of 1,334m2 business land.
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	12m	Retain
Floor space ratio	NA	Retain
Minimum lot size	700m ²	Remove minimum lot size (as per justification in report)
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	Refer plan	Retain (add to additional B1 areas if expanded – applying to park and Tuloa Avenue)


Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B 8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
83	Commercial Centre	EZ	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential		Potential Expansion Boundary
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Commercial premises - Tuloa Drive







B. Hawks Nest – B4 Mixed Use – Booner Street

Description	A large area of B4 near the Hawks Nest beach entry			
Current uses	Residential accommodation throughout – primarily units with some houses also. One restaurant on the ground floor of one of the unit blocks			
Built form	Predominately 2 to 3 storeys			
Land area	4.25ha			
Major retail floor area	NA			
Hierarchy context	Located 11 minutes to Tea Gardens B2 area on Myall Quays Boulevard			

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	В4	Amend areas noted on adjoining plan (Reference 'A') appropriate residential zone that allows cafes/restaurants. This change better reflects the predominate built form and uses existing, whilst still retaining a significant amount of B4 along Booner Street and Beach Road for more substantial mixed-use development.
Zone boundary	Refer plan	As above
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	12m	Retain
Floor space ratio	1:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	450m ²	Remove minimum lot size (as per justification in report)
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Retain



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Residential/holiday units with mixed uses - Beach Road/Bonner Street



Gloucester

Gloucester consists of 4 business zoned areas, 1 industrial zoned area and an Environmental zoned area considered appropriate for Industrial zoning areas as shown on the following plan and described below.

#	Zone	Location	Area (ha)
Α	B2 Local Centre	Church Street	14.05
В	B4 Mixed Use	Church Street	2.11
С	B4 Mixed Use	Philip Street	2.43
D	B4 Mixed Use	King Street	1.71
Е	IN1 General Industrial	Tate Street	72.44
F	E3 Environmental Management	Gloucester Town Centre western fringe	NA
	Subtotal Business Zones		20.30
	Subtotal Industrial Zones		72.44
	Total Employment Zones		92.74

-



A. Gloucester – B2 Local Centre – Church Street

Description	A B2 Local Centre in Gloucester centred on Church Street and serving local residents and the regional rural catchment			
Current uses	A mix of shops and businesses, community and medical uses Significant amount of residential in eastern portion of the centre			
Built form	Predominately 1 to 2 storeys			
Land area	14.05ha			
Major retail floor area	NA			
Hierarchy context	Services weekly and day-to-day shopping needs of residents and tourists			

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B2	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Significantly reduce the amount of B2 (refer 'A' on adjoining plan) to reflect residential uses in this area and as per previous strategy recommendations
		This is a reduction of approximately 4.9ha of (including roads) of business zoned land to residential
		Full justification provided in the EZR Part A Section 4 Gloucester Town Centre.
		Change existing car wash (refer 'B' on adjoining plan) to IN2 Light Industrial zone as this site has no frontage to Church Street
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	11.5m	Change to 12m to be consistent with the B1 Local Centre in other locations (Hawks Nest, Tea Gardens, Old Bar)
Floor space ratio	1.5:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	500m ²	Remove minimum lot size (as per justification in report)
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	Refer plan	Add active street frontage provision to all remaining B2 lot frontages



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
BZ	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Residential stock in B2 zone along Barrington Street



.

B. Gloucester – B4 Mixed Use – Church Street

Description	A B4 Mixed Use area in Gloucester adjacent to the primary business precinct
Current uses	Supermarket, service station, restaurant, community and residential uses
Built form	Predominately 1 to 2 storeys
Land area	2.11ha
Major retail floor area	Woolworths supermarket
Hierarchy context	Services weekly shopping needs of residents and tourists Located adjacent to the Gloucester B2 Local Centre

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	В4	Change to B2 Local Centre as this area includes a supermarket – note that this is consistent with zoning of supermarkets across MidCoast
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Slightly reduce the extent of the B4 zone to exclude existing residential and community uses (refer 'A' on adjoining plan)
		This would be a reduction of 1,983.5m ² (not including roads) of business zoned land to residential
		Change auto-electrician and mechanical repair workshops on the southern side of Hume Street (refer 'B' on adjoining plan) to IN2 Light Industrial to reflect current land use
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	7.5m	Increase to 8m to be consistent with overall height increase across Gloucester
Floor space ratio	1.5:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	500m ²	Remove minimum lot size (as per justification in report)
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	Refer plan	NA

Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Church Street looking south



C. Gloucester – B4 Mixed Use – Philip Street

Description	A B4 Mixed Use area in Gloucester at the intersection of Philip and Church Street to the south of the primary business centre
Current uses	Service station, garden centre, rural supplies, dentist, shop, community uses and residential
Built form	Predominately 1-2 storeys
Land area	2.43ha
Major retail floor area	NA
Hierarchy context	Located 2 minutes to the Gloucester B2 Local Centre

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B4	Change to B5 Business Development to reflect majority of existing uses
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Slightly reduce the extent of the business zone to exclude residential or compatible uses This would be a reduction of 7,354.3m ² (not including roads) of business zoned land to residential
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	7.5m	Increase to 8m to be consistent with overall height increase across Gloucester
Floor space ratio	1.5:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	500m ²	Remove minimum lot size (as per justification in report)
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	Refer plan	NA



Proposed



Map legend

B 1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
83	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential	12	Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential	1 <u>1</u>	Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

D. Gloucester – B4 Mixed Use – King Street

Description	A B4 Mixed Use area in Gloucester to the east of the primary business centre and bordering the railway line			
Current uses	Council offices, old butter factory, community uses, medical facility, industry and residential			
Built form	Predominately 1-2 storeys			
Land area	1.71ha			
Major retail floor area	NA			
Hierarchy context	Located 2 minutes to the Gloucester B2 Local Centre			

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B4	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Extend B4 zone along Denison Street to capture land proposed as an extension to existing medical facility. This constitutes an increase the B4 zone by 1,909m ²
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	7.5m	Increase to 8m to be consistent with overall height increase across Gloucester
Floor space ratio	1.5:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	500m ²	Remove minimum lot size (as per justification in report)
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	Refer plan	NA

-



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
BZ	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
85	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundar
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

King Street looking east towards butter factory



E. Gloucester – IN1 General Industrial – Tate Street

Description	IN1 General Industrial area in Gloucester. Includes Clement Street, Britten Street, Tate Street, Kendall Street, Lowe Street and Campbell Street and Cemetery Road
Current uses	Industrial area servicing Gloucester and established large scale manufacturers and depots with high employment Separated into 2 distinct areas categorised by the old and new industrial estates
Built form	1 – 2 story industrial premises with associated industrial infrastructure
Land area	72.44ha
Notable industrial uses	Drifta Camp Kitchens - GFA approx. 2,500m ² Woven Image – GFA approx. 2,500m ²
Context	Old industrial estate on eastern side of Clement Street and in in Britten Street directly adjacent to R1 Low Density Residential Zone. New industrial area in Tate Street buffered from surrounding land uses Good access to The Bucketts Way South and Jacks Road with
	possible Tate Street extension

Land use	Existing	Recommendations
Land use zone	IN1	Retain IN1 General Industrial south of Cemetery Road
		Change to IN2 Light Industrial north of Cemetery Road and East of Clement Street in the old Gloucester industrial area, including the MidCoast Council Gloucester depot, Council saleyards and Holcim concrete batching plant, due to adjacent R2 Low Density Residential Zones to the east (Reeves Estate) and north Majority of lots to be rezoned are occupied by uses permissible in the IN2 Zone except the concrete batching plant
Zone boundary	Refer plan	As above
Development standards	Existing	Recommendations
Height of buildings	7.5m	IN1 – Amend to nil (as per report) IN2 – 10m (as per justification in report)
Floor space ratio	No max.	Retain (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	1,000m ²	Amend to nil (as per justification in report)

Proposed





Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Light industrial uses Clement Street

Concrete batching plant Corner Oak Street and Clement Street



F. Gloucester Town Centre (Western Fringe)

Description	Semi-industrial and commercial precinct on the western fringe of the Gloucester town centre. Billabong Creek traverses the site
Current uses	Industrial engineering premises, abandoned tyre repair and machinery workshop, car parking, abandoned fuel depot
Built form	Industrial buildings with open storage areas
Land area	Approx. 7,300m ²
Major industrial uses	Campbell's Engineering
Context	The existing use rights of many premises have lapsed giving uncertainty to the future of the area. Established industrial uses are warrant an industrial rezoning
	Site has good separation distance to nearby residences with the town centre separating the precinct from residential to the east. A buffer is also preferred to maintain amenity to the recreation fields to the west
	Good access to Boundary Street ("The Stock Route") and The Bucketts Way via Denison Street

Land use	Existing	Recommendations
Land use zone	RU1	Change part of the E3 Environmental Management Zone to IN2 Light Industrial Zone (as per adjoining plan) covering:
		 The abandoned machinery repair workshop on Denison Street Campbell's Engineering in Billabong Lane Part of the abandoned fuel depot on Hume Street
Zone boundary	Refer plan	As per above
Development standards	Existing	Recommendations for IN2
Height of buildings	7.5m	IN2: Amend to 10m (as per report)
Floor space ratio	Nil	IN2: Retain (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	100ha	IN2: Amend to Nil (as per justification in report)

Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B 4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential	12	Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Abandoned machinery workshop Denison Street

Engineering premises Billabong Lane

.



Stratford

Stratford consists of 1 industrial zoned area as shown on the following plan and described below.

#	Zone	Location	Area (ha)
Α	IN3 Heavy Industrial	The Bucketts Way	195.99
	Subtotal Business Zones		-
	Subtotal Industrial Zones		195.99
	Total Employment Zones		195.99



A. Stratford – IN3 Heavy Industrial – The Bucketts Way South

Description	IN3 Heavy Industrial area, adjacent to Stratford open cut coal mine	
Current uses	Completely vacant and undeveloped. Access road to Stratford Coal Mine traverses the land	
Built form	Nil	
Land area	195.99ha	
Notable industrial uses	Nil	
Context	Only IN3 Heavy Industrial zone land in MidCoast area. Purpose planned precinct. Stratford Industrial Park Structure Plan adopted November 2009 refers	
	Originally for establishment of coal seam gas processing and related ancillary mining industries	
	Good access to The Bucketts Way South and heavy rail link to Newcastle Port	
	Substantial buffers to existing residences	

Land use	Existing	Recommendations
Land use zone	IN3	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Development standards	Existing	Recommendations
Height of buildings	7.5m	Amend to nil (as per justification in report)
Floor space ratio	No max.	Retain (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	8,000m ²	Amend to nil (as per justification in report)



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones

Harrington – Crowdy Head

Harrington – Crowdy Head consists of 4 business zoned areas and 2 industrial zoned areas as shown on the following plan and described below.

#	Zone	Location	Area (ha)
Α	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Caledonia Street, Harrington	1.43
В	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Beach Street, Harrington	1.38
С	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Crowdy Street, Harrington	0.51
D	B4 Mixed Use	Electra Parade, Harrington	0.54
Ε	IN2 Light Industrial	Industrial Road, Harrington	7.35
F	IN4 Working Waterfront	Pacific Drive, Crowdy Head	2.06
	Subtotal Business Zones		3.86
	Subtotal Industrial Zones		9.41
	Total Employment Zones		13.27



A. Harrington - B1 Neighbourhood Centre - Caledonia Street

Description	A retail centre focused around a supermarket servicing Harrington residents and visitors			
Current uses	Supermarket, shops, community buildings, church, internal square and off-street car parking			
Built form	Predominately single storey			
Land area	1.43ha			
Major retail	Supa IGA approximately 1,000m ²			
Hierarchy context	Services the weekly shopping needs of Harrington local area Located 27 minutes to Taree B3 area			

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B1	Change to B2 Local Centre due to the size of the land area, retail floor space (including a supermarket), considerable mix of land uses, and the size of the catchment being serviced
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Refer 'A' on adjoining plan: Logical expansion of business zone to include existing community library and hall (0.13ha area) Refer 'B' on adjoining plan: Flag potential future expansion of business zone in the future over area 'A' on plan (note that this could be considered by future council studies)
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain
Floor space ratio	0.85:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	To be captured as part of <i>unstructured centres local provision</i> as per below
Unstructured centres	NA	Include in this local provision which requires structure plans with future development (refer report)

Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential		Potential Expansion Boundary
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Harrington Waters shopping centre and internal square



.

B. Harrington - B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Beach Street

Description	A neighbourhood business centre in the original Harrington township with very high amenity overlooking the park and ocean inlet		
Current uses	Hotel, shops, café/restaurants, dwellings, shop-top units, community buildings and post office		
Built form	Predominately 1-2 storey development		
Land area	1.38ha		
Major retail floor area	NA – Note that there is a general store in the R1 zone on the corner of Elizabeth and Beach Street which is approximately $180m^2$		
Hierarchy context	Services the day-to-day shopping needs of the original Harrington neighbourhood and provides for tourist and visitors to Harrington		
	Located 27 minutes to Taree B3 area and 5 minutes to the Harrington supermarket at Caledonia Street		

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B1	Change primary area to B2 Local Centre to reflect the size of this centre and locality (refer plan) Change area west of Crown Street (which includes the Harrington Hotel and houses) to B4 Mixed Use to recognise separation from majority of shops
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain zone boundary (it is not necessary to include the general store on the corner of Elizabeth and Beach Street as this use is permissible in the R1 zone)
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain
Height of buildings Floor space ratio	8.5m 0.85:1	Retain Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
		Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per
Floor space ratio	0.85:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Centre uses and outlook

General store in adjoining R1 zone



C. Harrington - B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Crowdy Street

Description	A fragmented small business zone in the original Harrington township primarily for a minimart/deli located opposite a caravan park			
Current uses	Minimart/deli, restaurant, units, and shop-top units			
Built form	Predominately 1-2 storey development			
Land area	0.51ha			
Major retail floor area	Minimart/deli is approximately 150m ²			
Hierarchy context	Services the day-to-day shopping needs of the original Harrington neighbourhood and provides for tourist and visitors to Harrington			
	Located 27 minutes to Taree B3 area and 7 minutes to the Harrington supermarket at Caledonia Street			

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B1	Change to a residential zone that allows for shops and restaurant – this will predominately reflect existing situation and promote the consolidation of the existing business area nearby on Beach Street This is reduction of 0.51ha of business zoned land to residential
Zone boundary	Refer plan	As per above
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	To be determined by housing strategy
Floor space ratio	0.85:1	To be determined by housing strategy
Minimum lot size	NA	To be determined by housing strategy
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	NA

Proposed



Map legend

B 1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
85	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Crowdy Street



.

D. Harrington – B4 Mixed Use Centre – Electra Parade

Description	A B4 Mixed Use Centre zone with high amenity outlook to marina
Current uses	Shops, real estate and gym – considerable vacancy
Built form	Predominately 1 storey development with high roof pitch
Land area	0.54ha
Major retail floor area	NA
Hierarchy context	Intention to provide predominately for tourist and visitors to Harrington with cafes and restaurants
	Located 400m to supermarket and specialty stores to the north and 27 minutes to Taree B3 area

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	В4	Retain (as this is a small parcel that supports the major retail precinct on Caledonia Street
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain zone boundary
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Change to 12m to allow future redevelopment to include shop-top units
Floor space ratio	NA	Retain
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Retain



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones or active street frontage provisions



Existing business premises

E. Harrington – IN2 Light Industrial – Industrial Drive

Description	IN2 Light Indus Harrington/Cro	strial area – only industrial area in wdy Head				
Current uses	Mini storage sheds, caretaker's residence, small industrial tenancies, smash repairs, removalists, concrete batching plant and essential energy sub-station. Half of lots are vacant					
Built form	1 – 2 storey industrial premises with associated industrial infrastructure					
Land area	7.35ha					
Notable industrial uses	Cemex – Harri Land area - 3,0	ngton Concrete Plant)18m²				
Context	Light industrial area servicing coastal communities of Harrington and Crowdy Head. Nearby residential areas to south but not directly adjacent to residential zones. Concrete batching plant servicing the local construction industry exists as the only general industrial use. Access to Harrington Road not suitable for large general industries.					
Land use	Existing	Recommendations				
Land use zone	IN2	Retain in IN2 Light Industrial. Whilst adequate separation distances from residential areas exist, the character of Harrington as a coastal holiday village is suitable for the IN2 Zone				
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain zone boundary				
Development standards	Existing	Recommendations				
Height of buildings	No max.	Amend to 10m (as per justification in report)				
Floor space ratio	No max.	Retain (as per justification in report)				
Minimum lot size	No min.	Retain (as per justification in report)				
Other Recommendations						

Future Employment Land Strategy to investigate possibility of IN1 land in Harrington particularly as it relates to the permissibility of critical general industries in the area that support the construction industry in growth areas such as concrete batching plants and truss manufacturing.



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential	-	Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones.



Buffer and vacant residential adjoining industrial area in Harrington Road



F. Crowdy Head – IN4 Working Waterfront – Pacific Drive

Description	IN2 light industrial anchored by fish co-operative with associated commercial fishing and recreational mooring pens
Current uses	Fish cooperative, wharfs, commercial and recreational boating facilities, mooring pens
Built form	One storey fish co-operative building, associated ancillary storage
Land area	2.06ha
Notable industrial uses	Former Crowdy Head Fish Co-Op – approx. 630m ² GFA building
Context	Only IN4 Working Waterfront zone in former Greater Taree area. Separated from residential areas by road. IN4 zoning encases a W3 Working Waterways Zone
	Holding is owned by NSW Department of Primary Industries

Land use	Existing	Recommendations				
Land use zone	IN4	Retain				
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain				
Standards	Existing	Recommendations				
Height of buildings	No max.	Amend to 8.5m (as per justification in report)				
Floor space ratio	No max.	Retain (as per justification in report)				
Minimum lot size	No min.	Retain (as per justification in report)				
Other Recommendations						

Council to liaise with the NSW Department of Primary Industries as part of a future Employment Lands Strategy to allow revitalisation of this area.



Map legend

B 1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
83	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential	1 <u>0</u>	Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones



Former Fish Co-op building Pacific Drive

Old Bar – Wallabi Point

Old Bar – Wallabi Point consists of 3 business zoned areas and 1 industrial zoned area as shown on the following plan and described below.

#	Zone	Location	Area (ha)
Α	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Old Bar Road – Historic Centre	2.68
В	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Precinct 2B (Old Bar Road)	3.13
С	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Old Bar Road	0.32
Ε	IN2 Light Industrial	Saltwater Road	13.35
	Subtotal Business Zones		6.13
	Subtotal Industrial Zones		13.35
	Total Employment Zones		19.48


A. Old Bar – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Old Bar Historic Centre

Description	B1 Neighbourhood Centre anchored by a supermarket and shops
Current uses	Supermarket, shops, cafes/restaurants, businesses, post office, medical facilities and some vacant blocks.
Built form	1-2 storey development with mix of building setbacks and variable awning provisions
Land area	2.68ha
Major retail floor area	Coles supermarket approximately 1,000m ²
Hierarchy context	Services weekly shopping needs of Old Bar residents/visitors Located 16 minutes to Taree B3 area

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B1	Change to B2 Local Centre due to the size of the land area, retail floor space (including a supermarket), considerable mix of land uses, and the size of the catchment being serviced
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Include 708m2 residential block (ref 'A' on adjoining plan) to be consistent with zoning approach of other similar lots in this centre
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Generally, change to 12m to reflect the importance of the centre and allow for increased residential density over commerce Note the topography of this area rises west to east along Old Bar Road
Floor space ratio	0.85:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain NA
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Active street frontages to apply as per adjoining plan to create an iconic main street for Old Bar that is activated on both sides and not dominated by car parks



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
85	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
86	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage





B. Old Bar – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Precinct 2B (Old Bar Rd)

Description	Planned B1 Neighbourhood Centre defined in Greater Taree DCP Part L Precinct 2B and described as follows: "A new district centre is located to provide for the requirements of wider Old Bar. This centre should function as the primary commercial and civic centre for Old Bar, with a balance between retail practicalities and the opportunities to create a vibrant main street and civic park."
Current uses	Not yet developed
Built form	Not yet developed
Land area	3.13ha
Major retail floor area	NA
Hierarchy context	Located in close proximity (1 minute) to Old Bar main street and 14 minutes to Taree B3 area

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B1	Change to B2 Local Centre considering the intent of this precinct as noted above
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Increase to 12m to reflect importance of the centre and to encourage greater mixed use in the future
Floor space ratio	0.85:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	To be captured as part of <i>unstructured centres local provision</i> as per below
Unstructured centres	NA	Include in this local provision which requires structure plans with future development (refer report)



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

C. Old Bar – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Old Bar Road

Description	B1 Neighbourhood Centre zone over an existing service station
Current uses	Service station only
Built form	1 storey development
Land area	0.32ha
Major retail floor area	NA
Hierarchy context	Located in close proximity (1 minute) to Old Bar main street and 14 minutes to Taree B3 area

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B1	Change to B6 Enterprise Corridor as this is not a primary business centre location (note that service station is permitted in B6 zone)
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain zone boundary
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain
Floor space ratio	0.85:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Retain

-



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B 4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Existing service station – Old Bar Road



D. Wallabi Point – IN2 Light Industrial – Saltwater Road

Description	IN2 Light Industrial area, only industrial area in Old Bar/Wallabi Point. Includes Peets Avenue and Berry Close
Current uses	Mini storage sheds, removalists, signwriting, small industrial tenancies, caretaker's residences and smash repairs. High lot vacancy
Built form	1 – 2 story industrial premises with associated industrial infrastructure
Land area	13.35ha
Notable industrial uses	Multi-tenant industrial building GFA – approx. 720m ²
Context	Light industrial area servicing coastal communities of Old Bar and Wallabi Point. Relatively new subdivision. Directly adjacent to R5 Large Lot Residential to west
	Good access to Saltwater Road and Old Bar Road

Land use	Existing	Recommendations			
Land use zone	IN2	Retain – Wallabi Point as a coastal holiday village is suitable for the IN2 Zone			
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain zone boundary			
Development standards Existing		Recommendations			
Height of buildings No max.		Amend to 10m (as per justification in report)			
Floor space ratio No max.		Retain (as per justification in report)			
Minimum lot size	No min.	Retain (as per justification in report)			



Map legend

B 1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Proposed

No change to existing land use zones

Light Industrial uses in Berry Close







Hallidays Point

Hallidays Point consists of 3 business zoned areas as shown on the following plan and described below. There is no land zoned industrial in Hallidays Point.

#	Zone	Location	Area (ha)
Α	B2 Local Centre	High Street, Black Head	3.08
В	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Tallwoods Village	0.55
С	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Diamond Beach	0.90
	Subtotal Business Zones		4.53
	Subtotal Industrial Zones		-
	Total Employment Zones		4.53



A. Hallidays Point – B2 Local Centre – High Street, Black Head

Description	B2 Local Centre anchored by a Food Works supermarket and associated shops
Current uses	Supermarket, shops, cafes, library and car parking
Built form	Predominately 1 storey development with high roof pitch
Land area	3.08ha
Major retail floor area	Food Works supermarket approximately 1,400m ²
Hierarchy context	Services weekly shopping needs of Hallidays Point residents and visitors Located 23 minutes to Taree B3 area

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B2	Retain as B2, but rezone part of the B2 zoned area, owned by Council as part of environmental corridor to the E3 Environmental Management zone.
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain
Floor space ratio	0.85:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	To be captured as part of <i>unstructured centres local provision</i> as per below
Unstructured centres	NA	Include in this local provision which requires structure plans with future development (refer report)

Proposed





Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B 4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Black Head shopping village



B. Hallidays Point – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Tallwoods Village

Description	A planned Neighbourhood Centre for Tallwoods Village set at a prominent intersection, with high amenity overlooking the golf course and associated water features
Current uses	Not yet developed
Built form	Not yet developed
Land area	0.55ha
Major retail floor area	NA
Hierarchy context	Located 5 minutes to Blackhead B2 area and 20 minutes to Taree B3 area

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B1	No change
Zone boundary	Refer plan	No change
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain
Floor space ratio	0.85:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Include as per adjoining plan to ensure a high- quality built form entry to Tallwoods Village – without this provision there is a risk that a carpark will be the dominant outcome within the setback area



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
86	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

C. Hallidays Point – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Diamond Beach

Description	A neighbourhood business centre in Diamond Beach with close proximity to the beach and adjacent to a public park
Current uses	Shops, café/restaurants, shop-top units (considerable vacancy in existing shops and vacant B1 land available)
Built form	Predominately 1-2 storey development
Land area	0.74ha
Major retail floor area	NA
Hierarchy context	Services some day-to-day shopping needs of Diamond Beach residents and visitors
	Located 6 minutes to Black Head B2 and 25 minutes to Taree B3 area

Land use	Existing	Recommendation
Land use zone	B1	Retain
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Retain
Standards	Existing	Recommendation
Height of buildings	8.5m	Retain
Floor space ratio	0.85:1	Remove maximum floor space ratio (as per justification in report)
Minimum lot size	NA	Retain
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation
Active street frontage	NA	Active street frontages along Diamond Drive as per adjoining map to create a vibrant centre not dominated by car parking Improved connection to the park at the rear will also be important with future development – potentially via a midblock laneway

Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
83	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
B5	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential	1 <u>0</u>	Subject Area Boundary
B6	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Shops on north side of Diamond Drive



Vacant land on south side of Diamond Drive



Pacific Palms

Pacific Palms consists of 1 business zoned area as shown on the following plan and described below. There is no land zoned industrial in Pacific Palms.

#	Zone	Location	Area (ha)
Α	B1 Neighbourhood Centre	Boomerang Drive	0.76
	Subtotal Business Zones		0.76
	Subtotal Industrial Zones		-
	Total Employment Zones		0.76



A. Blueys Beach – B1 Neighbourhood Centre – Boomerang Drive

Description	A B1 Neighbourhood Centre in Blueys Beach servicing the Pacific Palms community and tourists
Current uses	Small newsagent/minimart, cafes, shops, businesses and shop-top units (no vacancies)
Built form	2 storeys
Land area	0.76ha
Major retail floor area	Small newsagent/minimart 90m ²
Hierarchy context	Planned to service some day-to-day shopping needs of neighbourhood residents and tourists Located 25 minutes to Forster B2 Stocklands Mall

Land use	Existing	Recommendation	
Land use zone	B1	Change to B2 Local Centre to reflect residential catchment and tourism market – also acknowledge considerable distance to nearest B2	
Zone boundary	Refer plan	Extend as per reference A on adjoining plan to include existing bottle shop on Boomerang Drive	
Standards	Existing	Recommendation	
Height of buildings	12m	Retain	
Floor space ratio	NA	Retain	
Minimum lot size	700m ²	Remove minimum lot size (as per justification in report)	
Provisions	Existing	Recommendation	
Active street frontage	Refer plan	Add active street frontage provisions as per adjoining plan	



Proposed



Map legend

B1	Neighbourhood Centre	B8	Metropolitan Centre	IN3	Heavy Industrial	RE1	Public Recreation
B2	Local Centre	E1	National Parks and Nature Reserves	IN4	Working Waterfront	RE2	Private Recreation
B 3	Commercial Centre	E2	Environmental Conservation	R1	General Residential	SP1	Special Activities
B4	Mixed Use	E3	Environmental Management	R2	Low Density Residential	SP2	Infrastructure
85	Business Development	E4	Environmental Living	R3	Medium Density Residential		Subject Area Boundary
86	Enterprise Corridor	IN1	General Industrial	R4	High Density Residential		Amended Zone Boundary
B7	Business Park	IN2	Light Industrial	R5	Large Lot Residential		Active Street Frontage

Blueys Beach B1 area

